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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013
or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-34511

FORTINET, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)

Delaware 77-0560389
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

1090 Kifer Road
Sunnyvale, California 94086

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(408) 235-7700
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) diie Act:

Common Stock, $0.001 Par Value The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

(Title of each class) (Name of exchange on which registered)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) die Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%edB#éturities Act.  YedX] No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. YesO No
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Sewrti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (“Exchange Act”) during the preceding 12 man(ibr for such shorter period that the registraas$ wequired to file such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastlag@s. Yes[x] No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lnbsntted electronically and posted on its corpo¥ib site, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant te Rb of Regulation S-T (8232.405 of this chapderjng the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was requiresltumit and post such files). Ye& No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiélers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (82®8% of this chapter) is not contained herein,
and will not be contained, to the best of the rtegig’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or informaiti statements incorporated by reference in Paof Il
this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 104Kl

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantler@e accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp
See the definitions of “large accelerated filegttelerated filer” and “smaller reporting compairyRule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O

(Do not check if smaller reporting
Non-accelerated filer O company) Smaller reporting company O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Actyes O No

The aggregate market value of voting stock helddy-affiliates of the registrant, as of June 28,20he last business day of the registrant’s most
recently completed second quarter, was $2,122,3898ased on the closing price for shares of thst@ant’'s common stock as reported by The
NASDAQ Global Select Market on that date). Shafesosmmon stock held by each executive officer, ctivg and holder of 5% or more of t
registrant’s outstanding common stock have beeludgd in that such persons may be deemed to Bi&ii. This determination of affiliate status is
not necessarily a conclusive determination for ofheposes.

As of February 18, 2014 , there were 162,853,3RBeshof the registrant’s common stock outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy Statnt relating to its 201Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporateddfgrence into Part |
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K where indicat8dch Proxy Statement will be filed with the Unitethtes Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) within 120 days after the end of the fisgahr to which this report relates.
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Part |
ITEM 1. Business
Overview

We provide high performance network security sohsithat are designed to address the fundameiwtallepns of an increasingly bandwidth-
intensive network environment and a more sophigicaformation technology (“IT”) threat landscafiérough our products and subscription
services, we provide broad and integrated protectgainst dynamic security threats while simplifythe IT security infrastructure for enterprises,
service providers and governmental entities wontthwiOur flagship integrated network security soluttonsists of our FortiGate physical and virtual
appliance products that provide a broad array sy and networking functions to protect dategplagations, and users from network- and content-
level security threats. These functions provideaD@enter Firewall (‘“DCFW”)/Unified Threat ManagemétUTM”)/Next Generation Firewall
(“NGFW") technologies, including firewall, virtugdrivate network ("VPN"), application control, amtialware, intrusion prevention, Web filtering,
vulnerability management, anti-spam, wireless ailar, and wide area network ("WAN") accelerati@ur FortiGate appliances, from the FortiGate-
20 for small businesses and branch offices to tré@Gate-5000 series for large enterprises andaproviders, are based on our proprietary
technology platform. This platform includes our #81Cs, which are specifically designed for accated processing of security and networking
functions, and our FortiOS operating system, wipicivides the foundation for all of our security étions. Our FortiGuard security subscription
services provide end-customers with access to dignapalates to our application control, anti-malwanérusion prevention, Web filtering and anti-
spam functionality based on intelligence gathengdlr dedicated FortiGuard Labs team. By combimngtiple proprietary security and networking
functions with our purposbuilt FortiASIC and FortiOS, our FortiGate DCFW/UTINIGFW solution delivers broad protection againgtaiyic securit
threats while reducing the operational burden arstiscassociated with managing multiple point présluc

We complement our FortiGate product line with tleetiManager product family, which enables end-costts to manage the system
configuration and security functions of multiplerifGate devices from a centralized console, as agthe FortiAnalyzer product family, which
enables collection, analysis and archiving of conénd log data generated by our products. Weddfso other product lines that provide additional
protection, such as: (i) FortiAP, secure wirelesseas points, (ii) FortiWeb, security for Web-baaeglications, (iii) FortiMail, multi-featured, hig
performance messaging security, (iv) FortiDB, calhtrmanaged database-specific security, (v) F@gi®, endpoint security for desktops, laptops and
mobile devices and that is primarily used in conjion with our FortiGate appliances, (vi) FortiScandpoint vulnerability assessment and
remediation, (vii) FortiSwitch, Ethernet switchésji) FortiBridge, bypass appliances to help emrsoetwork availability, (ix) FortiAuthenticator,
scalable secure authentication for enterprise misy¢x) FortiADC, Application Delivery Controll§f ADC")optimizing the availability and
performance of mobile, cloud, and enterprise appibois, (xi) FortiSandbox, detecting and mitigatikdyanced Persistent Threats (“APTs"), (xii)
FortiCache, reducing the cost of and impact of eddhternet content, (xiii) FortiDNS, providing see Domain Name System ("DNS") caching, (xiv)
FortiDDoS, protection against Distributed DenialS#rvice ("DDOS") attack, and (xv) FortiVoice, usss telephone communication.

Additionally, we offer virtual appliances for thefGate, FortiManager, FortiAnalyzer, FortiWeb rifdail, FortiCache, and FortiADC
product lines. These virtual appliances help senate/ork infrastructures with the same functioyadis the traditional physical appliances in their
respective product lines. They can be used in catijon with traditional Fortinet appliances (suchFrtiGate, FortiManager, and FortiAnalyzer) to
help ensure the visibility, management, and praiaaf physical and virtual environments.

Since our inception through December 31, 2013 haxes shipped over 1,400,000 appliances via more2B2000 channel partners to more
than 184,000 end-customers worldwide, includingagomity of the 2013 Fortune Global 100. During fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 , we
generated total revenue of $615.3 million and netine of $44.3 million . See Part Il Item 8 of tAisnual Report on Form 1RB-for more informatior
on our consolidated balance sheets as of Decembh@033 and 2012 and our consolidated statememtgeasfitions, consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, consolidated statementsstf fb@wvs, and consolidated statements of stockingleguity for each of the three years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.

We were incorporated in Delaware in November 2@@. principal executive office is located at 109@KRoad, Sunnyvale, California
94086 and our telephone number at that locati¢408) 2357700. In March 2014, we expect to move to our nerparate headquarters located at
Kifer Road, Sunnyvale, California 94086.
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Technology and Architecture

Our proprietary FortiASIC hardware architecturertidS operating system and associated securitynahwlorking functions combine to form
a platform that integrates security features arabks our products to perform sophisticated secpritcessing for networks with high throughput
requirements.

FortiASIC

Our FortiASIC family of Application-Specific Integted Circuits (“ASICs”) is comprised of three limgfsprocessors: the FortiASIC content
processor (“CP”"), the FortiASIC network processdtH”), and the FortiASIC system-on-a-chip (“SOCThese custom ASICs are designed to
enhance the sophisticated security processing ddigstimplemented in software by accelerating toenputation-intensive tasks such as firewall
policy enforcement or intrusion prevention systéiR$") anomaly detection. This architecture prositiee flexibility of implementing accelerated
processing of new threat detection without reqgidmew ASIC release. The FortiASIC CP is curreimtyuded in most of our entry-level and all of
our mid-range and high-end FortiGate appliances. HirtiASIC NP is currently included in some of ouid-range and high-end FortiGate appliances,
delivering further accelerated firewall and VPNfpemance. During fiscal 2013, we introduced thedawersion of our NP, the NP6 through our FGT
1500D and 3700D product lines providing enhancexhiall performance. The FortiASIC SOC2 is our sekganeration processor that combines
general purpose processing power with Fortinetsorn technology to provide hardware-acceleratedaritsecurity performance for our smaller
FortiGate appliances. It is currently included ur entry-level FortiGate-20, -30, -40, -60, and g@0duct families.

FortiOS

Our FortiOS operating system provides the foundafibo the operation of all FortiGate appliancesnirthe core kernel functions to the
security processing feature sets. FortiOS providekiple layers of security including a hardenednet layer providing protection for the FortiGate
system, a network security layer providing secuigtyend-customers’ network infrastructures, anpliaption content protection providing security for
end-customers’ workstations and applications. B@tdirects the operations of processors and ASi@geovides system management functions such
as command-line and graphical user interfaces.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2013, we releasedipdate to our FortiOS operating system, whichreféglvanced security, control, and
intelligence designed to help protect organizatioinall sizes from today’s sophisticated threatse§e enhancements to FortiOS include:

. Advanced modern antialware detection system for identifying and mitiigga APTs

. Simplification of configurations and deploymebisenabling enterprises to quickly and easily @pne their FortiGate appliances
based on their unique business and security rageines.

. Contextual visibility for enhanced security repogtiand management by providing detailed analyticsléeper insight into historic
real-time network activities.

We make available updates to FortiOS through outi€are support services. FortiOS also enablesratbd integrated routing and
switching, allowing end-customers to deploy Fort&devices within a wide variety of networks, aslwas providing a direct replacement solution
option for legacy switching and routing equipmdturtiOS implements a suite of commonly used rougirgfocols as well as address translation
technologies, allowing the FortiGate appliancentegrate and operate in a wide variety of networkrenments. Additional features include Virtual
Domain (“VYDOM?”), capabilities and traffic queuingnd shaping, enabling administrators to set the@pjate configurations and policies that meet
their infrastructure needs. FortiOS also providgsabilities for logging of traffic for forensic dyais purposes which are particularly important for
regulatory compliance initiatives like payment cardustry data security standard ("PCI DSS"). Fa®iis designed to help control network traffic in
order to optimize performance by including functbty such as packet classification, queue disegdj policy enforcement and congestion
management.

Our FortiOS incorporates the following core seguaibd networking technologies, including firewdPN, application control, anti-malware,
intrusion prevention, Web filtering, vulnerabilitganagement, anti-spam, wireless controller, and Véadeleration.




Table of Contents

We also incorporate additional technologies withantiGate appliances that differentiate our DCFWWMUNGFW solution, including data
leakage protection (DLP), traffic optimization, SBispection, threat vulnerability management, airélass controller technology.

Products

Our core product offerings consist of our FortiGateduct family, along with our FortiManager cehtranagement and FortiAnalyzer cen
logging and reporting product families, both of efhare typically purchased to complement a largéGate deployment.

FortiGate

Our flagship FortiGate physical and virtual apptias offer a broad set of security and networkimgfions, including firewall, VPN,
application control, antivirus, intrusion prevemtjWeb filtering, anti-spam and WAN acceleratiotl. FortiGate models are based on our proprietary
operating system, FortiOS, and substantially attiSate physical appliances include our propriefeoytiASICs to accelerate content and network
security features implemented within FortiOS. F&die platforms can be centrally managed through éatbedded Web-based and command line
interfaces, as well as through FortiManager whigvigles central management architecture for thadsah FortiGate physical and virtual appliances.

By combining multiple network security functionsanr purpose-built security platform, the FortiGptevides high quality protection
capabilities and deployment flexibility while redog the operational burden and costs associatéddmainaging multiple point products. With over 30
models in the FortiGate product line, FortiGatdesigned to address security requirements for sheathid-sized businesses, remote offices, large
enterprises, and service providers.

Each FortiGate model runs our FortiOS operatingesysand substantially all FortiGate physical agpties include our FortiASICs. The
significant differences between each model argo#r®ormance and scalability targets each modetssgthed to meet, while the security features and
associated services offered are common throughiombaels. The FortiGate-20 through -100 series el®dre designed for perimeter protection for
small- to mid-sized businesses. The FortiGate-Bé8ugh -800 series models are designed for perindet@doyment in mid-sized to large enterprise
networks. And, the FortiGate-1000 throu@i®00 series models deliver high performance ankdisieanetwork security functionality for perimetegta
center and core deployment in large enterprisesandce provider networks.

Fortinet Management and Analysis Products
Our FortiManager and FortiAnalyzer physical anduat products are typically sold in conjunction wé large FortiGate deployment.

FortiManager.Our FortiManager family of products provides a caihtnanagement solution for our FortiGate produotduding the wide
variety of network and security features offerethim FortiOS. One FortiManager product is capalbleffectively managing thousands of FortiGate
units, and also provides central management faiGlant software. FortiManager facilitates the odioation of policy-based provisioning, device
configuration and operating system revision managenas well as network security monitoring andickzontrol.

FortiAnalyzer.Our FortiAnalyzer family provides network loggirgnalyzing, and reporting products that securelyegate content and log
data from our FortiGate devices and other Forfimetiucts as well as third-party devices to enabtevark logging, analysis and reporting.

We also offer other physical and virtual applianaed software that protect our end-customers frecarsty threats to other critical areas in
the enterprise, such as messaging, Web-based atjppiis and databases, and employees’ computershilendevices as discussed above in the
business overview.

Services

FortiGuard Security Subscription Services

Security requirements are dynamic due to the catigtehanging nature of threats. Our FortiGuardd glmbal threat research team uses
automated processes to identify emerging threatigots threat samples, and replicates, reviewschadacterizes attacks. Based on this research, we

develop updates for virus signatures, attack déjims, scanning engines, and other security selwt@mponents to distribute to end-customers through
our FortiGuard global distribution network. Our
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FortiGuard security subscription services are desigo allow us to quickly deliver new threat détet capabilities to end-customers worldwide as
new threats evolve. End-customers purchase Fonttdzecurity subscription services in advance, glpidor a one-year term, to obtain coverage and
access to regular updates for application corardiyirus, intrusion prevention, Web filtering, aadti-spam functions for our FortiGate products;
antivirus, Web filtering and anti-spam functions éwr FortiClient software; antivirus and anti-spamctions for our FortiMail products; vulnerabylit
management for our FortiGate, FortiAnalyzer andiBean products, database functions for our FortépBliance, web functions for our FortiWeb
appliances, and advanced threat protection foFodiSandbox products. We provide FortiGuard sewi24 hours a day, seven days a week.

FortiCare Technical Support Services

Our FortiCare services are our technical suppovices for the software, firmware and hardwareun products. In addition to our standard
support service offering, we offer a premium ses\titat offers faster response times and dedicai@gost oriented towards major accounts.

For our standard technical support offering for praducts, channel partners often provide firseleupport to the end-customer, especially
for small and mid-sized end-customers, and we gllyiprovide second and third level support to end-customers. We also provide knowledge
management tools and customer self-help portaielfm augment our support capabilities in an efficend scalable manner. We provide technical
support to partners and end-customers 24 hourg,sdeen days a week through regional technicgi@upnanagers located worldwide.

Training Services

We offer training services to our end-customers@rahnel partners through our training departmedtaauthorized training partners. We
have also implemented a training certification paog to ensure an understanding of our productsandces.

Professional Services

We offer professional services to end-customeraguily for large implementations where expert técahresources are required. Our
professional services consultants help in the desigleployments of our products and work closeityh wnd-customer engineers, managers and other
project team members to implement our productsrdaug to design, utilizing network analysis toastack simulation software and scripts.

Customers

We sell our security solutions through channelread to end-customers of various sizes—from smelinesses to large enterprises and
service providers—and across a variety of indusinieluding telecommunications, government, finahservices, retail, education, technology,
healthcare and manufacturing. An end-customer gepat may involve one of our appliances or thousaddpending on our end-customesige anc
security requirements. Since our inception throDglhember 31, 2013 , we have shipped over 1,40@pplances via more than 20,000 channel
partners to more than 184,000 end-customers wallglvimcluding a majority of the 2013 Fortune Glob@0. For additional information regarding our
sales by customer location, see Note 14 to ourdatilaged financial statements in Part |1, Iltem 8§ Annual Report on Form 10-K.

During fiscal 2011, no single customer or distrdyudccounted for 10% or more of total revenue. Byifiscal 2012 and fiscal 2013, one
distributor, Exclusive Networks Group, accounted¥t% and 12% of total revenue, respectively.

Sales and Marketing

We primarily sell our products and services diretl distributors that sell to resellers and sexpeooviders, which, in turn, sell to our end-
customers. In certain cases, we sell directly teegament-focused resellers, very large serviceigdeys and major systems integrator partners who
have large purchasing power and unique customdoyleent demands. As of December 31, 2013, ouriligion channel program had more than
20,000 channel partners worldwide. We work with ynafthe world’s leading technology distributonscliuding Arrow Electronics, Inc., Ingram
Micro Inc. and Tech Data Corporation.

We support our channel partners that include tistors and resellers with a team of experiencedrodlaaccount managers, sales
professionals and sales engineers who provide éssiplanning, joint marketing strategy, and pressahd operational sales support. Additionally, our
sales team often helps drive and support large@ige and service provider sales through a dieath model. Our sales professionals and engineers
typically work alongside our channel partners aimdatly
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engage with end-customers to address their unigegrity and deployment requirements. Our salesedgelan initial end-customer purchase typically
ranges from three to six months but can be longge&ally for large enterprises, service providerd government customers. To support our broadly
dispersed global channel and end-customer baskaweesales offices in over 30 countries arounchititd.

Our marketing strategy is focused on building aaml and driving end-customer demand for our sgcsalutions. We execute this strategy
by leveraging a combination of internal marketimgfpssionals and a network of regional and globahoel partners. Our internal marketing
organization is responsible for branding, produatkating, channel marketing and sales support progr We focus our resources on programs, tools
and activities that can be leveraged by partnertdwide to extend our marketing reach, such assdalels and collateral, product awards and techh
certifications, training, regional seminars andfeoences, webinars and various other demand-génettivities.

Manufacturing and Suppliers

We outsource the manufacturing of our security iappk products to a variety of contract manufactuamd original design manufacturers.
Our current manufacturing partners include Flext®mnternational Ltd., Micré&tar International Co., Ltd., Adlink TechnologygcInSenao Network
Inc., and a number of Taiwdrased manufacturers. We submit purchase ordens tooatract manufacturers that describe the typlecarantities of ou
products to be manufactured, the delivery datectner delivery terms. Once our products are manufed, they are sent to either our headquarters in
Sunnyvale, California, or to our logistics partireiraoyuan City, Taiwan, where accessory packagimdjquality-control testing are performed. We
believe that outsourcing our manufacturing andesntial portion of our logistics enables us tosmyve capital, better adjust manufacturing volumes
to meet changes in demand and more quickly defikadtucts, while allowing us to focus resources onamre competencies. Our proprietary
FortiASICs, which are the key to the performancewfappliances, are fabricated by contract manurfars in foundries operated by United
Microelectronics Corporation (“UMC”) and Taiwan Sieonductor Manufacturing Company Limited (“TSMCHRharaday Technology Corporation
(using UMC'’s foundry), Kawasaki Microelectronics &nica, Inc. (“K-Micro”) (using TSMC's foundry) andenesas Electronics Corporation
(“Renesas”) (using UMC'’s foundry) manufacture o8I18s on a purchase order basis. Accordingly, theyat obligated to continue to fulfill our
supply requirements, and the prices we are chdagate fabrication of our ASICs could be increasedshort notice.

The components included in our products are sourosa various suppliers by us or more frequentlyolbly contract manufacturers. Some of
the components important to our business, includperific types of central processing units fronelliCorporation (“Intel”), network chips from
Broadcom Corporation (“Broadcom”), Marvell TechngyoGroup Ltd. (“Marvell”) and Intel, and solid-séatirives (silicon-based storage device) from
OCZ Technology Group, Inc. and Samsung Electro@izs Ltd., are available from a limited or sole s@uof supply.

We have no long-term contracts related to the naantufing of our ASICs or other components that gngee any capacity or pricing terms.

For information regarding the geographical disbomset of our long-lived assets, see Note 14 to onsalidated financial statements in Part
I, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Research and Development

We focus our research and development efforts weldging new products and systems, and adding ratwffes to existing products and
systems. Our development strategy is to identi&yuees, products and systems for both softwarehardivare that are, or are expected to be, neec
our end-customers. Our success in designing, demgpmanufacturing and selling new or enhancedyets will depend on a variety of factors,
including the identification of market demand f@wnproducts, product selection, timely implementatf product design and development, product
performance, effective manufacturing and assemtuggsses and sales and marketing.

As of December 31, 2013, our research and devedoporganization had headcount of 702 people preégitly in Canada, the United
States (“U.S.”) and China. Our research and dewvedop expense was $102.7 million in fiscal 20131,.$8nillion in fiscal 2012 and $63.6 million in
fiscal 2011 .

Intellectual Property

We rely primarily on patent, trademark, copyrightidrade secrets laws, confidentiality proceduresa@ntractual provisions to protect our
technology. As of December 31, 2013 , we had 180@ed U.S. patents, 21 issued Chinese patentyjedigaiwanese patents and 1 issued Japanese
patent, which expire at various dates between 2092031, and 105 patent

5




Table of Contents

applications pending for examination in the Uni&tdtes, and 7 patent applications pending for exatioin in China. We also license software from
third parties for inclusion in our products, indlogl open source software and other software availat commercially reasonable terms.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tglunauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspgaiur products or obtain and use
information that we regard as proprietary. We gelteenter into confidentiality agreements with @mployees, consultants, vendors and customers,
and generally limit access to and distribution of proprietary information. However, we cannot pdevassurance that the steps we take will prevent
misappropriation of our technology. In additiorg thws of some foreign countries do not protectgyoprietary rights to as great an extent as ths la
of the United States, and many foreign countrieaatoenforce these laws as diligently as governragancies and private parties in the United States.

Our industry is characterized by the existence lafge number of patents and frequent claims aladlect litigation regarding patent and other
intellectual property rights. Third parties havehe past asserted, and may in the future asseenitpaopyright, trademark and other intellectual
property rights against us, our channel partnemioend-customers. Successful claims of infringarbg a third party could prevent us from
distributing certain products or performing certa@rvices or require us to pay substantial damg@gelsiding treble damages if we are found to have
willfully infringed patents or copyrights), royads or other fees. Even if third parties may offécense to their technology, the terms of any reffie
license may not be acceptable and the failure taiola license or the costs associated with amysie could cause our business, operating results or
financial condition to be materially and adversatffected. We typically indemnify our end-custometlistributors and certain resellers against claims
that our products infringe the intellectual progest third parties.

Seasonality

For information regarding seasonality, see the@eentitled “—Quarterly Results of OperationSeasonality, Cyclicality and Quarte
Revenue Trends” in Part Il, Item 7 of this Annu&gert on Form 10-K.

Competition

The markets for our products are extremely comipeténd are characterized by rapid technologicahgle. The principal competitive factors
in our markets include the following:

. product performance, features, effectivenessraperability and reliability;
. technological expertise;

. price of products and services and total cosivaiership;

. brand recognition;

. customer service and support;

. sales and distribution capabilities;

. compliance with industry standards and certifaras;

. size and financial stability of operations; and

. breadth of product line.

Our competitors include networking companies suecliaco Systems, Inc. (“Cisco”) and Juniper Netwotic. (“Juniper”), security vendors
such as Check Point Software Technologies Ltd. €&&HPoint”), McAfee, Inc. (“McAfee”) (acquired bytel), Sourcefire, Inc. (“Sourcefire”)
(acquired by Cisco), Stonesoft Corporation (“Stafigs (acquired by McAfee), SonicWALL, Inc. (“Son¢ALL") (acquired by Dell Inc. (“Dell™)),
BlueCoat Systems, Inc. ("BlueCoat"), FireEye, laued Palo Alto Networks, Inc. (“Palo Alto Networksgnd other point solution security vendors.

We believe we compete favorably based on our prstiperformance, reliability and breadth, our dbito add and integrate new networking
and security features and our technological exgereveral competitors are significantly largaxehgreater financial, technical, marketing,
distribution, customer support and other resouresmore established than we are, and have signtfy better brand recognition. Some of these
larger competitors have substantially broader pcbdiferings and
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leverage their relationships based on other predurcincorporate functionality into existing protiia a manner that discourages users from
purchasing our products. Based in part on thesegettive pressures, we may lower prices or attelmptdd incremental features and functionality.

Conditions in our markets could change rapidly sigdificantly as a result of technological advaneats or continuing market consolidation.
The development and market acceptance of altemtgthnologies could decrease the demand for odupts or render them obsolete. Our
competitors may introduce products that are lestycgrovide superior performance or achieve greatarket acceptance than our products. In
addition, our larger competitors often have brogeduct lines and market focus, are in a bettsitiom to withstand any significant reduction in
capital spending by end-customers in these mar&atbwill therefore not be as susceptible to dowrgin a particular market. The above competitive
pressures are likely to continue to impact our hess. We may not be able to compete successfulheifuture, and competition may harm our
business.

Environment

Our business and operations are subject to envigatahlaws and regulations in various jurisdictiangund the world including the Waste
Electrical and Electronic Equipment and Restrictidthe Use of Certain Hazardous Substances intrilatand Electronic Equipment regulations
adopted by the European Union. Many of these lawisragulations are still evolving and being testedourts, and could be interpreted in ways that
could harm our business. We seek to operate oimdnssin compliance with such laws. We are curyesubject to laws relating to the materials and
content of our products and certain requiremenging to product take back and recycling. Enviremtal regulation is increasing, particularly oués
of the United States, and we expect that our iatérnal operations will be subject to additionaViemnmental compliance requirements, which may
expose us to additional costs. To date, our comgdiaosts relating to environmental regulationshast had a material impact on our business,
of operations or financial condition.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, our total headcount wa88people including contractors. We had 702 seaech and development, 870 in sales
and marketing, 540 in services and support, 49anufacturing operations, and 147 in a general dndrastrative capacity. As of December 31,
2013, our headcount was 595 people in the Unitatt§, 726 in Canada, 208 in China, 119 in Frasmoe 660 in other countries.

None of our U.S. employees are represented byaa lation with respect to his or her employment wishh however, our employees in Frai
Spain and Italy are represented by collective banmyg agreements. We have not experienced any stopgpages, and we consider our relations with
our employees to be good.

Available | nformation

Our web site is located at www.fortinet.com, and iowestor relations web site is located at hftpzéstor.fortinet.com. The information
posted on our website is not incorporated by refaeénto this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our AninRaport on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendsrterreports filed or furnished pursuant to Sexgitt3(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Act, are
available free of charge on our investor relatimed site as soon as reasonably practicable afteleegronically file such material with, or furnigh
to, the SEC. You may also access all of our pubiigs through the SEC’s website at www.sec.gowtker, a copy of this Annual Report on Form
10-K is located at the SE€Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wgghin D.C. 20549. Information on the operationhaf Public Referens
Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-80C-8&30.

We webcast our earnings calls and certain eveniganipate in or host with members of the invessttcommunity on our investor relatic
web site. Additionally, we provide notifications wéws or announcements regarding our financiabpgdnce, including SEC filings, investor events,
press and earnings releases, as part of our invesabions web site. The contents of these weds site not intended to be incorporated by reference
into this report or in any other report or documenetfile.
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ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk. Investors should carefully consider tbléowing risks and all other information
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, imtthg our consolidated financial statements andrtated notes, before investing in our common
stock. The risks and uncertainties described bel@wnot the only ones we face. Additional risks andertainties that we are unaware of, or that we
currently believe are not material, also may becamgortant factors that affect us. If any of thédwing risks materialize, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be matgriharmed. In that case, the trading price of @@mmon stock could decline, and investors may
lose some or all of their investment.

Risks Related to Our Business
Our quarterly operating results are likely to vary significantly and be unpredictable.

Our operating results have historically varied frperiod to period, and we expect that they willtomne to do so as a result of a number of
factors, many of which are outside of our contrad anay be difficult to predict, including:

. the level of demand for our products and serv
. the timing of channel partner and erwstomer orders and our reliance on a concentrafishipments at the end of each qua
. the timing of shipments, which may depend onyrfactors such as inventory levels and logisties,ability to ship new products on

schedule and to accurately forecast inventory requents, and potential delays in the manufactysiogess;
. inventory imbalances, such as those related topreducts and the end of life of existing prodt

. the mix of products sold, the mix of revenuensn products and services and the degree to whictucts and services are bundled
and sold together for a package price;

. the budgeting cycles and purchasing practicesiothannel partners and eculstomers
. seasonal buying patterns of our enctomers
. the timing of revenue recognition for our salehjch may be affected by both the mix of sale®bgy“sell-in” versus our “sell-

through” channel partners, and by the extent taclviae bring on new distributors;

. the accuracy and timing of point of sale repaytby our selthrough distributors, which impacts our abilityrexognize revenu
. the level of perceived threats to network securitiyich may fluctuate from period to peri

. changes in endustomer, distributor or reseller requirements arkat needs and buying practices and pati

. changes in the growth rate of the network secarty TM markets

. the timing and success of new product and sefnicoductions by us or our competitors or anyeotthange in the competitive

landscape of our industry, including consolidat@mnong our competitors or end-customers;
. deferral of orders from enzlistomers in anticipation of new products or praduthancements announced by us or our compe

. increases or decreases in our expenses causkatioyations in foreign currency exchange ratesa aignificant portion of our
expenses are incurred and paid in currencies ttharthe U.S. dollar;
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. decisions by potential end-customers to purchaseork security solutions from larger, more ekshled security vendors or from
their primary network equipment vendors;

. price competition, and increased competitiveneggeimeral in our marke

. changes in customer renewal rates for our sen

. changes in the payment terms of services contoaidtee length of services contracts s

. increased expenses, unforeseen liabilities dewlowns and any impact on results of operations faoghacquisition consummat
. insolvency or credit difficulties confronting ounstomers, affecting their ability to purchase oy fa our products and servic

. disruptions in our channel or termination of odatienship with important channel partne

. insolvency or credit difficulties confronting ouek suppliers, which could disrupt our supply cf

. general economic conditions, both in our domesiit fareign markets; ai

. future accounting pronouncements or changes irccounting policie

Any one of the factors above or the cumulativeféd some of the factors referred to above mayltés significant fluctuations in our
quarterly financial and other operating resultssMariability and unpredictability could result@ur failing to meet our internal operating plarttoe
expectations of securities analysts or investaraffiy period. If we fail to meet or exceed suchetations for these or any other reasons, the marke
price of our shares could fall substantially andowald face costly lawsuits, including securitiésss action suits. In addition, a significant petege
of our operating expenses are fixed in nature ased on forecasted revenue trends. Accordingta@revent of revenue shortfalls, we are generally
unable to mitigate the negative impact on marginthé short term.

Adverse economic conditions or reduced information technology spending may adversely impact our business.

Our business depends on the overall demand fomirEtion technology and on the economic health ofcourent and prospective customers.
In addition, the purchase of our products is oftestretionary and may involve a significant comna@trhof capital and other resources. Weak global
economic conditions, weak economic conditions inaie geographies, or a reduction in informatiachteology spending regardless of macro-
economic conditions, could adversely impact ouirss, financial condition and results of operationa number of ways, including longer sales
cycles, lower prices for our products and servibgher default rates among our channel partnedsjaed unit sales and slower or little to no growth

Our hillings and revenue growth may slow or may not continue.

Billings and revenue growth may slow, or we mayegignce a decrease in billings and revenue, famaber of reasons, including a
slowdown in demand for our products or servicesnarease in competition, a decrease in the grafvthur overall market, softness in demand in
certain geographies, or if we fail for any reasmedntinue to capitalize on growth opportunitiest Example, we experienced lower than expected
billings during the first quarter of 2013 due tawmber of factors, including decreased sales irséneice provider market and slower sales in Latin
America, and Europe, Middle East and Africa (‘EMBAOur expenses as a percentage of total revenydéenhigher than expected if our revenue is
lower than expectations, and we may not be abdeistain profitability in future periods if we fdd increase billings, revenue or deferred revedoe,
not appropriately manage our cost structure, oognier unanticipated liabilities. Any failure by tesmaintain profitability and continue our billing
and revenue growth could cause the price of oumeomstock to materially decline.

Werely significantly on revenue from subscription and support services which may decline, and because we recognize revenue from subscription
and support services over the term of the relevant service period, downturns or upturnsin sales of subscription and support services are not
immediately reflected in full in our operating results.

Our subscription and support services revenue iséarically accounted for a significant percentafeur total revenue. Sales of new or
renewal subscription and support services contraes decline and fluctuate as a result of a number
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of factors, including end-customers’ level of satision with our products and services, the primesur products and services, the prices of praduct
and services offered by our competitors or redustio our customerspending levels. If our sales of new or renewakstiption and support servic
contracts decline, our revenue and revenue growathdecline and our business will suffer. In additim the event significant customers require
payment terms for subscription or support servieesrears or for shorter periods of time than atigusuch as monthly or quarterly, this may
negatively impact subscription and support reveRkuethermore, we recognize subscription and sup@tices revenue monthly over the term of the
relevant service period, which is typically fromeoto three years, but in some instances has bden@ss five years. As a result, much of the
subscription and support services revenue we re@aatt quarter is the recognition of deferred reednm subscription and support services contracts
entered into during previous quarters. Consequeattiecline in new or renewed subscription or supgErvices contracts in any one quarter will not
be fully reflected in revenue in that quarter bilt megatively affect our revenue in future quasteAccordingly, the effect of significant downturins
new or renewed sales of our subscriptions or sugeovices is not reflected in full in our statensenf operations until future periods. Our subsip
and support services revenue also makes it difffoulus to rapidly increase our revenue througtitézhal service sales in any period, as revenom
new and renewal support services contracts mustdogynized over the applicable service period.

We generate a majority of revenue from sales to distributors, resellers and end-customers outside of the United States, and we are therefore subject
to a number of risks associated with international sales and operations.

We market and sell our products throughout the dvarid have established sales offices in many patte world. Therefore, we are subject
to risks associated with having worldwide opereatioe are also subject to a number of risks tylyiedsociated with international sales and
operations, including:

economic or political instability in foreign mari

greater difficulty in enforcing contracts, accourgseivable collection and longer collection pes;
changes in regulatory requireme

difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefgn operation:

the uncertainty of protection for intellectual peoty rights in some countrie

costs of compliance with foreign policies, laaved regulations and the risks and costs of non-tange with such policies, laws and
regulations;

costs of complying with U.S. laws and regulasidor foreign operations, including the Foreign @pt Practices Act, import and
export control laws, tariffs, trade barriers, acdreomic sanctions;

other regulatory or contractual limitations amr ability to sell our products in certain foreigrarkets, and the risks and costs of non-
compliance;

heightened risks of unfair or corrupt businesfices in certain geographies and of impropdraudulent sales and sales-related
arrangements that may result in disruption in #lessteam through terminations of employment oemwtise, and may adversely
impact financial results as compared to those dyreaported or the forecasted results and resuéistatements of financial
statements and irregularities in financial statetsien

our ability to effectively implement and maintaideguate internal controls to properly manage derivational sales and operatic
the potential for political unrest, terrorism, hisés, war, or natural disaste

management communication and integration proble&sslting from cultural differences and geograpligpersion; an

multiple and possibly overlapping tax structu

Product and service sales may be subject to fogggernmental regulations, which vary substantiithyn country to country. Further, we
may be unable to keep up-to-date with changeswergeonent requirements as they change from time to
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time. Failure to comply with these regulations coidsult in adverse effects to our business. Inynfiareign countries it is common for others to
engage in business practices that are prohibitezlibynternal policies and procedures or U.S. raios applicable to us. Although we implemented
policies and procedures designed to ensure conggliaiith these laws and policies, there can be sgrasce that all of our employees, contractors,
channel partners and agents will comply with tHages and policies. Violations of laws or key cohpolicies by our employees, contractors, channel
partners or agents could result in delays in reggeaognition, financial reporting misstatemeritsed, penalties, or the prohibition of the impaaat

or exportation of our products and services anddcbave a material adverse effect on our businedsesults of operations.

If we are not successful in continuing to execute our strategy to increase our salesto larger end-customers, our results of operations may suffer.

An important part of our growth strategy is to mase sales of our products to large enterprisedcseroviders and governmental entities.
Sales to enterprises, service providers and govamtahentities involve risks that may not be prégenthat are present to a lesser extent) witasstd
small-to-mid-sized entities. These risks include:

. increased competition from competitors, sucigso Systems, Inc. (“Cisco”), Sourcefire, Inc. ¢tBcefire”) (acquired by Cisco),
Check Point Software Technologies Ltd. (“Check PdiMcAfee, Inc. (“McAfee”) (acquired by Intel Cporation (“Intel”)), Blue
Coat Systems, Inc. ("Blue Coat"), FireEye, IncloPdto Networks, Inc. (“Palo Alto Networks”), SatWALL, Inc. (“SonicWALL")
(acquired by Dell Inc. (“Dell”)), Juniper Networkkc. (“Juniper”), and Stonesoft Corporation (“Stenft”) (acquired by McAfee)
that traditionally target enterprises, service jmers and governmental entities and that may ayréasie purchase commitments
from those end-customers;

. increased purchasing power and leverage heldrgg endeustomers in negotiating contractual arrangem

. unanticipated changes in the capital resourtes purchasing behavior of large end-customeduiting changes in the volume and
frequency of their purchases;

. more stringent support requirements in our supgErvice contracts, including stricter supposprense times, more complex
customer requirements, and increased penaltiemfpfailure to meet support requirements; and

. longer sales cycles and the associated riskstifztantial time and resources may be spent oteatrl end-customer that elects not
to purchase our products and services.

Large enterprises, service providers and goverrahentities often undertake a significant evaluafioocess that results in a lengthy sales
cycle, in some cases over 12 months. Although we hachannel sales model, our sales representégpieally engage in direct interaction with our
distributors and resellers in connection with sédelsirger end-customers. Due to the lengthy natheesize and scope, and stringent requirements of
these evaluations, we typically provide evaluapooducts to these customers. We may spend sulattmte, effort and money in our sales efforts
without being successful in producing any salewdfare unsuccessful in converting these evalusiito sales, we may experience an increased
inventory of used products and potentially increlasete-offs. In addition, product purchases byegptises, service providers and governmental
entities are frequently subject to budget constsamultiple approvals, and unplanned administeatprocessing and other delays. Furthermore, &
providers represent our largest industry vertical eonsolidation or changes in buying behaviordsgér customers within this industry could
negatively impact our business. Finally, entergriservice providers and governmental entitiescglpyi have longer implementation cycles, require
greater product functionality and scalability andreader range of services, including design sesvidemand that vendors take on a larger share of
risks, sometimes require acceptance provisionscratead to a delay in revenue recognition, ameeixgreater payment flexibility from vendors. All
these factors can add further risk to businessucted with these customers. If sales expected &dange end-customer for a particular quarter ate n
realized in that quarter or at all, our busineg®grating results and financial condition could ketenially and adversely affected.

Managing inventory of our products and product componentsis complex. I nsufficient inventory may result in lost sales opportunities or delayed
revenue, while excess inventory may harm our gross margins.

Managing our inventory is complex. Our channel pers may increase orders during periods of prostusttages, cancel orders if their
inventory is too high, return products or take adgge of price protection (if any is available he t
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particular partner), or delay orders in anticipatad new products. They also may adjust their arderesponse to the supply of our products and the
products of our competitors that are availabléntort and in response to seasonal fluctuations ircastbmer demand. Furthermore, if the time
required to manufacture certain products or shiglpets increases for any reason, this could resuiventory shortfalls. Management of our
inventory is further complicated by the significamimber of different products and models that wie se

In addition, for those channel partners that hagylets of return, inventory held by such channetmens affects our results of operations. Our
inventory management systems and related supply gigbility tools may be inadequate to enabldasffectively manage inventory. Inventory
management remains an area of focus as we balamceéd to maintain inventory levels that are sigfffit to ensure competitive lead times against the
risk of inventory obsolescence because of rapidgnging technology and customer requirements. lfilmnately determine that we have excess
inventory, we may have to reduce our prices antevdown inventory, which in turn could result imder gross margins. Alternatively, insufficient
inventory levels may lead to shortages that résudelayed revenue or loss of sales opportunifiegether as potential end-customers turn to
competitors’ products that are readily availabler &ample, we experienced inventory shortagelsaritst quarter of 2013 due to more demand for
certain products than we had forecasted. If weiaeble to effectively manage our inventory and dfaiur channel partners, our results of operations
could be adversely affected.

We are dependent on the continued services and performance of our senior management, the loss of any of whom could adversely affect our
business, operating results and financial condition.

Our future performance depends on the continuedcgsrand continuing contributions of our seniomagement to execute on our business
plan, and to identify and pursue new opportuniied product innovations. The loss of services ahivers of senior management, particularly Ken
Xie, our Co-founder and Chief Executive Officer avitthael Xie, our Cdounder, President and Chief Technology Officed any of our senior salt
leaders or functional area leaders, could signitigadelay or prevent the achievement of our dgwedent and strategic objectives. For example, our
prior Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operatindfi®er departed in December 2013. In addition, keysonnel may be distracted by activities
unrelated to our business. The loss of the servaredistraction, of our senior management for smason could adversely affect our business, firnci
condition and results of operations.

If we are unableto hire, retain and motivate qualified personnel, our business will suffer.

Our future success depends, in part, on our alidigontinue to attract and retain highly skilleetgonnel. The loss of the services of any of
our key personnel, the inability to attract or iretgualified personnel, or delays in hiring reqdifgersonnel, particularly in engineering and satesy
seriously harm our business, financial conditiod egsults of operations. From time to time, we egpee turnover in our management-level
personnel. None of our key employees has an em@oyagreement for a specific term, and any of ayleyees may terminate their employment at
any time. Our ability to continue to attract anthne highly skilled personnel will be critical tapfuture success. Competition for highly-skilled
personnel is frequently intense, especially inltlivations where we have a substantial presenceeed for highlyskilled personnel: the San Franci:
Bay Area, Vancouver, Canada and Beijing, China.iiég not be successful in attracting, assimilatingetaining qualified personnel to fulfill our
current or future needs. Also, to the extent we personnel from competitors, we may be subjeatiégations that they have been improperly
solicited or divulged proprietary or other confitiahinformation.

The average sales prices of our products may decrease, which may reduce our gross profits and adversely impact our financial results and the
trading price of our common stock.

The average sales prices for our products mayraefdir a variety of reasons, including competifiviging pressures, discounts we offer, a
change in our mix of products, anticipation of ilteoduction of new products or promotional progsaf@ompetition continues to increase in the
market segments in which we participate, and weetxpompetition to further increase in the futtihereby leading to increased pricing pressures.
Larger competitors with more diverse product offgd may reduce the price of products that compéteoumrs in order to promote the sale of other
products or may bundle them with other productdifahally, although we price our products and =g worldwide in U.S. dollars, currency
fluctuations in certain countries and regions magatively impact actual prices that partners arsiczners are willing to pay in those countries and
regions. Furthermore, we anticipate that the avesades prices and gross profits for our produdisiecrease over product life cycles. We cannot
assure you that we will be successful in developing introducing new offerings with enhanced funradility on a timely basis, or that our product
offerings, if introduced, will enable us to maimtaiur prices and gross profits at levels that allbw us to maintain profitability.
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Reliance on a concentration of shipments at the end of the quarter could cause our billings and revenue to fall below expected levels.

As a result of customer-buying patterns and theresffof our sales force and channel partners td oreexceed quarterly quotas, we have
historically received a substantial portion of egcdlarter’'s sales orders and generated a substpatidn of each quarter’s billings and revenudrtyr
the last two weeks of the quarter. For exampleaw@rage over the past eight quarters, our shipnaemisg the last two weeks of each quarter
accounted for approximately 36% of aggregate lgflifor each quarter. If expected orders at theoéraahy quarter are delayed for any reason,
including the failure of anticipated purchase osdermaterialize, our logistics partners’ inabilityship products prior to quarter-end to fulfillrphase
orders received near the end of the quarter, durdéato manage inventory to meet demand, our litgho release new products on schedule, any
failure of our systems related to order review pratessing, or any delays in shipments based de trampliance requirements, our billings and
revenue for that quarter could fall below our extpgons or those of securities analysts and investesulting in a decline in our stock price.

Werely on third-party channel partnersto generate substantially all of our revenue. I f our partnersfail to perform, our ability to sell our products
and services will be limited, and if we fail to optimize our channel partner model going forward, our operating results will be harmed.

Substantially all of our revenue is generated tghosales by our channel partners, which includeilligors and resellers. We depend upon
our channel partners to generate sales opportsigitid manage the sales process. To the extenhannel partners are unsuccessful in selling our
products, or we are unable to enter into arrangésneith, and retain, a sufficient number of higlality channel partners in each of the regions in
which we sell products, and keep them motivatesktbour products, our ability to sell our produatgl operating results will be harmed. The
termination of our relationship with any signifi¢arthannel partner may adversely impact our saldsogerating results.

We provide sales channel partners with specifigrams to assist them in selling our products, bettet can be no assurance that these
programs will be effective. In addition, our chahpartners may be unsuccessful in marketing, gehind supporting our products and services. Our
channel partners generally do not have minimumimse requirements. They may also market, sell applost products and services that are
competitive with ours, and may devote more resautcehe marketing, sales and support of such pitsdlihey may also have incentives to promote
our competitors’ products to the detriment of omnoThey may cease selling our products altogeiercannot assure you that we will retain these
channel partners or that we will be able to seadiditional or replacement partners or that existingnnel partners will continue to perform. Theslos
of one or more of our significant channel partrarthe failure to obtain and ship a number of lasg#ers each quarter through them could harm our
operating results. In addition, any new sales chbpartner will require extensive training and ntale several months or more to achieve product
Our channel partner sales structure could subgtd lawsuits, potential liability and reputatiomarm if, for example, any of our channel partners
misrepresent the functionality of our productsenvges to end-customers or our channel partnetatei laws or our corporate policies. If we fail to
optimize our channel partner model or fail to managisting sales channels, our business will bewsgy harmed.

Actual, possible or perceived defects or vulnerabilitiesin our products or services, the failure of our products or servicesto prevent a virus or
security breach, or misuse of our products could harm our reputation and divert resources.

Because our products and services are complexhiénay contained and may contain defects or ermartsatre not detected until after their
commercial release and deployment by our custorbafects or vulnerabilities may impede or blockwaak traffic or cause our products or services
to be vulnerable to electronic break-ins or catisentto fail to help secure networks. Because ttienigues used by computer hackers to access or
sabotage networks change frequently and gener&lypa recognized until launched against a tamgetnay be unable to anticipate these techniques.
In addition, defects or errors in our FortiGuardseription updates or our FortiGate appliancesdcoesult in a failure of our FortiGuard services to
effectively update end-customers’ FortiGate apiéasnand thereby leave customers vulnerable tokatt&arthermore, our solutions may also fail to
detect or prevent viruses, worms or similar threlats to a number of reasons such as the evolvingenaf such threats and the continual emergen
new threats that we may fail to add to our Fortidudatabases in time to protect our end-custonmatsvorks. Our FortiGuard or FortiCare data
centers and networks may also experience techiaidales and downtime, and may fail to distribupgeopriate updates, or fail to meet the increased
requirements of a growing customer base. Any sechrical failure, downtime, or failures in genaraly temporarily or permanently expose our end-
customers’ networks, leaving their networks unpteté against the latest security threats.

An actual, possible or perceived security breadhnfexction of the network of one of our end-custospeegardless of whether the breach is
attributable to the failure of our products or segg to prevent the security breach, could advwesébct the market's perception of our security
products and services. We may not be able to doairgcsecurity flaws or
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vulnerabilities promptly, or at all. Our productaynalso be misused by end-customers or third ganti® obtain access to our products. For example,
our products could be used to censor private adoesestain information on the Internet. Such useuw products for censorship could result in
negative press coverage and negatively affectequtation, even if we take reasonable measurest@pt any improper shipment of our products
our products are provided by an unauthorized thady. Any actual, possible, or perceived defestyrs or vulnerabilities in our products, or misus
of our products, could result in:

. expenditure of significant financial and proddetvelopment resources in efforts to analyze, cgrediminate or work-around errors
or defects or to address and eliminate vulneraslit

. loss of existing or potential eralistomers or channel partn

. delayed or lost revent

. delay or failure to attain market accepta

. negative publicity, which will harm our reputaticanc

. litigation, regulatory inquiries or investigatiotigat may be costly and harm our reputa

Our business and operations have experienced growth, and if we do not appropriately manage any future growth, or are unable to improve our
systems and processes, our operating results will be negatively affected.

Our business has grown over the last several ya&sely heavily on information technology systeim$ielp manage critical functions such
as order processing, revenue recognition, finaricracasts, inventory and supply chain managemahtrade compliance reviews. However, we have
been slow to adopt and implement certain automfatections, which could have a negative impact onbusiness. For example, a large part of our
order processing relies on the manual processiegnails internally and from our customers. Combinét the fact that we may receive a majority of
our orders in the last few weeks of any given arad significant interruption in our email servimeother systems could result in delayed order
fulfillment and decreased revenue for that quaftermanage any future growth effectively, we mwsttmue to improve and expand our information
technology and financial infrastructure, operatimgl administrative systems and controls, and coatio manage headcount, capital and processes in
an efficient manner. We may not be able to sucaéigsimplement requisite improvements to these eayst, controls and processes, such as system
access and change management controls, in a tonelficient manner. We are moving our U.S. headmgus at the end of February, which move
could cause system and other disruption. We aceimlhe planning stages for a new enterprise regoplanning system and when the new system is
implemented, such change may cause disruption@aitianal cost. In addition, our systems and preessnay not prevent or detect all errors,
omissions or fraud. Our failure to improve our seyss and processes, or their failure to operatearintended manner, may result in our inability to
manage the growth of our business and to accurfitedgast our revenue, expenses and earnings poevent certain losses. Our productivity and the
quality of our products and services may be adWeeféected if we do not integrate and train ouwremployees quickly and effectively. Any future
growth would add complexity to our organization aaduire effective coordination throughout our arigation. Failure to manage any future growth
effectively could result in increased costs andrhaur results of operations.

If our estimates or judgmentsrelating to our critical accounting policies are based on assumptions that change or prove to be incorrect, our
operating results could fall below expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a declinein our stock price.

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reportétticonsolidated financial statements and accoyipgamotes. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions théielieve to be reasonable under the circumstaasgzovided in “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggems” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, theuks of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assetsiahtliies that are not readily apparent from otheuarces. Our operating results may be adve
affected if our assumptions change or if actualuitstances differ from those in our assumptionschvbould cause our operating results to fall below
the expectations of securities analysts and invgstesulting in a decline in our stock price. $igant assumptions and estimates used in prepatir
consolidated financial statements include thosgedlto revenue recognition, stock-based compemsetipense, valuation of inventory, warranty
liabilities, goodwill and other long-lived assetsyestments, and accounting for income taxes.
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We offer retroactive price protection to certain of our major distributors, and if we fail to balance their inventory with end-customer demand for our
products, our allowance for price protection may be inadequate, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We provide certain of our major distributors wittige protection rights for inventories of our pratiiheld by them. If we reduce the list pr
of our products, certain distributors receive refaior credits from us that reduce the price of saroducts held in their inventory based upon the ne
list price. Future credits for price protection dépend on the percentage of our price reducfionthe products in inventory and our ability tomage
the levels of our major distributors’ inventoridfsfuture price protection adjustments are higlnamt expected, our future results of operationsccbal
materially and adversely affected.

Because we depend on several third-party manufacturersto build our products, we are susceptible to manufacturing delays that could prevent us
from shipping customer orderson time, if at all, and may result in the loss of sales and customers, and third-party manufacturing cost increases
could result in lower gross margins.

We outsource the manufacturing of our security iappk products to a variety of contract manufantupartners and original design
manufacturing partners.

Our reliance on our third-party manufacturers regugur control over the manufacturing process, &Rrgaus to risks, including reduced
control over quality assurance, product costs andyzt supply and timing. Any manufacturing disiaptby our third-party manufacturers could
impair our ability to fulfill orders. If we are ubke to manage our relationships with these thindypaanufacturers effectively, or if these thirddya
manufacturers experience delays, increased manufagiead-times, disruptions, capacity constraomtgquality control problems in their
manufacturing operations, or fail to meet our fattequirements for timely delivery, our abilitygbip products to our customers could be impairet
our business would be seriously harmed.

These manufacturers fulfill our supply requirememghe basis of individual purchase orders. Weehavlong-term contracts or
arrangements with certain of our third-party maotifeers that guarantee capacity, the continuatigradicular payment terms or the extension of
credit limits. Accordingly, they are not obligatexcontinue to fulfill our supply requirements, ahe prices we are charged for manufacturing ses
could be increased on short notice. If we are reguio change third-party manufacturers, our ghititmeet our scheduled product deliveries to our
customers would be adversely affected, which coalgse the loss of sales and existing or potenigtbeners, delayed revenue or an increase in our
costs which could adversely affect our gross margdur individual product lines are generally mawctifired by only one manufacturing partner. Any
production interruptions for any reason, such aataral disaster, epidemic, capacity shortageguality problems, at one of our manufacturing
partners would severely affect sales of our protines manufactured by that manufacturing partRarthermore manufacturing cost increases for any
reason could result in lower gross margins.

Our proprietary FortiASIC, which is the key to therformance of our appliances, is fabricated bytremh manufacturers in foundries opere
by UMC and TSMC. Faraday (using UMC's foundry), Miero (using TSMC's foundry) and Renesas (using Udoundry) manufacture our ASICs
on a purchase order basis, and UMC and TSMC dgumriantee any capacity and could reject orders ffaraday, KMicro or Renesas or could try
increase pricing. Accordingly, the foundries aré¢ eldigated to continue to fulfill our supply regeinents, and due to the long lead time that a new
foundry would require, we could suffer temporantarg term inventory shortages of our FortiASIOagdl as increased costs. Our suppliers may also
prioritize orders by other companies that ordehaigrolumes of products. If any of these supplieagerially delays its supply of ASICs or specific
product models to us, or requires us to find aeradite supplier and we are not able to do so anedyt and reasonable basis, or if these foundries
materially increase their prices for fabricationoof ASICs or specific product models, our businesald be harmed.

In addition, our reliance on third-party manufaetsrand foundries limits our control over enviromtaé regulatory requirements such as the
hazardous substance content of our products anefthe our ability to ensure compliance with thedpean Union’s (“EU”) Restriction of Hazardous
Substances Directive (“RoHS”) and other similardait also exposes us to the risk that certain ralseand metals that originated in the Democratic
Republic of Congo or an adjoining country, knowrf@mflict minerals,” are contained within our pruaats. Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, the &B@pted new disclosure requirements for publicames using conflict minerals in their
products. Under these rules, we are required toperdue diligence, disclose and report our effastprevent the sourcing of such conflict minerals.
Our first conflict minerals report is due by May, 2014. As a result of these new rules, we haveried and expect to incur additional costs to cgr
with the disclosure requirements, including costated to determining the source of any of the ladmhinerals that may be used in our products.
Moreover, the implementation of these new requimrgsieould adversely affect the sourcing, availghitnd pricing of materials used in the
manufacture of our products
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to the extent that there may be only a limited nerdf suppliers offering “conflict free” mineralsét can be used in our products. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to obtain such raleén sufficient quantities or at competitive gs$c We may also encounter customers who require
that all of the components of our products be fiedtias conflict free. If we are not able to mesttomer requirements, such customers may choose to
not purchase our products, which could impact alessand the value of portions of our inventory.

Because some of the key componentsin our products come from limited sources of supply, we are susceptible to supply shortages, long lead times for
components, and supply changes, each of which could disrupt or delay our scheduled product deliveriesto our customers, result in inventory
shortage, and may result in the loss of sales and customers, and increased component costs may result in lower gross margins.

We and our contract manufacturers currently purelsaseral key parts and components used in thefaate of our products from limited
sources of supply. We are therefore subject toiseof shortages and long lead times in the suppihese components and the risk that component
suppliers discontinue or modify components useaslinproducts. We have in the past experiencedaemdurrently experiencing, shortages and long
lead times for certain components. Certain of ouitéd source components for particular appliarases suppliers of those components include:
specific types of central processing units fronellnddvanced Micro Devices, Inc., and RMI/Netlo@orporation, network chips from Broadcom
Corporation, Marvell Technology Group Ltd. and Inend hard drives from Western Digital Technolsgiec. The introduction by component
suppliers of new versions of their products, pattidy if not anticipated by us or our contract méacturers, could require us to expend significant
resources to incorporate these new component®intproducts. In addition, if these suppliers werdiscontinue production of a necessary part or
component, we would be required to expend significasources and time in locating and integrateémlacement parts or components from another
vendor. Qualifying additional suppliers for limitesdurce parts or components can be time-consunmid@xpensive.

Our manufacturing partners have experienced load fienes for the purchase of components incorpdriate our products. Lead times for
components may be adversely impacted by factossdriof our control, such as natural disastersatingr factors. Our reliance on a limited numbe
suppliers involves several additional risks, indahggd

. a potential inability to obtain an adequate supdlyequired parts or components when requ
. financial or other difficulties faced by our supgh

. infringement or misappropriation of our intelledtpaoperty

. price increase

. failure of a component to meet environmental oeptiegulatory requiremen

. failure to meet delivery obligations in a timelysfaon; ani

. failure in component qualit

The occurrence of any of these events would beipliste to us and could seriously harm our busin&sg.interruption or delay in the supply
of any of these parts or components, or the inghidi obtain these parts or components from altereaurces at acceptable prices and within a
reasonable amount of time, would harm our abibtyneet our scheduled product deliveries to ouritligors, resellers and end-customers. This could
harm our relationships with our channel partnesemd-customers and could cause delays in shipofientr products and adversely affect our results
of operations. In addition, increased componentscosuld result in lower gross margins.

We are exposed to fluctuationsin currency exchange rates, which could negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations.

A majority of our operating expenses is incurretsie the United States. These expenses are deatemhiim foreign currencies and are
subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreigmency exchange rates, particularly changes ifEtive and Canadian dollar. Although we have been
hedging currency exposures relating to certainfz@aheet accounts and have periodically entetectash flow hedges relating to certain operating
expenses incurred outside of the United Statege itop hedging against any of these risks orrifatiempts to hedge against these currency exposure
are not successful, our financial condition andiltsf operations could be adversely affectecgddition, our sales contracts are primarily
denominated in U.S. dollars and therefore, whilesgantially all of our revenue is not subject teefgn currency
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risk, it does not serve as a hedge to our foreigreacy-denominated operating expenses. In addigiatrengthening of the U.S. dollar could increase
the real cost of our products to our customersideitsf the United States, which could also advgra#ect our financial condition and results of
operations.

We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could subject usto liability, restriction on sales, and/or impair our ability to compete
in international markets.

Because we incorporate encryption technology intoproducts, certain of our products are subjett.®. export controls and may be
exported outside the U.S. only with the requiredagklicense or through an export license excepfiowe were to fail to comply with U.S. export
licensing, U.S. Customs regulations and import latipns, U.S. economic sanctions and other cowsitingoort and export laws, we could be subjet
substantial civil and criminal penalties, includifiges for the company and incarceration for resgaa employees and managers, and the possibl
of export or import privileges. In addition, if oahannel partners fail to obtain appropriate impexport or re-export licenses or permits, for osde
placed by partners as stocking orders for examy@eanay also be adversely affected through reputaltioarm and penalties and we may not be akt
provide support related to appliances shipped puntsto such orders. Obtaining the necessary elipertse for a particular sale may be time-
consuming and may result in the delay or loss lefssapportunities.

Furthermore, U.S. export control laws and econaaitctions prohibit the shipment of certain produetd.S. embargoed or sanctioned
countries, governments and persons. Even thoughkeeprecautions to prevent our product from beimgped to U.S. sanctions targets, our products
could be shipped to those targets by our channmi&igra, despite such precautions. Any such shipemrit have negative consequences including
government investigations and penalties and rejpattharm. In addition, various countries reguthte import of certain encryption technology,
including import permitting/licensing requiremerasd have enacted laws that could limit our abtlitglistribute our products or could limit our
customers’ ability to implement our products ingaaountries. Changes in our products or changesport and import regulations may create delays
in the introduction of our products in internatibnaarkets, prevent our customers with internatiaprations from deploying our products globally
in some cases, prevent the export or import ofppoducts to certain countries, governments or persttogether. Any change in export or import
regulations, economic sanctions or related legisiashift in the enforcement or scope of existiagulations, or change in the countries, governgent
persons or technologies targeted by such reguigtamuld result in decreased use of our productstiyy our decreased ability to export or sell our
products to, existing or potential customers witfeiinational operations. Any decreased use of mdygts or limitation on our ability to export alls
our products would likely adversely affect our Imgsis, financial condition and results of operations

If we fail to comply with environmental requirements, our business, financial condition, operating results and reputation could be adversely
affected.

We are subject to various environmental laws agdlegions including laws governing the hazardougeni@ content of our products and
laws relating to the recycling of electrical andattonic equipment. The laws and regulations tactviwie are subject include the EU, RoHS and the
Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Direc(f#/EEE Directive”) as well as the implementing iglgtion of the EU member states. Similar
laws and regulations have been passed or are geimd@hina, South Korea, Norway and Japan and reagnlacted in other regions, including in the
United States, and we are, or may in the futuresbigject to these laws and regulations.

The EU RoHS and the similar laws of other jurisdics ban the use of certain hazardous materials @sitead, mercury and cadmium in the
manufacture of electrical equipment, including products. We have incurred costs to comply witlséhlaws, including research and development
costs, costs associated with assuring the suppigrapliant components and costs associated wittimgrdff noncompliant inventory. We expect to
continue to incur costs related to environmentakland regulations in the future. With respech®EU RoHS, we and our competitors rely on an
exemption for lead in network infrastructure equgm It is possible this exemption will be revokedhe near future. If this exemption is revokdd, i
there are other changes to these laws (or theirgratation) or if new similar laws are passedtireojurisdictions, we may be required to reenginee
our products to use components compatible withethhegulations. This reengineering and componenrgtitution could result in additional costs to us
or disrupt our operations or logistics.

The EU has also adopted the WEEE Directive, whicjuires electronic goods producers to be respa&blthe collection, recycling and
treatment of such products. Although currently BUrinternational channel partners are responsiyl¢hie requirements of this directive as the
importer of record in most of the European coustimewhich we sell our products, changes in intetgtion of the regulations may cause us to incur
costs or have additional regulatory requirementténfuture to meet in order to comply with thigeditive, or with any similar laws adopted in other
jurisdictions.
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Our failure to comply with these and future envir@ntal rules and regulations could result in redwades of our products, increased costs,
substantial product inventory write-offs, reputaibdamage, penalties and other sanctions.

A portion of our revenueis generated by sales to governmental entities, which are subject to a number of challenges and risks.

Sales to U.S. and foreign federal, state and lgoaérnmental agency end-customers have accountedpfartion of our revenue in past
periods, and we may in the future increase salgsvernmental entities. Sales to governmentalieat#ire subject to a number of risks. Selling to
governmental entities can be highly competitivggemsive and time consuming, often requiring sigaifit upfront time and expense without any
assurance that we will win a sale.

Government demand, sales, and payment for our ptedmd services may be negatively impacted by numsdactors and requirements
unique to selling to government agencies, such as:

. public sector budgetary cycl

. funding authorizations and requirements unigugdvernment agencies, with funding or purchasatlyictions or delays adversely
affecting public sector demand for our products,

. geopolitical matters, ai
. rules and regulations applicable to certain govermnsale:

The rules and regulations applicable to governreal®s may also negatively impact sales to non-govental entities. To date we have had
limited traction in sales to U.S. federal governiregencies, and any future sales to governmentiilesris uncertain. All of our sales to governnaént
entities have been made indirectly through ouritiistion channel. Governmental entities may havereetual or other legal rights to terminate
contracts with our distributors and resellers fomenience or due to a default, and any such tetioim may adversely impact our future results of
operations. For example, if the distributor recsigesignificant portion of its revenue from sakesuch governmental entity, the financial healtlthef
distributor could be substantially harmed, whichildmegatively affect our future sales to suchritistor. Governments routinely investigate and audi
government contractors’ administrative processed,aay unfavorable audit could result in the gowegnt refusing to continue buying our products
and services, a reduction of revenue or fineswk @i criminal liability if the audit uncovers intpper or illegal activities. Any such penalties ktbu
adversely impact our results of operations in eemtway. Finally, purchases by the U.S. governinnesty require certain products to be manufact
in the United States and other high cost manufagjuocations, and we may not manufacture all potelin locations that meet the requirements o
U.S. government.

False detection of viruses or security breaches or false identification of spam or spyware could adversely affect our business.

Our antivirus and our intrusion prevention services/ falsely detect viruses or other threats tbhatat actually exist. This risk is heightened
by the inclusion of a “heuristics” feature in oupgucts, which attempts to identify viruses anceothreats not based on any known signatures but
based on characteristics or anomalies that magatelthat a particular item is a threat. When ogkeustomers enable the heuristics feature in our
products, the risk of falsely identifying virusesdeother threats significantly increases. Thesgefpbsitives, while typical in the industry, maypeur
the perceived reliability of our products and mlagrefore adversely impact market acceptance opmgucts. Also, our anti-spam and anti-malware
services may falsely identify emails or programsiawanted spam or potentially unwanted programalternatively fail to properly identify unwant
emails or programs, particularly as spam emailpgware are often designed to circumvent anti-spaspyware products. Parties whose emails or
programs are blocked by our products may seek sedmgainst us for labeling them as spammers orameywr for interfering with their business. In
addition, false identification of emails or progmas unwanted spam or potentially unwanted prograaysreduce the adoption of our products. If our
system restricts important files or applicationsdshon falsely identifying them as malware or sather item that should be restricted, this could
adversely affect end-customers’ systems and caaserial system failures. Any such false identificatof important files or applications could result
in negative publicity, loss of end-customers andssancreased costs to remedy any problem, artty ditigation.

18




Table of Contents
If our internal network system is compromised by computer hackers, public perception of our products and services will be harmed.

We will not succeed unless the marketplace is dentfi that we provide effective network securitytpotion. Because we provide network
security products, we may be a more attractivestaiay attacks by computer hackers. Although weehaat experienced significant damages from
unauthorized access by a third party of our ineme&work, if an actual or perceived breach of re#security occurs in our internal systems it doul
adversely affect the market perception of our potsland services. In addition, such a securitydireauld impair our ability to operate our business
including our ability to provide subscription angpport services to our end-customers. If this happeur revenue could decline and our business
could suffer.

Our ability to sell our productsis dependent on the quality of our technical support services, and our failureto offer high quality technical support
services would have a material adverse effect on our sales and results of operations.

Once our products are deployed within our end-ensts’ networks, our end-customers depend on otnteal support services, as well as
the support of our channel partners, to resolveissuyes relating to our products. If we or our ctemartners do not effectively assist our custanire
deploying our products, succeed in helping ourarasts quickly resolve post-deployment issues, aadige effective ongoing support, our ability to
sell additional products and services to existimgt@mers would be adversely affected and our répataith potential customers could be damaged.
Many large end-customers, service provider and gorental entity end-customers require higher legélsupport than smaller eraistomers becau
of their more complex deployments. If we fail toehéhe requirements of our larger end-customersait be more difficult to execute on our strategy
to increase our penetration with enterprises, serproviders and governmental entities.

As a result, our failure to maintain high qualitypport services would have a material adverse effieour business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Changesin our provision for income taxes or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income tax returns could adversely affect our
results.

Our provision for income taxes is subject to vdilgtand could be adversely affected by severaidia; many of which are outside of our
control, including:

. earnings being lower than anticipated in coestthat have lower tax rates and higher than gatied in countries that have higher
tax rates;

. changes in the valuation of our deferred tax asseddiabilities

. expiration of, or lapses in the research and deweént tax credit law

. transfer pricing adjustments including the effefcaoquisitions on our intercompany research aneldgment and legal structu

. an increase in non-deductible expenses for tagqgses, including certain stock-based compensatipense, write-offs of acquired

in-process research and development, and impairaiey@odwill;

. a decrease in the stock option exercises by outogegs in some of our foreign subsidiaries thateause an adverse transfer pric
adjustment;

. tax costs related to intercompany realignmi

. tax assessments resulting from income tax aodigy related tax interest or penalties thatasignificantly affect our income tax

provision for the period in which the settlemerkets place;
. a change in our decision to indefinitely reinvesefgn earning:

. changes in accounting principles
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. changes in tax laws and regulations includingsgile changes in the United States to the taxafi@arnings of our foreign
subsidiaries, and the deductibility of expenseahattable to foreign income, or the foreign taxditeules, or changes to the U.S.
income tax rate, which would necessitate a revianaif our deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Significant judgment is required to determine theognition and measurement attribute prescribélddrinancial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) standard. In addition, the standapplies to all income tax positions, including pential recovery of previously paid taxes, which
if settled unfavorably could adversely impact otovision for income taxes or additional paid-in italp Further, as a result of certain of our ongoin
employment and capital investment actions and camerits, our income in certain foreign countriesubject to reduced tax rates and in some ca
wholly exempt from tax. Our failure to meet thesentnitments could adversely impact our provisionifimome taxes. In addition, we are subject to
the examination of our income tax returns by tteriml Revenue Service (“IRS”) and other tax autlest: For example, the California Franchise Tax
Board is examining our tax returns for 2010 and12@¥e regularly assess the likelihood of adverdeames resulting from these examinations to
determine the adequacy of our provision for incéaaxes. There can be no assurance that the outdomneshese continuous examinations will not
have an adverse effect on our results of operations

Although we currently do not have a valuation abmee, we may in the future be required to estalboligh We will continue to assess the
need for a valuation allowance on the deferrecat®et by evaluating both positive and negativeesd that may exist.

Forecasting our estimated annual effective tax rate is complex and subject to uncertainty, and there may be material differences between our
forecasted and actual tax rates.

Forecasts of our income tax position and effediixerate are complex and subject to uncertaintgabe our income tax position for each \
combines the effects of a mix of profits earned lmsdes incurred by us in various tax jurisdictianith a broad range of income tax rates, as well as
changes in the valuation of deferred tax assetdialitities, the impact of various accounting iiend changes to these rules and tax laws, thisresu
of examinations by various tax authorities, andithygact of any acquisition, business combinationtber reorganization or financing transaction. To
forecast our global tax rate, we estimate our greprofits and losses by jurisdiction and fore@asttax expense by jurisdiction. If the mix of gtef
and losses, our ability to use tax credits, oratiife tax rates by jurisdiction is different thdmo$e estimated, our actual tax rate could be nadlieri
different than forecasted, which could have a ni@tenpact on our results of business, financiaildition and results of operations.

As a multinational corporation, we conduct our bess in many countries and are subject to taxatiomany jurisdictions. The taxation of ¢
business is subject to the application of multgtel sometimes conflicting tax laws and regulat@assvell as multinational tax conventions. Our
effective tax rate is highly dependent upon theggaphic distribution of our worldwide earnings oss$es, the tax regulations and tax holidays in each
geographic region, the availability of tax credited carryforwards, and the effectiveness of ouptarning strategies. The application of tax lawd a
regulations is subject to legal and factual intetgtion, judgment and uncertainty. Tax laws theweselre subject to change as a result of changes in
fiscal policy, changes in legislation, and the etioih of regulations and court rulings. Consequern#ixing authorities may impose tax assessments or
judgments against us that could materially impaxttax liability and/or our effective income taxee

In addition, we may be subject to examination afiaaome tax returns by the IRS and other tax aitibs. If tax authorities challenge the
relative mix of U.S. and international income, @uture effective income tax rates could be advgraéfected. While we regularly assess the likelith
of adverse outcomes from such examinations anddbgquacy of our provision for income taxes, tharelze no assurance that such provision is
sufficient and that a determination by a tax authavill not have an adverse effect on our businéssncial condition and results of operations.

Our inability to acquire and integrate other businesses, products or technologies could seriously harm our competitive position.

In order to remain competitive, we may seek to aegadditional businesses, products, or technotogiel intellectual property, such as
patents. If we identify an appropriate acquisittemdidate, we may not be successful in negotiatiagerms of the acquisition, financing the
acquisition, or effectively integrating the acquiteusiness, product, technology or intellectuapprty into our existing business and operations. We
may have difficulty incorporating acquired techrgits, intellectual property or products with ourséirg product lines and maintaining uniform
standards, controls, procedures and policies. Qerdiigence may fail to identify all of the probie, liabilities or other shortcomings or challengés
an acquired business, product or technology, inetussues with intellectual property, product dyabr
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product architecture, regulatory compliance prasticevenue recognition or other accounting prestar employee or customer issues, and we may
not accurately forecast the financial impact okaquisition. In addition, any acquisitions we apéeao complete may be dilutive to revenue growth
and earnings and may not result in any synergieshar benefits we had expected to achieve, whicidcresult in write-offs that could be substantial
Acquisitions during a quarter may result in inceshsperating expenses and adversely affect oultsesioperations for that period or future periods
compared to the results that we have previoushkctsted or achieved. Further, completing a pofeattifuisition and integrating acquired businesses,
products, technologies or intellectual propertyldaignificantly divert management time and resesrc

Our businessis subject to the risks of warranty claims, product returns, product liability and product defects.

Our products are very complex and, despite tegtiigg to their release, have contained and mayaionindetected defects or errors,
especially when first introduced or when new varsiare released. Product errors have affectedettiermance of our products and could delay the
development or release of new products or new messof products, adversely affect our reputaticth @ end-customersvillingness to buy product
from us, and adversely affect market acceptangeeption of our products. Any such errors oryela releasing new products or new versions of
products or allegations of unsatisfactory perforogacould cause us to lose revenue or market sharease our service costs, cause us to incur
substantial costs in redesigning the products,ecasgo lose significant ermsstomers, subject us to liability for damages @indrt our resources frol
other tasks, any one of which could materially addersely affect our business, results of operatsom financial condition. Our products must
successfully interoperate with products from otheardors. As a result, when problems occur in a ot may be difficult to identify the sources of
these problems. The occurrence of hardware andiaterrors, whether or not caused by our produotdd delay or reduce market acceptance o
products, and have an adverse effect on our bissaretsfinancial performance, and any necessargiogd may cause us to incur significant expenses.
The occurrence of any such problems could harnbosiness, financial condition and results of openat

Although we have limitation of liability provisioria our standard terms and conditions of sale, thay not fully or effectively protect us
from claims as a result of federal, state or Ié@ak or ordinances or unfavorable judicial decisionthe United States or other countries. The zate
support of our products also entail the risk ofquat liability claims. We maintain insurance to @t against certain claims associated with theofise
our products, but our insurance coverage may rneqaately cover any claim asserted against us.ditiad, even claims that ultimately are
unsuccessful could result in our expenditure ofifuim litigation and divert management’s time atttkoresources.

Our businessis subject to the risks of earthquakes, fire, power outages, floods and other catastrophic events, and to interruption by manmade
problems such as civil unrest and terrorism.

A significant natural disaster, such as an eartkgufire, a flood, or significant power outage abbhve a material adverse impact on our
business, operating results and financial condit@ur corporate headquarters are located in the=&mtisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic
activity. In addition, natural disasters could affeur manufacturing vendors, suppliers or logsspooviders’ ability to perform services such as
obtaining product components and manufacturingyctsdon a timely basis and assisting with shipmenta timely basis. In the event our or our
service providers’ information technology systemsnanufacturing or logistics abilities are hindebsdany of the events discussed above, shipments
could be delayed, resulting in us missing finan@adets, such as revenue and shipment targeta,farticular quarter. In addition, regional ingigh
acts of terrorism and other geelitical unrest could cause disruptions in ouribess or the business of our manufacturers, legigtioviders, partner
or end-customers or the economy as a whole. Giuettypical concentration of sales at each quartdr any disruption in the business of our
manufacturers, logistics providers, partners or@mtomers that impacts sales at the end of outequzould have a significant adverse impact on our
quarterly results. All of the aforementioned riskay be augmented if the disaster recovery planas@nd our suppliers prove to be inadequate. &
extent that any of the above results in delaysaacellations of customer orders, or the delay énttanufacture, deployment or shipment of our
products, our business, financial condition andlte®f operations would be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Industry

The network security market is rapidly evolving and the complex technology incorporated in our products makes them difficult to develop. If we do
not accurately predict, prepare for and respond promptly to technological and market developments and changing end-customer needs, our
competitive position and prospects will be harmed.

The network security market is expected to contitmuevolve rapidly. Moreover, many of our end-caséos operate in markets characterized
by rapidly changing technologies and business plahgh require them to add numerous network acpesgs and adapt increasingly complex
enterprise networks, incorporating a variety ofdware, software applications,
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operating systems and networking protocols. Intémdicomputer hackers and others who try to atteetlvorks employ increasingly sophisticated
technigues to gain access to and attack systemseawdrks. The technology in our products is esgiccomplex because it needs to effectively
identify and respond to new and increasingly sdffsited methods of attack, while minimizing the ampon network performance. Additionally, so
of our new products and enhancements may requite dsvelop new hardware architectures and ASI@sitivolve complex, expensive and time
consuming research and development processes.ufjlththe market expects rapid introduction of needpcts or product enhancements to respol
new threats, the development of these productdfisudt and the timetable for commercial release @vailability is uncertain and there can be long
time periods between releases and availabilityesf products. We have in the past and may in thedutxperience unanticipated delays in the
availability of new products and services andtiiineet previously announced timetables for suctilaility. If we do not quickly respond to the
rapidly changing and rigorous needs of our endecusts by developing and releasing and making &vailan a timely basis new products and
services or enhancements that can respond adegtatedw security threats, our competitive posi@mm business prospects will be harmed.

Our URL database for our Web filtering service may fail to keep pace with the rapid growth of URLS and may not categorize websites in accordance
with our end-customers’ expectations.

The success of our Web filtering service dependsherbreadth and accuracy of our URL databaseoAgh our URL database currently
catalogs millions of unique URLSs, it contains oalportion of the URLSs for all of the websites thet available on the Internet. In addition, thaltot
number of URLs and software applications is growiggidly, and we expect this rapid growth to coméirin the future. Accordingly, we must identify
and categorize content for our security risk catiegaat an extremely rapid rate. Our database estthblogies may not be able to keep pace with the
growth in the number of websites, especially theangng amount of content utilizing foreign languagesl the increasing sophistication of malicious
code and the delivery mechanisms associated wythvame, phishing and other hazards associated théthnternet. Further, the ongoing evolution of
the Internet and computing environments will requis to continually improve the functionality, fexss and reliability of our Web filtering function.
Any failure of our databases to keep pace withrépéd growth and technological change of the Ireeoould impair the market acceptance of our
products, which in turn could harm our busines®ricial condition and results of operations.

In addition, our Web filtering service may not heesessful in accurately categorizing Internet goplieation content to meet our end-
customers’ expectations. We rely upon a combinagicautomated filtering technology and human reviewategorize websites and software
applications in our proprietary databases. Our@mstemers may not agree with our determinationsghdicular URLs should be included or not
included in specific categories of our databagesddition, it is possible that our filtering preses may place material that is objectionableair th
presents a security risk in categories that aremgdly unrestricted by our customers’ Internet aathputer access policies, which could result irhsuc
material not being blocked from the network. Cosedyr, we may miscategorize websites such that adgsetenied to websites containing information
that is important or valuable to our customers. Arigcategorization could result in customer diséattion and harm our reputation. Any failure to
effectively categorize and filter websites accogdio our end-customers’ and channel partners’ gagiens could impair the growth of our business.

If our new products and product enhancements do not achieve sufficient market acceptance, our results of operations and competitive position will
suffer.

We spend substantial amounts of time and monegsearch and develop new products and enhancedn&di our existing products to
incorporate additional features, improved functlipar other enhancements in order to meet outarners’ rapidly evolving demands for network
security in our highly competitive industry. Whee wevelop a new product or an enhanced version ekisting product, we typically incur expenses
and expend resources upfront to market, promotesatthe new offering. Therefore, when we develod introduce new or enhanced products, they
must achieve high levels of market acceptancederao justify the amount of our investment in deping and bringing them to market.

Our new products or product enhancements coulddaittain sufficient market acceptance for mamsoms, including:

. delays in releasing our new products or enhancesrierthe marke

. failure to accurately predict market demancdeimts of product functionality and to supply produitiat meet this demand in a timely
fashion;

. failure of our sales force and partners to focuselting new product
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. inability to interoperate effectively with thetworks or applications of our prospective endtomers
. inability to protect against new types of attacksezhniques used by hacke

. actual or perceived defects, vulnerabilities, erarfailures

. negative publicity about their performance or eifemess

. introduction or anticipated introduction of competiproducts by our competitc

. poor business conditions for our exustomers, causing them to delay IT purchi

. easing of regulatory requirements around secuaity

. reluctance of customers to purchase products incatipg open source softwe

If our new products or enhancements do not achaeleguate acceptance in the market, our compegitisetion will be impaired, our revenue
will be diminished and the effect on our operatiagults may be particularly acute because of tp@fsiant research, development, marketing, sales
and other expenses we incurred in connection Wwigmew product or enhancement.

Unless we continue to devel op better market awareness of our company and our products and to improve lead generation, our revenue may not
continue to grow.

Increased market awareness of our capabilitiepeastlicts and increased lead generation are edsentiar continued growth and our
success in all of our markets, particularly for Buge enterprise, service provider and governnhemtities markets. We have historically had reki
low spending on certain marketing activities, ahdur marketing programs are not successful imiing market awareness of our company and
products, our business, financial condition andlteof operations will be adversely affected, arewill not be able to achieve sustained growth.

Demand for UTM products may be limited by market perception that UTM products are inferior to network security solutions from multiple vendors.

Sales of most of our products depend on increasethdd for UTM products. If the UTM market failsgmw as we anticipate, our business
will be seriously harmed. Target customers may WieMM “all-in-one” solutions as inferior to securigplutions from multiple vendors because of,
among other things, their perception that UTM prdyrovide security functions from only a singendor and do not allow users to choose “best-of-
breed” defenses from among the wide range of desticgecurity applications available. Target custsmaght also perceive that, by combining
multiple security functions into a single platforbiTM solutions create a “single point of failuret their networks, which means that an error,
vulnerability or failure of the UTM product may pkathe entire network at risk. In addition, the ketiperception that UTM solutions may be suitable
only for small and medium sized businesses beddlié lacks the performance capabilities and fundalip of other solutions may harm our sales to
large enterprise, service provider, and governnhemtity end-customers. If the foregoing concennd perceptions become prevalent, even if there is
no factual basis for these concerns and perceptiorisother issues arise with the UTM market engral, demand for UTM products could be
severely limited, which would limit our growth ahdrm our business, financial condition and resefligperations. Further, a successful and public
targeted attack against us or another well knowMWendor exposing a “single point of failure” coudinificantly increase these concerns and
perceptions and may harm our business and regud{seoations.

We face intense competition in our market and we may lack sufficient financial or other resources to maintain or improve our competitive position.
The market for network security products is intépsempetitive, and we expect competition to intBns the future. Our competitors
include networking companies such as Cisco ancéunsecurity vendors such as Check Point, McAdeg\ired by Intel), Sourcefire (acquired by
Cisco), Stonesoft (acquired by McAfee), SonicWAldcquired by Dell), Blue Coat, FireEye, and PalmAletworks, and other point solution secu
vendors.
Many of our existing and potential competitors grgabstantial competitive advantages such as:

. greater name recognition and longer operating hést;
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. larger sales and marketing budgets and reso!

. broader distribution and established relatiopshvith distribution partners and endstomers
. access to larger customer ba

. greater customer support resour

. greater resources to make acquisiti

. lower labor and development costs;

. substantially greater financial, technical and otlesource:

In addition, some of our larger competitors havessantially broader product offerings and levertigsr relationships based on other prod
or incorporate functionality into existing produatsa manner that discourages users from purchasingroducts. These larger competitors often have
broader product lines and market focus and arebetter position to withstand any significant retituc in capital spending by end-customers in these
markets. Therefore, these competitors will not swsceptible to downturns in a particular markito, many of our smaller competitors that
specialize in providing protection from a singleéyof network security threat are often able tivéelthese specialized network security products to
the market more quickly than we can. Some of owallencompetitors are using thighrty chips designed to accelerate performancedi@ons in out
markets could change rapidly and significantly assalt of technological advancements or continuiregket consolidation. Our current and potential
competitors may also establish cooperative relatigpgs among themselves or with third parties they farther enhance their resources. In addition,
current or potential competitors may be acquiredhirg parties with greater available resourcest{sas Juniper’s acquisition of NetScreen
Technologies Inc., Intel's acquisition of McAfeeckfee's acquisition of Stonesoft, Check Point’swasitjon of Nokia Corporations’ security
appliance business and Dell's acquisition of SorA¢\ly), and new competitors may arise pursuant taugitions of network security companies or
divisions. As a result of such acquisitions, cortjoet in our market may continue to increase andaurent or potential competitors might be able to
adapt more quickly to new technologies and custameds, devote greater resources to the promatisal® of their products and services, initiate or
withstand substantial price competition, take atega of acquisition or other opportunities moredigeor develop and expand their product and
service offerings more quickly than we do. In aiddif our competitors may bundle products and ses/@ompetitive with ours with other products
services. Customers may accept these bundled pgeodnd services rather than separately purchasingroducts and services. Due to budget
constraints or economic downturns, organizationg beamore willing to incrementally add solutiongheir existing network security infrastructure
from competitors than to replace it with our sau8. These competitive pressures in our marketiofadlure to compete effectively may result inge
reductions, fewer customer orders, reduced revandegross margins and loss of market share.

If functionality similar to that offered by our productsisincorporated into existing network infrastructure products, organizations may decide
against adding our appliances to their network, which would have an adverse effect on our business.

Large, well-established providers of networkingipquent such as Cisco and Juniper offer, and matiragnto introduce, network security
features that compete with our products, eithestémd-alone security products or as additionalfeatin their network infrastructure products. The
inclusion of, or the announcement of an intenthi@ude, functionality perceived to be similar tatlffered by our security solutions in networking
products that are already generally accepted assary components of network architecture may havadverse effect on our ability to market and
sell our products. Furthermore, even if the funwidy offered by network infrastructure providéssnore limited than our products, a significant
number of customers may elect to accept such lihfitactionality in lieu of adding appliances from additional vendor such as us. Many
organizations have invested substantial persommkfinancial resources to design and operate tiegworks and have established deep relationships
with other providers of networking products, whitlay make them reluctant to add new componentsiotletworks, particularly from other vendors
such as us. In addition, an organizateXisting vendors or new vendors with a broad ypebdffering may be able to offer concessions thatre no
able to match because we currently offer only netvgecurity products and have fewer resources ieamy of our competitors. If organizations are
reluctant to add additional network infrastructtrem new vendors or otherwise decide to work wiitkitt existing vendors, our business, financial
condition and results of operations will be advisrsdfected.
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Risks Related to Intellectual Property
Our proprietary rights may be difficult to enforce, which could enable others to copy or use aspects of our products without compensating us.

We rely primarily on patent, trademark, copyrightidrade secrets laws, confidentiality procedures@ntractual provisions to protect our
technology. Valid patents may not issue from ourddeg applications, and the claims eventually aidwen any patents may not be sufficiently broad
to protect our technology or products. Any issuatepts may be challenged, invalidated or circunaeirdnd any rights granted under these patents
may not actually provide adequate defensive priotiectr competitive advantages to us. Patent agpicain the United States are typically not
published until at least 18 months after filing, iorsome cases, not at all, and publications séalieries in industry-related literature lag betantual
discoveries. We cannot be certain that we werditsieto make the inventions claimed in our pendiagent applications or that we were the firsile
for patent protection. Additionally, the processbfaining patent protection is expensive and t@mesuming, and we may not be able to prosecute all
necessary or desirable patent applications atsonedle cost or in a timely manner. In additiocerdg changes to the patent laws in the United State
may bring into question the validity of certaintsadre patents and may make it more difficult anstlyao prosecute patent applications. As a result,
we may not be able to obtain adequate patent piatear effectively enforce our issued patents.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tgylunauthorized parties may attempt to copy asp#atur products or obtain and use
information that we regard as proprietary. We galteenter into confidentiality or license agreensawith our employees, consultants, vendors and
customers, and generally limit access to and didfon of our proprietary information. However, w&nnot assure you that the steps taken by us will
prevent misappropriation of our technology. Policimauthorized use of our technology or productifficult. In addition, the laws of some foreign
countries do not protect our proprietary rightasogreat an extent as the laws of the United Statesmany foreign countries do not enforce thass
as diligently as government agencies and privateesan the United States. From time to time, legdion by us may be necessary to enforce our
patents and other intellectual property rightgrmtect our trade secrets, to determine the vglatid scope of the proprietary rights of othertoor
defend against claims of infringement or invalidiBuch litigation could result in substantial ccetsl diversion of resources and could negatively
affect our business, operating results and findicoiadition. If we are unable to protect our prepaiy rights (including aspects of our software and
products protected other than by patent rights)mag find ourselves at a competitive disadvantagathers who need not incur the additional expt
time and effort required to create the innovativedpcts that have enabled us to be successfuk¢o da

Our products contain third-party open source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open source software
licenses could restrict our ability to sell our products.

Our products contain software modules licensedstbyuthird-party authors under “open source” ligensncluding the GNU Public License,
the GNU Lesser Public License (LGPL), the BSD Lemrthe Apache License and others. From time te, tihere have been claims against comp:
that distribute or use open source software irr fh@iducts and services, asserting that open scofo@are infringes the claimants’ intellectual
property rights. We could be subject to suits bstiea claiming infringement of intellectual properights in what we believe to be licensed open
source software. Use and distribution of open sosaftware may entail greater risks than use ofitparty commercial software, as open source
licensors generally do not provide warranties dieotontractual protections regarding infringen@aims or the quality of the code. Some open sc
licenses contain requirements that we make availsdairce code for modifications or derivative wonkscreate based upon the type of open source
software we use. If we combine our proprietarywsafe with open source software in a certain manmercould, under certain open source license
required to release the source code of our prapyieoftware to the public. This would allow ounguetitors to create similar products with lower
development effort and time and ultimately coulsutein a loss of product sales for us.

Although we monitor our use of open source softviaravoid subjecting our products to conditionsdeenot intend, the terms of many open
source licenses have not been interpreted by USitatks courts, and there is a risk that thesedescould be construed in a way that could impose
unanticipated conditions or restrictions on outighbio commercialize our products. In this evemg could be required to seek licenses from third
parties to continue offering our products, to mgkaerally available, in source code form, our pietpry code, to re-engineer our products, or to
discontinue the sale of our products if re-engimgecould not be accomplished on a timely basig,afrwhich could adversely affect our business,
operating results and financial condition.
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Claims by othersthat we infringe their proprietary technology or other litigation matters could harm our business.

Patent and other intellectual property disputescaremon in the network security industry. Thirdtfegr have asserted and may in the future
assert claims of infringement of intellectual prapeights against us. They may also assert swaimsl against our end-customers or channel partners
whom we typically indemnify against claims that guoducts infringe the intellectual property rigbfsthird parties. As the number of products and
competitors in our market increases and overlaparpifringement claims may increase. Any claininffingement by a third-party, even those
without merit, could cause us to incur substamisits defending against the claim and could distlacmanagement from our business. In addition,
litigation may involve patent holding companiesotier adverse patent owners who have no relevadupt revenue and against whom our own
patents may therefore provide little or no detereeor protection.

Although third parties may offer a license to thtethnology, the terms of any offered license matybre acceptable, and the failure to obte
license or the costs associated with any licens&laause our business, financial condition andlte®f operations to be materially and adversely
affected. In addition, some licenses may be notusie, and therefore, our competitors may havessto the same technology licensed to us.

Alternatively, we may be required to develop nofiiiging technology, which could require significaime, effort and expense and may
ultimately not be successful. Furthermore, a sigfaéslaimant could secure a judgment or we magado a settlement that prevents us from
distributing certain products or performing certa@rvices or that requires us to pay substantiakdges (including treble damages if we are found to
have willfully infringed such claimant’'s patentsaopyrights), royalties or other fees. Any of thesents could seriously harm our business, financia
condition and results of operations.

From time to time we are subject to lawsuits claignpatent infringement, and there are lawsuitsnilag patent infringement currently
pending, as discussed in the section entitled “LBgaceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this Annual Repon Form 10-K. We are also subject to other
litigation in addition to patent infringement clansuch as employment-related litigation and dispugeneral commercial litigation, and could become
subject to other forms of litigation and disputiesjuding stockholder litigation. If we are unsussiil in defending any such claims, our operating
results and financial condition and results mayriagerially and adversely affected. For examplenvag be required to pay substantial damages and
could be prevented from selling certain of our juad. Litigation, with or without merit, could negeely impact our business, reputation, and sale
material fashion. In addition to the lawsuits déssd in “Legal Proceedings,” several other mvacticing patent holding companies have senttier$
proposing that we license certain of their patesusl given this and the proliferation of lawsuitour industry and other similar industries by biotim-
practicing entities and operating entities, we expeat we will be sued for patent infringementtie future, regardless of the merits of any such
lawsuits. The cost to defend such lawsuits andagiverse result in such lawsuits could have a natadverse effect on our results of operations and
financial condition.

Werely on the availability of third-party licenses.

Many of our products include software or otherlietgual property licensed from third parties. layrbe necessary in the future to renew
licenses relating to various aspects of these mtsdur to seek new licenses for existing or nevdpets. There can be no assurance that the necessary
licenses would be available on acceptable ternag,afl. The inability to obtain certain licensesother rights or to obtain such licenses or rigits
favorable terms, or the need to engage in litigategarding these matters, could result in delaygaduct releases until equivalent technologylman
identified, licensed or developed, if at all, antegrated into our products and may have a matdigrse effect on our business, operating resuitd
financial condition. Moreover, the inclusion in qumoducts of software or other intellectual propdidensed from third parties on a nonexclusivesas
could limit our ability to differentiate our prodiscfrom those of our competitors.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock

As a public company, we are subject to compliance initiatives that will require substantial time from our management and result in significantly
increased costs that may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank \8aket Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2@%Qyell as other rules
implemented by the SEC and The NASDAQ Stock Marikepose various requirements on public companiedding requiring changes in corporate
governance practices. These and proposed cormaggnance laws and regulations under consideratgnfurther increase our compliance costs. If
compliance with these various legal and regulatequirements diverts our management’s attentiom fother business concerns, it could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finarogabition and results of operations. The SarbandsyAct requires, among other things, that we
assess the
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effectiveness of our internal control over finaheceporting annually and disclosure controls amatpdures quarterly. We completed our evaluation of
our internal controls over financial reporting faacal 2013 as required by Section 404 of the Ssbaxley Act of 2002. Although our assessment,
testing and evaluation resulted in our concluskat &is of December 31, 2013, our internal contreés financial reporting were effective, we cannot
predict the outcome of our testing in 2014 or fatperiods. If our internal controls or disclosuoatrols are ineffective in future periods, our mesis

and reputation could be harmed. We may incur agtitiexpenses and commitment of management'’s tirmerinection with further evaluations, both
of which could materially increase our operatingenses and accordingly reduce our operating results

Changesin financial accounting standards may cause adverse unexpected fluctuations and affect our reported results of operations.

A change in accounting standards or practices anglng interpretations of existing accounting prencements, such as changes to standard:s
related to revenue recognition, the increased fif@rosalue measure, financial instruments, arelfgbtential requirement that U.S. registrants peepa
financial statements in accordance with Internatidtinancial Reporting Standards, could have aifgigmt effect on our reported financial results or
the way we conduct our business. If we do not enthat our systems and processes are alignedhveithew standards, we could encounter difficulties
generating quarterly and annual financial statemigna timely manner, which would have an adveff@eon our business and our ability to meet our
reporting obligations.

If securities or industry analysts stop publishing research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and
trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will dep@mg@art on the research and reports that secsigtiéndustry analysts publish about us or
our business. If we do not maintain adequate releaverage or if one or more of the analysts wowers us downgrades our stock or publishes
inaccurate or unfavorable research about our bssjrmair stock price would likely decline. If onensore of these analysts ceases coverage of our
company or fails to publish reports on us regulatBmand for our stock could decrease, which coalte our stock price and trading volume to
decline.

The trading price of our common stock islikely to be volatile.

The market price of our common stock is subjeetitte fluctuations in response to, among other thitige risk factors described in this
periodic report, and other factors such as rumofiictuations in the valuation of companies perediby investors to be comparable to us. For
example, in fiscal 2013, the closing price of oamenon stock ranged from $16.53 to $25.00.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experiencee prid volume fluctuations that have affected amdicue to affect the market prices of
equity securities of many companies. These fluainatoften have been unrelated or disproportiotatee operating performance of those companies.
These broad market and industry fluctuations, dkagegeneral economic, political, and market ctiads, such as recessions, interest rate changes ot
international currency fluctuations, may negativaffect the market price of our common stock.

In the past, many companies that have experienaladility in the market price of their stock havedn subject to securities class action
litigation. We may be the target of this type d¢ifjiation in the future. Securities litigation agstins could result in substantial costs and divert
management’s attention from other business concestnish could seriously harm our business.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could impair a takeover
attempt.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delagvkaw contain provisions that could have the gftéaendering more difficult, delaying or
preventing an acquisition deemed undesirable byooard of directors. Our corporate governance decusinclude provisions:

. providing for a classified board of directorsagle members serve staggered thyes:-terms

. authorizing “blank check” preferred stock, whiobuld be issued by the board without stockholggraval and may contain voting,
liquidation, dividend and other rights superiootar common stock;

. limiting the liability of, and providing indemnifation to, our directors and office
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. limiting the ability of our stockholders to call édibring business before special meeti

. requiring advance notice of stockholder prope$al business to be conducted at meetings oftoakisolders and for nominations of
candidates for election to our board of directors;

. controlling the procedures for the conduct and dalieg of board and stockholder meetings;

. providing the board of directors with the exgreswer to postpone previously scheduled annuatingseand to cancel previously
scheduled special meetings.

These provisions, alone or together, could delgyevent hostile takeovers and changes in controhanges in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdgigions of Delaware law, including Section 203té Delaware General Corporation ¢
which prevents some stockholders holding more fl&# of our outstanding common stock from engagingeirtain business combinations without
approval of the holders of a substantial majorftalbof our outstanding common stock.

Any provision of our certificate of incorporatiom bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect ogliglg or deterring a change in control
could limit the opportunity for our stockholdersrexeive a premium for their shares of our comntonks and could also affect the price that some
investors are willing to pay for our common stock.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
ITEM 2.  Properties

In March 2014, we expect to move to our new cor@on@adquarters located at 899 Kifer Road, Suney¥dlifornia, where we own
approximately 164,000 square feet of office andding space and approximately ten acres of develegand to accommodate anticipated future
growth. Our lease for 1090 Kifer Road, SunnyvalalifGrnia, which is our current corporate headceratexpires in March 2014.

Internationally, we lease approximately 14,000 sedeet of data center space and a total of apprately 72,000 square feet of office space
in two buildings in Burnaby, Canada under variaasks that expire in July 2015 and July 2020, otispedy, approximately 24,000 square feet and
26,000 square feet of office space in Ottawa, Canauler a lease that expires in February 2015 amel 2018, respectively, approximately 19,000
square feet of office space in Sophia, France uadease that expires in December 2017, and appat&ly 26,000 square feet of office space
in Beijing, China under a lease that expires in #8i®2015. We also lease sales and support officAsi$tralia, Austria, Belgium, Egypt, Germany,
Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Israel, Italy, Jag&orea, Malaysia, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zed)&hilippines, Poland, Russia, Saudi Arabia,
Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan,l@haj Turkey, United Arab Emirates, and the Unkéagdom. We believe that our existing
properties are sufficient and suitable for the eanaf our business.
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ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

In June 2012, we received a letter from SRI Intéonal (“SRI”) claiming that we infringed certairRpatents. We settled this matter in
December 2013.

We do not currently have any other litigation mettinat we expect to have a material adverse affectur business.

We are subject to additional various claims, compgaand legal actions that arise from time to timéhe normal course of business. We
believe that the possibility that any of theseroli complaints or legal proceedings will resuldimaterial loss is remote. There can be no asseiranc
that existing or future legal proceedings arisimghie ordinary course of business or otherwisematlhave a material adverse effect on our busjness
consolidated financial position, results of opemasi or cash flows.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.

Part Il

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Globaé8eMarket under the symbol “FTNT.” The followingiie sets forth, for the time
periods indicated, the high and low closing sakésepof our common stock, as reported on The NASDBIGbal Select Market.

2013 2012
High ($) Low ($) High ($) Low ($)
Fourth Quarter 21.9¢ 16.7¢ 24.8( 17.81
Third Quarter 21.4: 17.2¢ 27.6¢ 20.9:2
Second Quarter 22.9¢ 16.5: 28.4¢ 20.41
First Quarter 25.0( 19.0¢ 27.8: 19.9(

Holders of Record

As of February 18, 2014 , there were 80 holdergodrd of our common stock. A substantially greatenber of holders of our common
stock are “street name” or beneficial holders, vehsisares are held by banks, brokers and othercielanstitutions.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends opapital stock. We do not anticipate paying arshadividends in the foreseeable future.
Any future determination to declare cash dividewidsbe made at the discretion of our board of dioes and will depend on our financial condition,
operating results, capital requirements, genersingss conditions and other factors that our boadirectors may deem relevant.

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filéal” purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Adhaarporated by reference into any
filing of Fortinet under the Securities Act of 19338 amended (tt“Securities Act’ ), or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expresdiforth by
specific reference in such filing.

The following graph shows a comparison from Noveni® 2009 through December 31, 2018 the cumulative total return for our comn
stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and the NASDA@uter Index. Such returns are based on histaesalts and are not intended to suggest
future performance. Data for The NASDAQ Compogitgelx and The NASDAQ Computer Index assume reinverstiof dividends. We have never
declared or paid cash dividends on our capitakster do we anticipate paying any such cash divdden the foreseeable future.
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COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Fortinet, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index ad
The NASDAQ Computer Index
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—_=Fortinet — NASDAQ Composite =&--NASDAQ Computer
November 2009 December 2009 December 2010 December 2011 December 2012 December 2013
Fortinet, Inc. $ 10C $ 106 $ 198 $ 26z $ A 23C
NASDAQ Composite $ 10C % 106 % 124 % 121 $ 141 19t
NASDAQ Computer $ 10C $ 107 $ 127 % 127 $ 14z $ 18¢

* $100 invested on November 18, 2009 in stock dei) including reinvestment of dividends.
Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the I ssuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Share Repurchase Program

On December 6, 2013, our board of directors autkdra Share Repurchase Program (“the Programy@ptarchase up to $200.0 million of
our outstanding common stock through December @14 2Under the Program, share repurchases may the Inyaus from time to time in privately
negotiated transactions or in open market trarmagtiThe Program does not require us to purchasaimum number of shares, and may be
suspended, modified or discontinued at any timaawit prior notice. In December 2013, we repurch&sgdnillion shares of common stock under the
Program in open market transactions for an aggequaichase price of $38.9 million. The timing antbants of these purchases were based on I
conditions and other factors, including price, aegulatory requirements. The share repurchasesfinareed by available cash balances. As of
December 31, 2013, $161.1 million remained avé&létr future share repurchases under the Program.
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The following table provides information with respéo the shares of common stock we repurchasBédaember 2013 (in thousands, except
number of shares and per share amounts):

Approximate Dollar Value of

Average Price Total Number of Shares Shares that May Yet Be
Total Number of Shares Paid per Purchased as Part of Publicly Purchased Under the Plans or
Period Purchased Share Announced Plan or Program Programs
December 1 - December 31, 2013 2,131,120 $  18.2¢ 2,131,121 % 161,05:

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial degaforth below was derived from our historical ited consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the sectiortittManagement’s Discussion and Analysis of FinalnCondition and Results of Operations” and
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,"athdr financial data included elsewhere in this dadrReport on Form 10-K. Our historical results
of operations are not indicative of our future iesaf operations.

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
($ amounts in 000’s, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Total revenue 615,29° 533,63¢ 433,57¢ 324,69¢ 252,11!
Operating income 72,09( 100,47! 88,90« 55,34 25,33«
Net income 44,27 66,83¢ 62,49: 41,24¢ 60,17¢
Net income per share
Basic 0.27 0.4z 0.41 0.2¢ 0.97
Diluted 0.2¢ 0.4C 0.3¢ 0.2¢€ 0.3¢
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic 162,43! 158,07- 152,58: 140,72t 52,66¢
Diluted 168,18: 166,32 163,78: 156,40t 130,43t

As of Fiscal Year End
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
($ amounts in 000's)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments 843,04! 739,58t 538,68 387,46( 260,31
Total assets 1,168,46. 975,49 734,74 545,42; 387,21
Total stockholders’ equity 585,76( 510,93« 358,35« 232,45¢ 142,45
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis dfinancial Condition and Results of Operations

In addition to historical information, this AnnuRleport on Form 10-K contains forwatdeking statements within the meaning of Sectioh
of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exgbaict. These statements include, among otherghstgtements concerning our expectations
regarding:

. variability in sales in certain product categoriggem year to year and between quarte

. expected impact of certain acquisitions, asset lpases and strategic investmer

. expected impact of sales of certain produ

. the significance of stodiased compensation as an expel

. the proportion of our revenue that consists of praduct and service revenues, and the mix of g#libetween products and servic

. the impact of our product innovation strate:

. expanding our reach into new high growth verticatgl emerging markets and continuing to sell to éaegterprises and service
providers;

. our ability to meet increasing customer expectatiahout the quality and functionality of our protk

. trends in revenue, costs of revenue, and gross img

. trends in our operating expenses, including persbonsts, research and development expense, sademarketing expense and

general and administrative expense, and expectaitiegarding these expenses as a percentage ofuey

. continued investments in research and developroesiténgthen our technology leadership position emnshles and marketing
. expectations regarding uncertain tax benefits andedffective tax rate

. the sufficiency of our existing cash, cash equivaland investments to meet our cash needs feasat the next 12 montt

. as well as other statements regarding our futurerapons, financial condition and prospects andibess strategie:

These forward-looking statements are subject ttagerisks and uncertainties that could cause octual results to differ materially from
those reflected in the forward-looking statemeR&gtors that could cause or contribute to suchedédhces include, but are not limited to, those
discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K angdrticular, the risks discussed under the headRigk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual
Report on Form 1-K and those discussed in other documents we fiifethe SEC. We undertake no obligation to revispublicly release the results
of any revision to these forward-looking stateme@igen these risks and uncertainties, readerscargtioned not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements.

Business Overview

We provide high performance network security solsi which enable broad, integrated and high pesdioce protection against dynamic
security threats while simplifying the IT securitfrastructure for enterprises, service providerd governmental entities worldwide. Since inception
through December 31, 2013 , we had shipped ov@01080 appliances via more than 20,000 channetg@ato more than 184,000 end-customers
worldwide, including a majority of the 2013 Fortu@éobal 100.

Our core DCFW/UTM/NGFW product line of FortiGateysital and virtual appliances ships with a seteafusity and networking capabilitie
including firewall, VPN, application control, aniius, intrusion prevention, Web filtering,
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vulnerability management, anti-spam, wireless adier, and WAN acceleration functionality. We dexia substantial majority of product sales from
our FortiGate appliances, which range from theiBatie-20, designed for small businesses, to theGate-5000 series for large enterprises,
telecommunications carriers, and service providews. DCFW/UTM/NGFW solution also includes our F@tiard security subscription services,
which end-customers can subscribe to in order taiolaccess to dynamic updates to intrusion préwerdépplication control, antivirus, Web filtering,
vulnerability management and anti-spam functiopafitluded in our appliances. End-customers cam @t®ose to purchase FortiCare technical
support services for our products. Enugstomers also often use FortiManager and Fortiaealproducts in conjunction with a FortiGate dgptent tc
provide centralized management, analysis and riegorapabilities. We complement our core FortiGatuct line with other appliances and softw
that offer additional protection from security thtg to other critical areas of the enterprise, ficimessaging, Web application firewalls, datahases
protection against denial of service attacks (DDax®) endpoint security for employee computers aalile devices. Sales of these complementary
products have grown in recent quarters, althoughkelproducts still represent less than 10% ofaiat tevenue. During fiscal 2013 , we expanded and
enhanced our FortiGate DCFW/UTM/NGFW and FortiABuse wireless access product lines. We also intedsoftware-based virtual appliances
for many of our FortiGate and FortiManager prodimgs, which help secure the end-customer’s cloaskd network infrastructures with the same
functionality as the traditional physical appliariceheir respective product lines.

In fiscal 2013, we completed certain acquisitioagart of our strategy to expand our product afifgsj around load balancing solutions and
add patents to our patent portfolio.

Financial Highlights

*  We recorded total revenue of $615.3 millionigtél 2013 . This represents an increase of 15f8dal 2013 , compared to fiscal 2012 .
Revenue in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 included@ $2illion and $3.7 million, respectively, from tkales of previously-acquired patents.
Product revenue was $278.0 million , an increaskE286 in fiscal 2013 , compared to fiscal 2012 vies revenue was $329.7 million in
fiscal 2013, an increase of 20% in fiscal 2018mpared to fiscal 2012 .

e Cash, cash equivalents and investments were.@84diion as of December 31, 2013, an increaskl@f3.5 million from December 31, 2012
» Deferred revenue was $432.6 million as of Decandi, 2013 , an increase of $69.4 million from &maber 31, 2012
*  We generated cash flows from operating actiii€$147.4 million in fiscal 2013 , a decreas@¥ compared to fiscal 2012

* In December 2013, our board of directors autteatia Share Repurchase Program (“the Program”ghwhithorizes us to repurchase up to
$200.0 million of our outstanding common stockfisital 2013, we repurchased 2.1 million sharesoofimon stock under the Program in
open market transactions for an aggregate purgiraseof $38.9 million.

We continue to invest in research and developntestréngthen our technology leadership position.béleve that continued product
innovation has strengthened our technology advardad resulted in market share gains, as eviddmc#te recent introduction of several noteworthy
new FortiGate appliance models, including new Bate entry-level appliances, such as the FG-600F&¥90D with its WIFI counterparts and FG-
100D; the FG-200D and FG-800C mid-range appliaand;the FG-3600C and FG-5001C for large enterpardsservice providers. During fiscal
2013, we also made a significant investment iassahd marketing to increase brand awareness andagrr global sales force and distribution
channels to expand our global presence both gebigadly and by industry segment. As a result, weesienced increased deal volumes driven by
traction in enterprise data center deploymentslanyg enterprise deals, with particular strengttheretail, financial and telecommunication sextor

We remain focused on investing in our sales angares and development resources in order to expanceach into new high-growth
verticals and emerging markets, and meet increasiatpmer expectations about the quality and fanetity of our products, as we continue to sell to
large customers, such as enterprise and servie&prs. While we have experienced some successg@ito certain vertical customer segments, ¢
as service providers and enterprise, we have exqpeEad less traction selling into other verticalshsas the U.S. federal government and there camo
assurance we will be successful selling into cenaitical customer segments.
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Sales of FortiGate products have generally beeambab across entry-level (FortiGate-20 to -10Gesgrimid-range (FortiGate-200 to -800
series) and high-end (FortiGate-1000 to -5000 senedels with each product category represenfipgoaximately one-third of FortiGate sales, with
some degree of variability from year to year antivieen quarters over the thrgear period ended December 31, 2013. The percenfage FortiGate
related billings from the entry-level category isased from 32% in fiscal 2012 to 38% in fiscal 204Bile the mid-range category decreased from
33% in fiscal 2012 to 29% in fiscal 2013 and thghhénd category decreased from 35% to 34% .

In fiscal 2013, operating expenses increased by @W¥pared to fiscal 2012. The increase was prigndriven by our accelerated pace of
hiring to support our growth as we continued tcestvin expanding our sales coverage, developingpmeducts and scaling our customer support
organization to meet the needs of our growing custdbase. This resulted in revenue per employdmedieas annual revenue divided by average
headcount, of $286,000, down from $303,000 forafi@012.

Business Model

Our sales strategy is based on a distribution matereby we primarily sell our products and sersideectly to distributors who sell to
resellers and service providers, who, in turn, tgetlur end-customers. In certain cases, we geittly to government-focused resellers, large servi
providers and major systems integrators, who hayréfieant purchasing power and unique custometalgpent requirements. Typically, FortiGuard
security subscription services and FortiCare temdirsupport services are purchased along with bysipal and virtual appliances. We invoice at the
time of our sale for the total price of the produahd subscription and support services, and trede generally becomes payable within 30 to 9Gs
We generally recognize product revenue up-fronedas the allocated revenue value and defer reviemuake sale of new and renewal subscription
and support services contracts. We recognize theeteservices revenue over the service period;iwisitypically one year from the date the end-
customer registers for these services (the datehich the services can first be used by the custhrakthough it can be as long as five years. Safles
new and renewal services increase our deferrechueviealance, which contributes significantly to pasitive cash flow from operations.

Key Metrics

We monitor the key financial metrics set forth lvelim help us evaluate growth trends, establish btsjgneasure the effectiveness of our
and marketing efforts, and assess operationai@ifices. Our total deferred revenue increased By4s@illion from $363.2 million as dbecember 3:
2012 to $432.6 million as of December 31, 2013veRee recognized plus the change in deferred revEnm the beginning to the end of the period
less any deferred revenue balances acquired fraindss combinations is a useful metric that managéidentifies as billings. Billings for services
drive deferred revenue, which is an important iathic of the health and visibility of our busineasd has historically represented a majority of the
revenue that we recognize in a typical quarter.ened fiscal 2013 with $843.0 million in cash, caghivalents and investments and have had
positive cash flow from operations every fiscaliygiace 2005. We discuss revenue, gross marginthendomponents of operating income and margin
below under “—Components of Operating Results,” wedliscuss our cash, cash equivalents, and ineessnander “—Liquidity and Capital
Resources.” Deferred revenue and cash flow fromatipes are discussed immediately below the foltantable.
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Fiscal Year or as of Fiscal Year End

2013 2012 2011
($ amounts in 000’s)
Revenue 615,29 533,63¢ 433,57¢
Gross margin 71% 72% 74%
Operating incomé 72,09( 100,47 88,904
Operating margin 12% 19% 21%
Total deferred revenue 432,62¢ 363,18! 294,83
Increase in total deferred revenue 69,44: 68,35: 42,20
Cash, cash equivalents and investments 843,04! 739,58¢ 538,68"
Cash provided by operating activities 147,38: 183,86¢ 132,84:
Free cash flow’ 133,50° 161,78: 135,21¢
@ Includes:
Stock-based compensation expense 44,47 30,69( 19,01°¢
Amortization expense of certain intangible assets 1,551 82¢€ 394
Impairment charges related to certain intangibsetss 46¢ — —
Patent settlement income 1,912 1,912 1,911

@ Free cash flow is defined as net cash provigeaplerating activities less capital expenditures.

Deferred revenueDur deferred revenue consists of amounts that bega invoiced but that have not yet been recogrageévenue. The
majority of our deferred revenue balance consiste@unamortized portion of services revenue feubscription and support service contracts. We
monitor our deferred revenue balance becausergsepts a significant portion of revenue to be gaczed in future periods. We define billings as
revenue recognized during a period plus the chandeferred revenue from the beginning to the eénti®@period less any deferred revenue balances
acquired from business combinations. The folloviadge reflects the calculation of billings as dissed in the paragraph above. For a discussiore:
limitations of non-GAAP financial measures, see “th€ Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
($ amounts in 000's)

Billings:

Revenue 615,29° 533,63¢ 433,57¢
Increase in deferred revenue 69,44: 68,35: 42.20:
Less deferred revenue balance acquired in bustoesbination (550 — —

Total billings (Non-GAAP) 684,19 601,99: 475,77t

Cash flow from operations and free cash flove monitor cash flow from operations as a measticeiooverall business performance. Our
cash flow from operations is driven in large paripayments for both new and renewal contractsdbseription and support services. Monitoring cash
flow from operations and free cash flow enabletousnalyze our financial performance excludingriba-cash effects of certain items such as
depreciation, amortization and stolcised compensation expenses, thereby allowinghetter understand and manage the cash needs béisiness
Free cash flow, an alternative non-GAAP financiglasure of liquidity, is defined as net cash prodide operating activities less capital expenditures
For a discussion of the limitations of non-GAAP4ditial measures, see “—Other Non-GAAP Financial ddess” below.
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Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
($ amounts in 000's)

Free Cash Flow:

Net cash provided by operating activities 147,38 183,86t 132,84:
Less purchases of property and equipment (13,87 (22,087) (3,629
Free cash flow (Non-GAAP) 133,50° 161,78: 129,21t

Other Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statemprasented in accordance with U.S. generally aedeptcounting principles (“GAAP”),
we consider certain financial measures that ar@regared in accordance with GAAP, including bgkrnand free cash flow discussed above as well as
non-GAAP gross margin, non-GAAP operating incoma)-GBAAP operating margin, non-GAAP operating exgsnsind non-GAAP net income.
These norsAAP financial measures are not based on any stdizéal methodology prescribed by GAAP and are moessarily comparable to simi
measures presented by other companies.

We use these non-GAAP financial measures interimalnalyzing our financial results and believeythee useful to investors, as a
supplement to GAAP measures, in evaluating our imggaperational performance and enhancing an dwendkerstanding of our past financial
performance, as they help illustrate underlyingdiein our business that could otherwise be makkedbe effect of the expenses that we exclude in
these non-GAAP financial measures. Furthermoreyseemany of these measures to establish budgetgpanational goals for managing our business
and evaluating our performance. We also believethigause of these non-GAAP financial measuresigesvan additional tool for investors to use in
comparing our recurring core business operatingltsesver multiple periods with other companiesim industry, many of which present similar non-
GAAP financial measures to investors.

These non-GAAP financial measures should not beidered in isolation from, or as a substitute fimancial information prepared in
accordance with GAAP. There are a number of liruteg related to the use of these BAAP financial measures versus the nearest GAAR/akant
of these financial measures. First, these non-GAwdhcial measures exclude certain recurring, reshacharges such as stock-based compensation
expense, amortization expense and impairment chaedg@ted to certain intangible assets, offsetdignt settlement income. Prior period amounts
been adjusted to conform to current period presientaStock-based compensation expense has begmjiticontinue to be for the foreseeable future,
a significant recurring expense in our businessisuagh important part of our employees’erall compensation. Second, the expenses thakatade ir
our calculation of these ndBAAP financial measures may differ from the expsngeany, that our peer companies may exclude whey report the
results of operations. We compensate for theséadimns by providing the nearest GAAP equivalerithese non-GAAP financial measures and
describing these GAAP equivalents in the sectidiiled “—Results of Operations” below.

Non-GAAP gross margin is gross margin as reporteduw consolidated statements of operations, ekgjuthe impact of stock-based
compensation expense, amortization expense andrimgra charges related to certain intangible assditef which are non-cash charges. Non-GAAP
operating income is operating income, as reporteduw consolidated statements of operations, ekduithe impact of stock-based compensation
expense, amortization expense and impairment chaedgted to certain intangible assets, and theniecwe received from a patent settlement. Non-
GAAP operating margin is noBAAP operating income divided by revenue. The folltg tables reconcile GAAP gross margin, operatimggpme, an
operating margin to non-GAAP gross margin, non-GAdxRrating income, and non-GAAP operating margirfifzal 2013 , 2012 and 2011 .
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Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
% of % of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue
($ amounts in 000's)
Total revenue 615,29 533,63¢ 433,57t
Gross and Non-GAAP gross profit and margin
GAAP gross profit and margin 434,65- 71 386,21¢ 72 319,97¢ 74
Stock-based compensation expense 5,22¢ 1 4,06¢ 1 1,97: —
Amortization expense of certain intangible
assets 1,551 — 82¢ — 394 —
Impairment charges related to certain intang
assets 46¢ — — — — —
Non-GAAP gross profit and margin 441,89¢ 72 391,11« 73 322,34! 74
Gross and Non-GAAP operating income and
margin
GAAP operating income and margin 72,09( 12 100,47! 19 88,90« 21
Stock-based compensation expense:
Cost of revenue 5,22¢ 1 4,06¢ 1 1,97 —
Research and development 13,27 2 9,22¢ 1 4,691 1
Sales and marketing 19,52¢ 3 12,79 2 9,32t 3
General and administrative 6,45( 1 4,60z 1 3,02¢ —
Total stock-based compensation expense 44 A7 7 30,69( 5 19,01¢ 4
Amortization expense of certain intangible assets 1,551 — 82¢ — 394 —
Impairment charges related to certain intangibl
assets 46¢ — — — — —
Patent settlement income (1,919 — (1,919 — (1,91 (D]
116,66 19 130,07¢ 24 106,40: 24

Non-GAAP operating income and margin
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Non-GAAP operating expenses represent operating expeaseeported on our consolidated statementseshtipns, excluding the impact
stock-based compensation expense and the incomesaffzatent settlement. The following tables rederBAAP operating expenses to non-GAAP
operating expenses for fiscal 2013 , 2012 and 2011

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011

% of % of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue

($ amounts in 000's)

Operating Expenses:
Research and development expenses:

GAAP research and development expenses 102,66( 17 81,07¢ 15 63,577 15

Stock-based compensation expense (13,277 2 (9,22¢) Q) (4,69 (D]

Non-GAAP research and development

expenses 89,38¢ 15 71,85 14 58,88¢ 14
Sales and marketing expenses:

GAAP sales and marketing expenses 224,99: 36 179,15! 33 145,53: 34

Stock-based compensation expense (19,52¢) (3 (212,799 2 (9,325 3

Non-GAAP sales and marketing expenses 205,46! 33 166,36: 31 136,20° 31
General and administrative expenses:

GAAP general and administrative expenses 34,91 6 25,51 5 21,96¢ 4

Stock-based compensation expense (6,450 (D] (4,6072) (D] (3,02¢) —

Patent settlement income 1,917 — 1,917 — 1,911 1

Non-GAAP general and administrative

expenses 30,37¢ 5 22,82: 4 20,85( 5
Total operating expenses:

GAAP operating expenses 362,56¢ 59 285,74« 53 231,07- 53

Stock-based compensation expense (39,24 (6) (26,627) 4 (17,04 4)

Patent settlement income 1,917 — 1,917 — 1,911 1

Non-GAAP Operating expenses 325,22( 53 261,035 49 215,941 50
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Non-GAAP net income represents net income, as tegpan our consolidated statements of operatioxduding the impact of stock-based

compensation expense, amortization expense andrimgra charges related to certain intangible asseis income from a patent settlement. The
following tables reconcile GAAP net income as répdron our consolidated statements of operationsteGAAP net income for fiscal 2013 , 2012

and 2011 .
Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
($ and share amounts in 000’s, except per share amas)
Net Income:

GAAP net income 44.27: 66,83¢ 62,49:
Stock-based compensation expefise 44,47 30,69( 19,01
Amortization expense of certain intangible asSets 1,551 82¢€ 394
Impairment charges related to certain intangibtets 46¢ — —
Patent settlement inconfie (1,917 (1,917 (1,911
Provision for income taxes 31,66¢ 38,16( 29,58:
Non-GAAP income before provision for income taxes 120,52( 134,60( 109,57:

Non-GAAP provision for income ta% (39,779 (45,769 (36,15%)

Non-GAAP net income 80,74¢ 88,83¢ 73,41:

Non-GAAP net income per share—diluted 0.4¢ 0.5t 0.4%

Shares used in per share calculation—diluted 168,18! 166,32¢ 163,78:

(&3]

@
[©)]
@

Stock-based compensation expense, amortizatiomsgpnd impairment charges related to certaingiténassets are added back to GAAP net incomectancile to norGAAP
income before provision for income taxes. Prioiggeamounts have been adjusted to conform to cupesiod presentation.

The patent settlement income is excluded from GAdPincome to reconcile to ndBAAP income before provision for income ta:

Provision for income taxes is our GAAP tax prowistbat is added back to GAAP net income to recertoiinonGAAP income before provision for income ta:

We used noc-GAAP effective tax rates of 33%, 34%, and 33%,ahtgould differ from the GAAP tax rates, to caldalaon-GAAP net income for fiscal 2013, 2012, a6d2
respectively.

Components of Operating Results

Revenue

We derive our revenue from sales of our productssabscription and support services. Revenue tgrézed when persuasive evidence ¢

arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or seswiave been rendered, the sales price is fixddterminable and collectibility is reasonably assl

Our total revenue is comprised of the following:

. Product revenu. Product revenue is generated from sales of quifaaqres. The substantial majority of our prodestanue has been
generated by our FortiGate line of appliances,weadlo not expect this to change in the foresedablee. Product revenue also
includes revenue derived from sales of FortiManggertiAnalyzer, FortiSwitch, FortiMail, FortiDB,dftiWeb, FortiAP, FortiScan,
FortiCarrier, FortiBalancer, FortiCache, FortiVai¢®rtiBridge, FortiDDoS, FortiDNS, FortiSandboxrEADC, and
FortiAuthenticator appliances, and our FortiCliend virtual domain, or VDOM, software. For arrangeits which include end-
customer acceptance criteria, revenue is recogniged acceptance. We recognize product revenuales ® distributors that have
no general right of return and direct sales to emstomers upon shipment, once all other revenuegreidon criteria have been met.
Certain distributors that stock our products asntgd stock rotation rights, limited rights of metuas well as rebates for sales of our
products. The arrangement fee for this group dfidistors is not fixed and determinable when prddace shipped and revenue is
therefore deferred and recognized upon sell-throAgha percentage of total revenue, we expect mdyzt revenue may vary from
quarter-to-quarter based on seasonal and cyctctdifs discussed below under “—Quarterly Resul®@mérations” but generally
may remain at relatively comparable levels or dectnodestly over time, as services revenue becartegger portion of our
business as our customers renew existing servargsacts and we expand our customer base.
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. Services revenueServices revenue is generated primarily fromiEare technical support services for software upslat
maintenance releases and patches, Internet acceshhical content, telephone and Internet adeetehnical support personnel
and hardware support, and FortiGuard security sigigm services related to application controltiarus, intrusion prevention, Wi
filtering, anti-spam and vulnerability managemepdates. We recognize revenue from subscriptiorsapgort services over the
service performance period. Our typical contractugiport and subscription term is one year fronddte of registration, although
we do offer multi-year support and subscriptiontcacts. We also generate a small portion of ouemere from professional services
and training services, and we recognize this reeersuthe services are provided. As a percentagabrevenue, we expect our
services revenue to remain at comparable levalzcogase as our customers renew existing serviceamis and we expand our
customer base. Our services revenue growth raeendepsignificantly on the growth of our customeséand the renewal of service
contracts by our current customers.

. Ratable and other reveni. Ratable and other revenue is generated from elms products and services in cases where the fa
value of the services being provided cannot bersgga from the value of the entire sale. In theses, the value of the entire sale is
deferred and recognized ratably over the servic®peance period. See “—Critical Accounting Polg&nd Estimates—Revenue
Recognition.” In fiscal 2013 and 2012 , this catggacluded a $2.8 million and $3.7 million salemgviously-acquired patents,
respectively. In fiscal 2013 and 2012 , ratable ater revenue represented 1% and 2% of total teyeespectively. Over time,
excluding the impact of any patent sales, we exihésicategory to continue to decline due to theeru revenue recognition rules,
which allow us to use best estimate of sellingg(/8ESP”) in our allocation of arrangement considien when vendor-specific
objective evidence (“WSOE") is not available.

Our total cost of revenue is comprised of the folf:

. Cost of product revenueA substantial majority of the cost of producteaue consists of thirgarty manufacturing costs. Our cos!
product revenue also includes product testing costte-offs for excess and obsolete inventory atbypayments, amortization and
any impairment of applicable acquired intangibleets, warranty costs, shipping and allocated faslicosts, stock-based
compensation expense, and personnel costs assbeisttdogistics and quality control. Personneltsdaclude stock-based
compensation and cash-based personnel costs sealagss, benefits and bonuses.

. Cost of services revenu€ost of services revenue is primarily comprisedash-based personnel costs associated with our
FortiGuard Labs team and our technical supporfeggional services and training teams, as welkasatiation, supplies, data
center, data communications, facility-related cesid stocksased compensation expense. We expect our costvides revenue w
increase slightly as a percentage of revenue aowninue to invest in subscription and supportises/to meet the needs of our
growing customer base and service levels expegstedibenterprise customers.

. Cost of ratable and other revenu€ost of ratable and other revenue is comprisedapily of deferred product costs and services-
related costs.

Gross profit. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue, or gnasgin, has been and will continue to be affetied variety of factors,
including the average sales price of our prodwaiyg,excess inventory write-offs, product costs, e of products sold and the mix of revenue
between products and services. We believe our bhggoss margin for the near term will remain atdls comparable or slightly lower to that achieved
in fiscal 2013 .

Services revenue has historically increased ascpege of total revenue since inception, andtthisd has had a positive effect on our total
gross margin given the higher services gross msuggmpared to product gross margins. During fiR04B service margins decreased slightly from
fiscal 2012 as we made the decision to invest ppett services infrastructure that will allow ushtoth expand our base of enterprise customersoand t
support future growth and higher service levelsupexisting enterprise customers.

Operating expenseOur operating expenses consist of research arelagement, sales and marketing and general andréstnaitive
expenses. Personnel costs are the most significamponent of operating expenses and consist oflsastd personnel costs such as salaries, benefits
bonuses, and sales commissions. They also inclikeash charges, specifically, stock-based compiensaxpense. We expect personnel costs to
continue to increase in absolute dollars as wertémwe employees.
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. Research and developme. Research and development expense consists gyirahdash-based personnel costs. Additional resear
and development expenses include ASIC and systetatppes and certification-related expenses, déstien of capital equipment,
facility-related expenses and stock-based compensexpenses. The majority of our research andldprieent is focused on both
software development and the ongoing developmeauohardware platform. We record all researcha@aelopment expenses as
incurred, except for capital equipment which isrdefated over time. Our development teams are piliyriacated in Canada, China,
and the United States.

. Sales and marketingSales and marketing expense is the largest coempaf our operating expenses and primarily cossitash-
based personnel costs including salary, benefdscammissions. Additional sales and marketing egpsiinclude stock-based
compensation expense, promotional and other marketipenses, travel, depreciation of capital eqaiftrand facility-related
expenses. We intend to hire additional personreided on sales and marketing and expand our sadesarketing efforts
worldwide in order to increase our presence in geagraphic markets and enterprise verticals, addaustomers and increase
penetration within our existing customer base.

. General and administrativeGeneral and administrative expense consistssf-based personnel costs as well as professicem| fe
stock-based compensation expense, depreciaticapitht equipment and software, and facility-relat@genses. General and
administrative personnel include our executiveafiice, human resources, information technology egal lorganizations. Our
professional fees principally consist of outsidgale auditing, accounting, information technologyl ather consulting costs.

Interest incomelnterest income consists of income earned on ash,aash equivalents and investments. We haveicaity invested our
cash in money market funds, commercial paper, catpalebt securities, municipal bonds, certificatiedeposit and term deposits, and U.S.
government and agency debt securities.

Other expense, neOther expense, net consists primarily of foregohange and related hedging gains and lossedgha@echange gains
and losses relate to foreign currency exchangeaasaorement. The hedging gains and losses aredétaterr settled balance sheet hedges.

Provision for income taxe$Ve are subject to tax in the United States as agetither tax jurisdictions or countries in which eamduct
business. Earnings from our non-U.S. activitiessattgect to income taxes in the local country wkdoh generally lower than U.S. tax rates, and may
be subject to U.S. income taxes. Our effectivergae differs from the U.S. statutory rate primadiye to foreign income subject to different taxesat
than the U.S., research and development tax creditsholding taxes, nhondeductible stock-based aamsption expense and adjustments related to ou
intercompany transfer pricing.

The income tax provision for fiscal 2013 was corsgdi primarily of domestic income taxes, foreigrome taxes and withholding taxes. Our
effective tax rate approximates the U.S. fedeatlsdry tax rates plus the impact of state taesearch and development tax credits (when appél;
withholding tax, nondeductible stock-based compemsaxpense, foreign income subject to lower kentthe U.S., and adjustments related to
intercompany transfer pricing.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations are based upon panéial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with GAAP. These principesiire us to make estimates and judgments thadtefie reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue, cost of revenue and expenses, cash flowetated disclosure of contingent assets andiliabi Our estimates include those related to
revenue recognition, stock-based compensation eepealuation of inventory, warranty liabilitiexyapwill and other londived assets and account
for income taxes. We base our estimates on histcgiperience and on various other assumptionsitbditelieve to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from thesémates. To the extent that there are mateiffakeinces between these estimates and our actual
results, our future financial statements will bieeted.

We believe that of our significant accounting piel&; which are described in Note 1 to our constdiddinancial statements included in Part

I, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form ¥Q-the following accounting policies involve a greladegree of judgment and complexity. Accordinghg.
believe these are the most critical to fully untiard and evaluate our financial condition and tesefl operations.
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Revenue Recognition

We derive revenue from sales of products, includipgliances and software, and services, includihgaription, support and other services.
The majority of our products are hardware appligrantaining software components that function ttogyeto provide the essential functionality of the
product. We record revenue from our hardware appéia in accordance with general revenue recograiioounting guidance.

Our product revenue also includes software prodietsmay operate on the hardware appliances,rbutat considered essential to the
functionality of the hardware and are subject ®itidustryspecific software revenue recognition guidancetd@eof our software, when sold with ¢
appliances, is considered essential to the funalfityrof the appliances and, as a result, is actlifor as non-software deliverables. However, this
same software, if sold separately, is accountedrider industry-specific software revenue recogniguidance.

When a sales arrangement contains multiple elemsuinth as hardware appliances, software, custampgost services, and/or professional
services, we allocate revenue to each element lmasadselling price hierarchy. In multiple elemantangements where software is more-than-
incidental, revenue is allocated to each separatefiaccounting for each of the non-software wtables and to the software deliverables as gpgrou
using the relative selling prices of each of thivéeables in the arrangement based on the sqgblilog hierarchy. When applying the relative selling
price method, we determine the selling price fahedeliverable using vendor-specific objective evide (“VSOE”) of selling price, if it exists, or
third-party evidence (“TPE”) of selling price. leither VSOE nor TPE of selling price exist for divkrable, we use our best estimate of sellingepric
("BESP") for that deliverable. Revenue allocate@dch element is then recognized when the basémtevrecognition criteria are met for each
element.

VSOE of fair value for elements of an arrangemsititsised upon the normal pricing and discountingtjoes for those services when sold
separately. In establishing VSOE, we require thailestantial majority of the selling prices foreasce fall within a reasonably narrow pricing reng
generally evidenced by a substantial majority ahshistorical stand-alone transactions falling with reasonably narrow range of the median rates.

We are typically not able to determine TPE for praducts or services. TPE is determined based mpettor prices for similar deliverables
when sold separately, which is generally unavadlabl

For our hardware appliances, we use BESP as dungsptice. For our support and other servicesgererally use VSOE as our selling price
estimate. When we are unable to establish a sqilicg using VSOE for our support and other sesjieee use BESP in our allocation of arrangement
consideration. The objective of BESP is to deteantire price at which we would transact a saledfpttoduct or service were sold on a stand-alone
basis. We determine BESP for a product or serwceolsidering multiple factors including, but nimbited to, cost of products, gross margin
objectives, pricing practices, geographies, custarfasses and distribution channels.

We recognize revenue for our software sales baseddustry-specific software revenue recognitioidgance. Under industry-specific
software revenue recognition guidance, we usedgsidwal method to recognize revenue when a prafireement includes one or more elements to be
delivered and VSOE of fair value for all undeliveéreements exists. If evidence of the fair valuemé or more undelivered elements does not et
revenue is generally deferred and recognized wieéneldy of those elements occurs or when fair valaie be established. When the undelivered
element for which we do not have VSOE of fair vakisupport, revenue for the entire arrangemerrgdegnized ratably over the support period.

Revenue is recognized when all of the followingesia have been met:

. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exBinding contracts or purchase orders are geneuahlyl to determine the existence ¢
arrangement.
. Delivery has occurred or services have been rerdiDelivery occurs when we fulfill an order and tilad risk of loss has been

transferred. Services revenue is deferred and niped ratably over the period during which the E@w are to be performed, which
is typically from one to three years. Professis@Vice revenue is recognized upon delivery or detigm of performance.

. Sales price is fixed or determinabWe assess whether the sales price is fixed orrdetable based on the payment terms associatec
with the transaction and whether the sales prisaligect to refund or adjustment. In the event paynterms differ from our standa
business practices, the sales price is deemedrotlfexed or determinable and revenue is recoghizken the payments become
due, provided the remaining
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criteria for revenue recognition have been methinevent the sales price is subject to refundipprsément, the sales price is deemed
to be not fixed or determinable and revenue isgeized when the refund or adjustment privilegesrexprovided the remaining
criteria for revenue recognition have been met.

. Collectibility is reasonably assuredVe assess collectibility based primarily on ciwdithiness as determined by credit checks and
analysis, as well as payment history.

For arrangements which include end-customer aceeeteriteria, revenue is recognized upon acceptaileaecognize product revenue on
sales to distributors that have no general rightetifrn and direct sales to endstomers upon shipment, once all other revenusgretion criteria hawvi
been met. Certain distributors that stock our pctelare granted stock rotation rights, limited t&gbf return as well as rebates for sales of oodets
The arrangement fee for this group of distribuiensot fixed and determinable when products arppsd and revenue is therefore deferred and
recognized upon sell-through. Substantially albof products have been sold in combination withises, which consist of subscriptions and/or
support. Subscription services provide access t@oiivirus, intrusion prevention, web filteringychanti-spam functionality. Support services inelud
rights to unspecified software upgrades, mainte@aeleases and patches, telephone and Internesatocechnical support personnel, and hardware
support.

The subscription and support services start onl#ite the customer registers the appliance. Themestis then entitled to service for the
stated contractual period beginning on the redistradate.

We offer certain sales incentives to channel pastri&e reduce revenue for estimates of sales iend allowances. Additionally, in limited
circumstances we may permit end-customers, distibwand resellers to return our products, suligeearying limitations, for a refund within a
reasonably short period from the date of purché&eestimate and record reserves for sales incenting sales returns based on historical experience

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Employees Stock Optiond/e estimate the fair value of employee stock ogtiasing the Black-Scholes-Merton (“Black-Scholgxiging
model. For all employee stock options, we recogeiggense over the requisite service period usiegtfaight-line method. Our option pricing model
requires the input of highly subjective assumptjansluding the expected stock price volatilitypexted term, and forfeiture rate. Any changes in
these highly subjective assumptions could signifiilgaimpact stock-based compensation expense.

Employee Stock Purchase Pl&ie estimate the fair value of the rights to acqetoek under our employee stock purchase plan (FESP
using the Black-Scholes pricing model and is armediover the requisite service period using treggiit-line method. Our ESPP provides for
consecutive six-month offering periods and we useosvn historical volatility data in the valuatiohESPP shares.

Restricted Stock Unit8Ve account for the fair value of restricted stooksi(“RSUs”) awarded to employees and membersioboard of
directors using the closing market price of our oo stock on the date of grant. RSUs are payaldbares of our common stock as the periodic
vesting requirements are satisfied. RSUs genevally over a four-year period if the employees, amployees, or directors, as applicable, remain
us for the duration of the vesting period. FolRflUs, we recognize expense over the requisitecgepériod using the straight-line method.

Performance Stock UnitRerformance Stock Units (“PSUs”) are RSUs thataiornoth service-based and market-based vestingjtcms.
PSUs vest over a specified service period upomsdkisfaction of certain market-based vesting caomit and settle into shares of our common stock
upon vesting over a two- or three-year period. fRirevalue of a PSU is calculated using the Mongel@€simulation model on the date of grant and is
based on the market price of our common stock erd#tie of grant modified to reflect the impactted market-based vesting condition, including the
estimated payout level based on that condition.dé/aot adjust compensation cost for subsequentyelsain the expected outcome of the market-
based vesting conditions.

Valuation of Inventory

Inventory is recorded at the lower of average ocosharket, after we give appropriate considerativobsolescence and inventory in excess of
anticipated future demand. In assessing the ulémetoverability of inventory, we are required takma estimates regarding future customer demand,
the timing of new product introductions, economents and market conditions. If the actual prodiechand is significantly lower than forecasted, we
could be required to record additional
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inventory write-downs which would be charged totafgroduct revenue. Any write-downs could haveadraerse impact on our gross margins and
profitability.

Warranty Liabilities

We generally provide a one-year warranty on hardwaoducts and a 90-day warranty on software. Aipian for estimated future costs
related to warranty activities is charged to cdgiroduct revenue based upon historical produtdifairates and historical costs incurred in coimect
product failures. If we experience an increase anranty claims compared with our historical expeees or if the cost of servicing warranty claims is
greater than expected, our gross margin could bersely affected.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We record income taxes using the asset and Ilybiléthod, which requires the recognition of defeitiaex assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of events thatlheen recognized in our financial statementsxordturns. In estimating future tax consequences,
generally all expected future events other thartements or changes in the tax law or rates areideresl. Valuation allowances are provided when
necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to therquexpected to be realized.

We operate in various tax jurisdictions and argesitio audit by various tax authorities. We pravidr tax contingencies whenever it is
deemed more likely than not that a tax asset hes inepaired or a tax liability has been incurreddeents such as tax claims or changes in tax laws.
Tax contingencies are based upon their technicatsneeslevant tax law and the specific facts aindumstances as of each reporting period. Changes
in facts and circumstances could result in matetiahges to the amounts recorded for such taxrgerities.

We account for uncertain tax positions in accoréanith GAAP, which defines the confidence levelttaaax position must meet in order to
be recognized in the financial statements. Theefgects of a position are recognized only if itngore likely than not” to be sustained based sotely
its technical merits as of the reporting date. \Wesider many factors when evaluating and estimatimgax positions and tax benefits, which may
require periodic adjustments and which may not gtely anticipate actual outcomes.

As part of the process of preparing our consoldifiteancial statements, we are required to estimatéaxes in each of the jurisdictions in
which we operate. We estimate actual current t@ogure together with assessing temporary diffeseresulting from differing treatment of items,
such as accruals and allowances not currently digdifor tax purposes. These differences resulteferred tax assets, which are included in our
consolidated balance sheets. In general, defeawedssets represent future tax benefits to bewedevhen certain expenses previously recognized in
our consolidated statements of operations becomectible expenses under applicable income tax lawss or credit carryforwards are utilized.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax @sspanagement considers whether it is more likedy not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultinmagdization of deferred tax assets is dependemn tpgeneration of future taxable income durireg th
periods in which those temporary differences becdeductible. We continue to assess the need fatuation allowance on the deferred tax assets by
evaluating both positive and negative evidencerteat exist. Any adjustment to the net deferredasset valuation allowance would be recorded ii
income statement for the period that the adjustrisetétermined to be required.

We make estimates and judgments about our futdedla income that are based on assumptions thabassstent with our plans and
estimates. Should the actual amounts differ fromestimates, the amount of our tax expense antlitie$ could be materially impacted.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of opienas for the periods presented and as a percenfam@ total revenue for those periods. The
period-to-period comparison of financial resulted necessarily indicative of financial resultd®achieved in future periods.

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
($ amounts in 000's)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue:

Product 278,04t 248,94¢ 197,40t

Services 329,72 274,04 220,26¢

Ratable and other revenue 7,52¢ 10,64¢ 15,90(
Total revenue 615,29 533,63¢ 433,57t
Cost of revenue

Product 114,61: 93,97: 73,20

Services 64,12: 50,68: 35,48¢

Ratable and other revenue 1,90¢ 2,761 4,911
Total cost of revenues 180,64 147,42( 113,59¢
Gross profit:

Product 163,43! 154,97 124,20°

Services 265,60( 223,36: 184,78:

Ratable and other revenue 5,61¢ 7,881 10,98¢
Total gross profit 434,65 386,21 319,97¢
Operating expenses:

Research and development 102,66( 81,07¢ 63,577

Sales and marketing 224,99: 179,15! 145,53:

General and administrative 34,91 25,51 21,96¢
Total operating expenses 362,56« 285,74« 231,07-
Operating income 72,09( 100,47! 88,90«
Interest income 5,30¢ 5,00¢ 3,52¢
Other expense, net (1,455 (485) (359
Income before income taxes 75,94: 104,99¢ 92,07:
Provision for income taxes 31,66¢ 38,16( 29,58:
Net income 44,27: 66,83¢ 62,49:
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Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
(as % of total revenue)

Revenue:

Product 45 a7 45

Services 54 51 51

Ratable and other revenue 1 2 4
Total revenue 10C 100 100
Total cost of revenue 29 28 26
Total gross profit 71 72 74
Operating expenses:

Research and development 17 15 15

Sales and marketing 36 33 34

General and administrative 6 5 4
Total operating expenses 59 53 53
Operating income 12 19 21
Interest income — 1 1
Other expense, net — — —
Income before income taxes 12 20 22
Provision for income taxes 5 7 7
Net income 7 13 15

Fiscal Years 2013 and 2012

Revenue
Fiscal Year
2013 2012
% of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Revenue:
Product 278,04¢ 45 248,94¢ a7 29,09¢ 12
Services 329,72: 54 274,04: 51 55,68( 20
Ratable and other revenue 7,52¢ 1 10,64¢ 2 (3,120 (29
Total revenue 615,29° 100 533,63¢ 100 81,65¢ 15
Revenue by geography:
Americas 252,78t 41 217,05¢ 41 35,73( 16
Europe, Middle East and Africa
(“EMEA") 208,97¢ 34 184,17! 35 24,80¢ 13
Asia Pacific and Japan (“APAC") 153,53: 25 132,40¢ 24 21,12¢ 16
Total revenue 615,29° 100 533,63¢ 100 81,65¢ 15

Total revenue increased by $81.7 million , or 15%fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 . The Am@siregion contributed the largest
portion of our revenue growth on an absolute dddisis and all three regions showed growth on eepésige basis. The growth in EMEA was slightly
lower due to a slowdown in the macroeconomic emvitent in that area. Product revenue increased 8yl $gillion , or 12% , compared to fiscal
2012 . The increase in product revenue was prigndriven by greater sales volume in our FortiGatalpct family due to increased demand across all
product categories from our entry-level and midgeproducts for smaller enterprises and branchogie@nts to our high-end products for large
enterprise and service provider customers. Servesgmue increased by $55.7 million , or 20% jsndl 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 due to the
recognition of revenue from our growing deferrederaue balance consisting of subscription and sugpmtracts sold to a larger customer base. The
decrease in ratable and other revenue of $3.1omiias primarily due to the
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continuing decline in amortization of ratable rewenRatable and other revenue for fiscal 2013 @redua $2.8 million sale of previously-acquired
patents, as compared to a $3.7 million sale ofipumly-acquired patents in fiscal 2012.

Cost of revenue and gross margin

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)

Cost of revenue:

Product 114,61: 93,97: 20,64( 22

Services 64,12: 50,68: 13,44 27

Ratable and other revenue 1,90¢ 2,761 (85¢) (31
Total cost of revenue 180,64 147,42( 33,22 23
Gross margin (%):

Product 58.¢ 62.% (3.5)

Services 80.¢€ 81.t (0.9

Ratable and other revenue 74.€ 74.C 0.€
Total gross margin 70.€ 72.4 (1.8

Total gross margin decreased by 1.8 percentagéspaifiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 , as lpptiduct and services gross margins
declined. Product gross margin decreased by 3ceptage points in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscdl2frimarily due to a slightly higher mix of sales
of entry-level products, particularly several highlume distributed enterprise, retail and educatieals sold in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 W
also experienced the impact from higher costsedltd warranty-related costs which increased bg #tllion, freight costs which increased by $1.5
million, occupancy-related costs which increase&byl million and higher excess inventory writesodf $0.7 million. Services gross margin
decreased by 0.9 percentage points during fiscE® peimarily due to our continued investments in t@ehnical support organization to accommodate
our expanding customer base and higher servicé dsypectations from our enterprise customers. tiiteoh, we experienced growth in our
professional consulting services which have lowesg margins than our support and subscriptiomlessis. Cost of services revenue increased by
$13.4 million primarily due to a $9.9 million in@se in cash-based personnel costs related to he@dnoreases, a $1.1 million increase in stock-
based compensation expense, and a $2.4 millioraserin depreciation and other expenses.

Operating expenses

Fiscal Year
2013 2012
% of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Operating expenses:

Research and development 102,66( 17 81,07¢ 15 21,58: 27
Sales and marketing 224,99 36 179,15! 33 45,83¢ 26
General and administrative 34,91 6 25,511 5 9,402 37
Total operating expenses 362,56+ 59 285,74 53 76,82( 27

Research and development

Research and development expense increased by ®ilod , or 27% , in fiscal 2013 compared to 862012 primarily due to an increase of
$11.7 million in cash-based personnel costs asudtref increased headcount to support the devedopof new products and continued enhancements
of our existing products. In addition, we incurtedher stock-based compensation expense of $4l@miproduct development expenses, such as
third-party testing and prototypes, of $2.0 milli@equisition-related costs of $1.9 million, angideiation and other expenses of $2.1 million. We
intend to continue to invest in our research ancgligment organization but expect research andldgweent expense as a percentage of revenue to
remain at comparable levels in fiscal 2014.
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Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expense increased by $45.@milbr 26% , in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 20 primarily due to an increase of
$25.6 million in cash-based personnel costs asoméruied to increase our sales headcount in oodexpgand our global footprint. In addition, we
incurred increases in stock-based compensatiomsepaf $6.7 million, marketing-related expense$of million, travel expenses of $3.9 million,
depreciation expenses of $2.1 million, and oth@eases of $2.1 million. As a percentage of revesales and marketing expenses increased as we
accelerated the investment in our sales force ddisical 2013 to support future growth. We inteaddntinue to make investments in our sales
resources and infrastructure, which are criticaupport sustainable growth and expect sales amnkktireg expense as a percentage of revenue to
increase in fiscal 2014.

General and administrative

General and administrative expense increased Byrfiflion , or 37% , in fiscal 2013 compared taci$2012 . Cash-based personnel costs
increased by $3.4 million and stock-based companmsakpense increased by $1.8 million as we coetirto increase our headcount in order to
support our expanding business. In addition, warmd an additional $3.9 million of legal and aactng fees and $0.3 million in higher depreciation.

We expect general and administrative expense ascamtage of revenue to remain at comparable l@véiscal 2014.

I nterest income and other expense, net

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Interest income 5,30¢ 5,00¢ 30C 6
Other expense, net (1,455 (485) (970 200

The $0.3 million increase in interest income irdéis2013 compared to fiscal 2012 was primarily tlumterest earned on higher invested
balances of cash, cash equivalents and investmEmgschange in other expense, net, for fiscal 2@i8n compared to fiscal 2012, was the result of
higher foreign exchange losses.

Provision for income taxes

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Provision for income taxes 31,66¢ 38,16( (6,4972) ()]
Effective tax rate (%) 42 36 6 —

Our effective tax rate was 42% for fiscal 2013mpared with an effective tax rate of 36% for fise@ll2 . The provision for income taxes for
fiscal 2013 was comprised primarily of federaltestand foreign income taxes as well as the inctusicstock option benefits and cost allocations,
which affected the transfer pricing calculationsoagnthe U.S. and some of our foreign subsidiafliée. increase in the effective tax rate for fisdal3
as compared to fiscal 2012 was primarily due tinarease in profits subject to U.S. tax, a decré@aséock option benefits, and their corresponding
impact on the transfer pricing calculations amdrgW.S. and some of our foreign subsidiaries

During January 2013, the U.S. Federal Researctbandlopment Tax Credit was reinstated retroactitelfjscal 2012. The U.S. Federal
Research and Development Tax Credit benefit wawrded in the first quarter of fiscal 2013, whichsahe period of enactment.

Beginning with fiscal 2013, we operate under aiteentive agreement in Singapore, which is effectrough December 31, 2023, and may

be extended if certain additional requirementssatesfied. The tax incentive agreement is condéiapon our meeting certain employment and
investment thresholds. We did not realize any twirgys from the Singapore tax incentives in fi@3l3 because of net tax losses in that jurisdiction
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It is our policy to classify accrued interest amhalties related to unrecognized tax benefitsénpttovision for income taxes. As of December
31, 2013, we had accrued approximately $1.0 mill@restimated interest related to uncertain tavigions compared to an accrual of $1.5 million as
of December 31, 2012.

The State of California has been conducting antaddiur state income tax returns for fiscal 20hd &scal 2011. We do not expect this audit
to have a significant detrimental effect on ounime tax liability nor have a material impact on oesults of operations.

Within the next twelve months, we do not believerénwill be a decrease in uncertain tax benefds ¢buld impact our future effective tax

rate.
Fiscal Years 2012 and 2011
Revenue
Fiscal Year
2012 2011
% of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Revenue:
Product 248,94¢ 47 197,40¢ 45 51,54( 26
Services 274,04: 51 220,26¢ 51 53,77¢ 24
Ratable and other revenue 10,64¢ 2 15,90( 4 (5,2572) (33
Total revenue 533,63¢ 100 433,57¢ 100 100,06 23
Revenue by Geography:
Americas 217,05¢ 41 172,49. 40 44 ,56: 26
EMEA 184,17" 35 152,38! 35 31,79( 21
APAC 132,40t 24 108,69° 25 23,711 22
Total revenue 533,63¢ 100 433,57¢ 100 100,06 23

Total revenue increased by $100.1 million, or 28%iscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011. The Amesigegion contributed the largest port
of our revenue growth on a percentage basis, wiild&EMEA and APAC regions both demonstrated grasftbver 20%. Product revenue increased by
$51.5 million, or 26%, compared to fiscal 2011. Tierease in product revenue was primarily drivgmgteater sales volume in our FortiGate product
family due to increased demand across all prodatetgories from our entry-level and mid-range praslfier smaller enterprises and branch
deployments to our highnd products for large enterprise and service gemgustomers. Services revenue increased by $5Bi@n, or 24%, in fisca
2012 compared to fiscal 2011 due to the recognitforevenue from our growing deferred revenue badasonsisting of subscription and support
contracts sold to a larger customer base. The deelia ratable and other revenue of $5.3 millios prmarily due to the continuing decline in
amortization of ratable revenue. Ratable and athernue for fiscal 2012 included a $3.7 millionesaf previously-acquired patents, which was an
increase from a $2.6 million sale of previously-aiced patents in fiscal 2011. Excluding the declmeatable and other revenue, product and services
revenue combined together increased by 25% comparfistal 2011.
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Cost of revenue and gross margin

Fiscal Year
2012 2011 Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)

Cost of revenue:

Product 93,971 73,20: 20,77( 28

Services 50,68: 35,48¢ 15,19¢ 43

Ratable and other revenue 2,76 4,911 (2,149 (44)
Total cost of revenue 147,42( 113,59¢ 33,82: 30
Gross margin (%):

Product 62.% 62.¢ (0.€)

Services 81.t 83.¢ (2.4

Ratable and other revenue 74.C 69.1 4.9
Total gross margin 72.4 73.¢ (1.9

Total gross margin decreased by 1.4 percentagéspaifiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011, as Ipptduct and services gross margins
declined. Product gross margin decreased by Odeptage points in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscadll20rimarily related to a higher quantity of mid-
range products purchased by a large retail custaitedower than average gross margins. We als@®éapced the impact from cost increases related
to higher material costs incurred to support higlemsity storage requirements for our recent relea&ortioOS 5.0, our next generation operating
system. From time to time, we have experiencedss#lereviously reserved inventory. During fisc@ll2, we experienced a positive impact to gross
margin of 0.2 percentage points due to the safellyfreserved inventory compared to a positive &Tipto gross margin of 0.4 percentage points in the
prior year. Services gross margin decreased bp&eentage points during fiscal 2012 primarily tmeur continued investments in our technical
support organization to accommodate our expandistpmer base and higher service level expectafionsour enterprise customers. In addition, we
experienced growth in our professional consultiewyiees which have lower gross margins than oupstmnd subscription businesses. Cost of
services revenue increased by $15.2 million prilpalie to an $8.6 million increase in cash-basadgrel costs related to headcount increases, a
$1.9 million increase in stock-based compensatigerse, a $1.8 million increase in costs associaitdextended support contracts, a $0.7 million
increase in occupancy-related costs, a $0.5 milliorease in professional services expenses, aillidn increase in travel expenses, and a $1.1
million increase in depreciation and other expenses

Operating expenses

Fiscal Year
2012 2011
% of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Operating expenses:

Research and development 81,07¢ 15 63,577 15 17,50! 28
Sales and marketing 179,15! 33 145,53: 34 33,62¢ 23
General and administrative 25,511 5 21,96t 4 3,54¢ 16
Total operating expenses 285,74« 53 231,07: 53 54,67( 24

Research and development expense

Research and development expense increased by #ilfoh, or 28%, in fiscal 2012 compared to fis@8l11 primarily due to an increase of
$9.3 million in cash-based personnel costs asudt relincreased headcount to support the developwienew products and continued enhancements
of our existing products. In addition, we incurfgdher stock-based compensation expense of $4l®miproduct development expenses of $1.2
million, depreciation expense of $0.9 million, slipp expense of $0.6 million, occupancy-relatedso$ $0.4 million, and other expenses of $0.5
million. The increase in research and developmepérse was partially offset by a 2% year-over-yeerease in the U.S. dollar exchange rate against
the CAD, as a majority of our research and devebmtrpersonnel are located in Canada.
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Sales and marketing expense

Sales and marketing expense increased by $33.@mitir 23%, in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 20drdmarily due to an increase of $21.6
million in cash-based personnel costs as we coadita increase our sales headcount in order toneixpar global footprint. In addition, we incurred
increases in stock-based compensation expense®fiition, marketing-related expenses of $3.2ionil] depreciation expenses of $1.6 million,
occupancy-related costs of $0.7 million, travelenges of $1.0 million, supplies expense of $0.4ianiland other expenses of $1.2 million. As a
percentage of revenue, sales and marketing expegrs@ined flat as we accelerated the investmemaiirsales force during the past year to support
future growth. The increase in sales and marketkpense was partially offset by a 9% year-over-yrearease in the U.S. dollar exchange rate against
the Euro.

General and administrative expense
General and administrative expense increased IByrfilfion, or 16%, in fiscal 2012 compared to fise811. Stock-based compensation
expense increased by $1.6 million and cash-bassomeel costs increased by $0.7 million. In additiwe incurred $1.0 million of litigation

settlement expense.

I nterest income and other expense, net

Fiscal Year
2012 2011 Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Interest income 5,00¢ 3,52¢ 1,482 42
Other expense, net (485) (359 (13)) 37

The $1.5 million increase in interest income ircéis2012 compared to fiscal 2011 was primarily tlumterest earned on higher invested
balances of cash, cash equivalents and investmBmgschange in other expense, net, for fiscal 2@i@n compared to fiscal 2011, was the result of
higher foreign exchange losses.

Provision for income taxes

Fiscal Year
2012 2011 Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Provision for income taxes 38,16( 29,58 8,57¢ 29
Effective tax rate (%) 36 32 4 —

Our effective tax rate was 36% for fiscal 2012, paned with an effective tax rate of 32% for fis2@lL1. The provision for income taxes for
fiscal 2012 was comprised primarily of federaltestand foreign income taxes as well as the inclusiostock option benefits, which affected the
transfer pricing calculations between some of oweifyn subsidiaries. The 2011 effective tax rate imgpacted by the inclusion of stock option
benefits, which affected the transfer pricing clltions between some of our foreign subsidiarissyell as research and development tax credit. The
increase in the provision for income taxes fordls2012 compared to fiscal 2011 was primarily duar increase in profits subject to U.S. tax, a
decrease in stock option benefits, and their cpoeding impact on the transfer pricing calculatibesveen some of our foreign subsidiaries, and the
reduction in U.S. Federal Research and Developif@atCredit that was reinstated in fiscal 2013, imttrecognized in fiscal 2012.
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Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our unaudited qudytstatements of operations data for the lasttdighal quarters. The information for eact
these quarters has been prepared on the samebdkes audited annual financial statements incledssivhere in this Annual Report and, in the
opinion of management, includes all adjustmentsciincludes only normal recurring adjustments,assary for the fair presentation of the results of
operations for these periods. This data shoulathd in conjunction with our audited consolidatethficial statements and related notes included
elsewhere in this annual report. These quarterfyaig results are not necessarily indicativelwsfaperating results for any future period.

Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013 2013

($ amounts in 000’s, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statements of
Operations Data:

Revenue:
Product 53,20« 61,69: 63,027 71,02¢ 57,95( 66,52¢ 69,68 83,88¢
Services 62,13¢ 65,41: 69,78 76,71 75,89¢ 79,66¢ 83,88: 90,27¢
Ratable and other
revenue’ 1,90¢ 1,85¢ 3,45¢ 3,42¢ 1,97¢ 1,23t 1,12¢ 3,19C
Total revenue 117,24° 128,96: 136,26¢ 151,16: 135,82( 147,42t 154,69¢ 177,35(
Cost of revenue:
Product®™ 19,06 23,93t 23,99t 26,97¢ 22,95¢ 26,94¢ 27,12¢ 37,57¢
Services’ 11,21: 12,46 13,16¢ 13,83¢ 15,57« 16,25¢ 16,37« 15,91¢
Ratable and other
revenue 762 72E 647 63z 59¢€ 501 43C 382
Total cost of revenue 31,04: 37,12] 37,80¢ 41,44: 39,12¢ 43,70¢ 43,93( 53,87
Total gross profit 86,20« 91,83t 98,46( 109,72( 96,69 103,72( 110,76¢ 123,47:

Operating expenses:
Research and

developmen? 19,667 20,38t¢ 20,49¢ 20,52t 23,33¢ 25,15¢ 26,421 27,74,

Sales and marketing 42,03¢ 44,25¢ 44,74 48,117 49,97¢ 55,991 56,68 62,331

General and

administrative”” 5,78¢ 6,23¢ 7,44¢ 6,03¢ 7,991 8,78¢ 9,38: 8,75z
Total operating expenses 67,48¢ 70,88¢ 72,69( 74,68( 81,301 89,94: 92,49( 98,83(
Operating incomé& 18,71¢ 20,95( 25,77( 35,04( 15,39 13,77: 18,27¢ 24,64:
Interest income 1,08t 1,20¢ 1,31¢ 1,40(C 1,36¢ 1,337 1,28z 1,31¢
Other (expense) income, net (77) 73 (317) (270 21t (100 (1,15) (419
Income before income taxes 19,72¢ 22,22¢ 26,77! 36,27( 16,97¢ 15,01« 18,41( 25,54:
Provision for income taxes 5,55¢ 8,27¢ 9,56¢ 14,76 4,72¢ 6,03t 7,381 13,52¢
Net income” 14,17: 13,95( 17,20¢ 21,507 12,24¢ 8,97¢ 11,02¢ 12,01¢

Net income per share
attributable to common
stockholders

Basic 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.11 0.1: 0.0¢ 0.0€ y y
Diluted 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.1C 0.1: 0.07 0.0t 0.07 0.07
o Ratable and other revenue included the sales wiqusy-acquired patents of $1.8 million, $1.9 ioifl, $0.6 million, and $2.2 million for the threeonths ended September 30,

2012, December 31, 2012, March 31, 2013, and Deeefith 2013, respectively.
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@ Includes stocksased compensation expense as foll
Three Months Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013 2013
($ amounts in 000's)
Cost of product revenue 64 88 85 96 90 96 91 10€
Cost of services revenue 745 941 1,01¢ 1,03z 1,02( 1,22¢ 1,297 1,29¢
Research and developme 1,957 2,292 2,52t 2,45; 2,76¢ 3,291 3,54¢ 3,66¢
Sales and marketing 3,44: 3,47t 3,87¢ 1,99¢ 4,11¢ 4,59¢ 5,21t 5,59¢
General and administrativ 1,037 1,05¢ 1,32 1,18¢ 1,30¢ 1,50( 1,627 2,01¢
Total stock-based compensation
expense 7,24¢ 7,852 8,83( 6,762 9,29¢ 10,70% 11,77¢ 12,687
® Includes amortization expense and impairment clsarglated to certain intangible assets as foll
Three Months Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, D
2012 2012 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013

($ amounts in 000's)

Amortization expense of certain
intangible assets 14¢ 22€ 22¢€ 22¢€ 26€ 354 423

Impairment charges related to
certain intangible assets — — — — — — _

Total amortization expense and
impairment charges related to

certain intangible assets 14¢ 22¢ 22¢ 22¢ 26€ 354 42t
@ Includes quarterly patent settlement income of $@ilbon.
® During the three months ended December 31, 2012eeded a $1.5 million non-recurring cumulative-of-period adjustment to reflect a trup-related to forfeitures of sto

awards granted to employees. Of this amount, $@l®mand $0.6 million were related to fiscal 20aad the first three quarters of fiscal 2012, reipely. The adjustment
resulted in lower stock-based compensation expemdédiigher operating income and net income dutieghree months ended December 31, 2012.

Seasonality, Cyclicality and Quarterly Revenue Trends

Our quarterly results reflect seasonality in thie sé our products, subscriptions and servicegelneral, a pattern of increased customer
buying at year-end has positively impacted salésifcin the fourth quarter. In the first quartee generally experience lower sequential billingd a
product revenues, which results in lower revenné¢hé third quarter, we generally experience losggenue in Europe compared to the second quarter
due to reduced economic activity in Europe durtmgsummer months, but this may not always be tee.&imilarly, our operating income has been
affected by these historical trends because opgratipenses are relatively fixed in the near-té&ltihough these seasonal factors are common in the
technology sector, historical patterns should motdnsidered a reliable indicator of our futuresalctivity or performance. On a quarterly bases, w
have usually generated the majority of our prodecenue in the final month of each quarter andjaiicant amount in the last two weeks of a qua
We believe this is due to customer buying pattéypieal in this industry.

Our total quarterly revenue over the past eighttgus has increased sequentially in each quartapxhe first quarter of fiscal 2013 which
was down due to the seasonality referenced abavenasroeconomic challenges experienced in Europe. Praéuenue in all of the quarters of fis
2013 was higher as compared to the same perididsal 2012 , which we believe was due in parti®investments made in our sales organization
and continued product innovation.

Total gross margin has fluctuated on a quarterfisoprimarily due to shifts in the mix of salesveegn products and services. Product gross
margins were lower in each quarter of fiscal 20d®pared to the same quarter of fiscal 2012 duehiglaer mix of sales of entry-level products.
Product gross margin varies based on the typesodigts sold and the average selling prices opooducts. Services gross margins were lower in the
first three quarters of fiscal 2013 compared toshme
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periods of fiscal 2012 as we made investments irsopport organizations at a rate slightly gretttean the increase in services revenue.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

December 31

2013 2012 2011
($ amounts in 000's)
Cash and cash equivalents 115,87: 122,97! 71,99(
Investments 727,17. 616,61: 466,69°
Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 843,04! 739,58t 538,68
Working capital 322,48! 249,97( 256,70t
Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
($ amounts in 000's)
Cash provided by operating activities 147,38 183,86t 132,84
Cash used in investing activities (146,739 (182,71) (166,82¢)
Cash (used in) provided by financing activities (6,427 50,15¢ 39,791
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equigalen (1,329 (32¢) (682)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalent (7,102 50,98¢ 5,131

Liquidity and capital resources may be impactedbyoperating activities, as well as acquisitiaapital expenditures and investments in
strategic relationships that we have made or masermathe future. We expect to spend approximebély.0 million related to the improvement of our
new corporate headquarters in fiscal 2014. Adddilgn our liquidity may be impacted, if we wererpurchase additional shares of our common stock
under our Share Repurchase Program. As of DeceBib@013, $161.1 million remains available for fetshare repurchases under this program,
which will be financed through our available worgicapital.

As of December 31, 2013, our cash, cash equivalant investments of $843.0 million were heldvorking-capital purposes and were
invested primarily in corporate debt securitiespagercial paper, municipal bonds, certificates gfagt and term deposits, money market funds, and
U.S. government and agency debt securities. ltisrvestment policy to invest excess cash in amaathat preserves capital, provides liquidity and
maximizes return.

As of December 31, 2013, $88.9 million of our casld investments was held by our internationalisiigoges and is therefore not
immediately available to fund domestic operationkess the cash is repatriated. While we do nonhihte do so, should this amount be repatriated, it
would be subject to U.S. federal income tax whichuld be partially offset by foreign tax credits. \§@ not enter into investments for trading or
speculative purposes. We believe that our existaglh and cash equivalents will be sufficient totnoee anticipated cash needs for at least the Tizxt
months. Our future capital requirements will dependnany factors including our growth rate, theitignand extent of spending to support
development efforts, the expansion of sales an&etiag activities, the introduction of new and emted products and services offerings, the costs to
ensure access to adequate manufacturing capadittharcontinuing market acceptance of our proditistorically, we have required capital
principally to fund our working capital needs, dapexpenditures, share repurchases, and acquisititvities. In the event that additional finargis
required from outside sources, we may not be abtaise it on terms acceptable to us or at aldfare unable to raise additional capital whenrddsi
our business, operating results and financial cmrdivould be adversely affected.
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Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
($ amounts in 000’s)
Net income 44,27: 66,83¢ 62,49:
Adjustments for non-cash chargés 69,15: 44,02¢ 18,71
Net income before non-cash charges 113,42¢ 110,86¢ 81,20«
Increase in deferred revenue 68,87 68,29: 42,17,
Increase in income taxes payable 22,52; 28,26" 35,96¢
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liaBilitiet 12,13¢ 1,262 8,56¢
Increase in accrued payroll and compensation 6,01: 4,59¢ 4,77:
Decrease in other assets 1,24 2,47( 227
Increase in inventory (35,099 (112,309 (6,039
Increase in accounts receivable—net (22,080 (12,120 (23,24¢)
Increase in deferred tax assets (18,750 (9,259 (7,879
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and atirentassets (907) 791 (2,915
Net cash provided by operating activities 147,38 183,86t 132,84

@ Non-cash charges consist of stock-based compensagemse, depreciation and amortization, amortizaifdnvestment premiums, an excess tax benefit fsoamemployee
stock option plans, and other non-cash items,Fuetadditional information regarding such non-celsarges, see our consolidated statements of aash iih Part |1, Item 8 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Operating Activities

In fiscal 2013 , operating activities provided $Million in cash as a result of our billings gtbwprofitability, and the ability to
successfully manage our working capital. Net incoavas $44.3 million , increased by non-cash adjustmef $69.2 million and sources of cash of
$110.8 million partially offset by uses of cash$d®.8 million from changes in operating assetslatdities. Non-cash adjustments consist of stock-
based compensation expense of $43.9 million , apadidn of investment premiums of $11.6 millionepdeciation and amortization of $15.6 million ,
and other non-cash items, net, of $1.0 millionrtiply offset by an excess tax benefit from empeystock option plans of $3.0 million . Sources of
cash were related to a $68.9 million increase ferded revenue which was attributable primarilyrtoreased sales of our subscription and support
services, which have yet to be recognized as incar22.5 million increase in income tax payables tb our continued profitability and timing of tax
payments, a $6.0 million increase in accrued pagral compensation primarily related to increaseaidcount and employer taxes related to the
exercise of stock options, a $1.2 million decrdasgther assets, a $12.1 million increase in actopayable and accrued liabilities related to tgnof
payments. Uses of cash were related to a $22.bbmiticrease in accounts receivable due to theativgnowth of our business, a $35.1 million
increase in inventory due to investing in adeqletels of inventory to reduce the risk of producic&outs to support new product releases combined
with the overall growth in the business, a $18.Biomi increase in deferred tax assets, and a $@l®mincrease in prepaid expenses and other atirre
assets.

In fiscal 2012, operating activities provided $2Bahillion in cash as a result of our billings growprofitability, and the ability to successfu
manage our working capital. Net income was $6618anj increased by non-cash adjustments of $44l@mand sources of cash of $105.7 million
partially offset by uses of cash of $32.7 millisorh changes in operating assets and liabilitiesi-bish adjustments consist of stock-based
compensation expense of $30.7 million, amortizatibmvestment premiums of $13.0 million, depreiciatand amortization of $11.6 million, and
other non-cash items, net, of $0.9 million, palgiaffset by an excess tax benefit from employeelsoption plans of $12.1 million. Sources of cash
were related to a $68.3 million increase in deferevenue which was attributable primarily to iraed sales of our subscription and support setvices
which have yet to be recognized in income, a $28lBon increase in income tax payable, due to @amtinued profitability and timing of tax
payments, a $4.6 million increase in accrued pagral compensation primarily related to increaseaidcount and employer taxes related to the
exercise of stock options, a $2.5 million decraéasgther assets, a $1.3 million increase in accopayable and accrued liabilities related to tinohg
payments, and a $0.8 million decrease in prepgimses and other current assets. Uses of casheletied to a $12.1 million increase in accounts
receivable due to the overall growth of our busiresd stronger collections experience, a $11.3amilhcrease in inventory primarily to support new
product releases combined with the overall grovithus business, and a $9.3 million increase in detktax assets.

55




Table of Contents

In fiscal 2011, operating activities provided $3illion in cash as a result of our strong perfante primarily driven by billings growth,
profitability, and the ability to successfully maygaour working capital. Net income was $62.5 millimcreased by non-cash adjustments of $18.7
million and sources of cash of $91.5 million pdlyiaffset by uses of cash of $39.8 million fromatiyes in operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash
adjustments consist of stock-based compensatioansepof $19.0 million, amortization of investmergrpiums of $12.5 million, and depreciation and
amortization of $7.0 million, partially offset byr@&xcess tax benefit from employee stock optiongt $19.8 million. Sources of cash were related t
a $42.2 million increase in deferred revenue wihnels attributable primarily to increased sales afsubscription and support services, which have yet
to be recognized in income, a $36.0 million incesesincome tax payable, due to our continued fabfiity and timing of tax payments, an $8.6
million increase in accrued liabilities and accaupdyable related to timing of payments, a $4.Tianiincrease in accrued payroll and compensation
primarily related to increased headcount and engltgxes related to the exercise of stock optiand,a $0.2 million decrease in other assets. Uses o
cash were related to a $23.2 million increase @oants receivable due to the overall growth oflmusiness, a $7.9 million increase in deferred tax
assets, a $6.0 million increase in inventory prilpdo support new product releases combined withdverall growth of our business, and a $2.9
million increase in prepaid expenses and currdrgradssets.

Investing Activities

In fiscal 2013, our investing activities consisimarily of purchases and sales of investmemid,ta a much lesser extent, capital
expenditures. The $146.7 million of cash used bgsting activities was due to net purchases ofsments of $125.2 million , purchases of property
and equipment of $13.9 million and acquisitions$@r6 million .

In fiscal 2012, our investing activities consisgg@marily of purchases and sales of investmentd,tara much lesser extent, capital
expenditures. The $182.7 million of cash used bgsting activities was due to net purchases ofstments of $159.4 million, purchases of property
and equipment of $22.1 million (including $14.5Iinih to purchase land and building to support tteagh in our business operations) and acquisi
for $1.2 million.

In fiscal 2011, our investing activities consisgg@marily of purchases and sales of investmentd,tara much lesser extent, capital
expenditures. The $166.8 million of cash used besting activities was due to net purchases ofstmaents of $160.6 million, purchases of property
and equipment of $3.6 million, and an acquisition$2.6 million.

Financing Activities

In fiscal 2013, our financing activities resuliechet cash used of $6.4 million as a result ofrepurchase and retirement of $33.5 million of
common stock and our net-share settlement of equyrds of $1.5 million. This was offset by recegyproceeds of $12.9 million and $12.7 million
from the issuance of common stock under our st@tion plans and ESPP, respectively, and an exegdsenefit from employee stock option
exercises of $3.0 million .

In fiscal 2012, our financing activities resultednet cash provided of $50.2 million as a resuleckiving proceeds of $27.2 million and
$10.9 million from the issuance of common stockemalir stock option plans and ESPP, respectivelyam excess tax benefit from employee stock
option exercises of $12.1 million.

In fiscal 2011, our financing activities resultednet cash provided of $39.8 million as a resuleckiving proceeds of $20.0 million from the
issuance of common stock under our stock optionspéand an excess tax benefit from employee stoefcises of $19.8 million.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following summarizes our contractual obligati@s of December 31, 2013 :

Payments Due by Period

More than 5
Total Less than 1 yeal 1-3years 3-5years years
($ amounts in 000's)
Operating leases 31,90¢ 8,75¢ 15,29: 6,23( 1,62t
Purchase commitments 37,79 37,79 — — —
Other contract§ 9,94¢ 9,63- 264 50 —
Total 79,64¢ 56,18¢ 15,55¢ 6,28( 1,62¢
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o Consists of contractual obligations from ncemcelable office space under operating le

@ Consists of minimum purchase commitments with irselent contract manufacture

® Consists of an estimate of all open purchase oateontractual obligations in the ordinary cowfbkusiness, other than commitments with contreaufacturers and
suppliers, for which we have not received the gawdservices. Purchase obligations do not inclugeracts that may be cancelled without penaltyh@dgh open purchase
orders are considered enforceable and legally hindhe terms generally allow us the option to e§rreschedule, and adjust our requirements basediobusiness needs prior
to the delivery of goods or performance of servitéstax liabilities related to uncertain tax pasis have been included in the table. As of Decerg@he2013 , we had $30.2
million of long-term tax liabilities, including ietest, related to uncertain tax positions. Becafiiee high degree of uncertainty regarding thdeseent of these liabilities, we
are unable to estimate the years in which futusé caitflows may occur.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011 , we did notéhamy relationships with unconsolidated organizetior financial partnerships, such as
structured finance or special purpose entitieswmatld have been established for the purpose dftéing off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated firdmstatements in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Bepn Form 10-K for a full description of
recently adopted accounting pronouncements.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk

The primary objectives of our investment activitéee to preserve principal, provide liquidity andximize income without significantly
increasing risk. Some of the securities we investre subject to market risk. This means that aghén prevailing interest rates may cause the
principal amount of the investment to fluctuate.rfimimize this risk, we maintain our portfolio cdigh, cash equivalents and investments in a variety
of securities, including commercial paper, moneykegfunds, government and corporate debt secsidtiel certificates of deposit. The risk associated
with fluctuating interest rates is limited to oawestment portfolio. A 10% decrease in interestgat fiscal 2013 , 2012 and 2011 would have redult
in a decrease in our interest income by $0.5 miJIR0.5 million, and $0.4 million, respectively.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our sales contracts are primarily denominated B. dollars and therefore substantially all of ewenue is not subject to foreign currency
translation risk. However, a substantial portioroof operating expenses incurred outside the WeSdenominated in foreign currencies and are st
to fluctuations due to changes in foreign curreexghange rates, particularly changes in the Canaftilar (CAD). To help protect against significant
fluctuations in value and the volatility of futucash flows caused by changes in currency exchags, we engage in foreign currency risk
management activities to hedge balance sheet demsminated in CAD. We do not use these contractsdeculative or trading purposes. All of the
derivative instruments are with high quality fin&@idénstitutions, and we monitor the creditworthsseof these parties. These contracts typically have
maturities between one and three months. We redwadges in the fair value of forward exchange emts¢rrelated to balance sheet accounts as other
expense, net in the consolidated statement of ipesa\We recognized an expense of $1.5 millioatlrer expense, net, in fiscal 2013 due to foreign
currency transaction losses.

Our hedging activities are intended to reduce nlotieliminate, the impact of currency exchange ma@ements. As our hedging activities are
relatively short-term in nature and are focuse&D, long-term material changes in the value ofith8. dollar against other foreign currencies, such
as the Euro (EUR), British pound (GBP), and Japayes (JPY) could adversely impact our operatingeeses in the future. We assessed the risk of
loss in fair values from the impact of hypothetichlinges in foreign currency exchange rates. Feigo currency exchange rate risk, a 10% increase
or decrease of foreign currency exchange ratesisigihie U.S. dollar with all other variables hetmhstant would have resulted in a $1.7 million che
in the value of our foreign currency cash accoastsf December 31, 2013.

Inflation Risk

Our monetary assets, consisting primarily of cassh equivalents and short-term investments, araffexted significantly by inflation
because they are short-term. We believe the ingdanflation on replacement costs of equipmentniure and leasehold improvements will not
materially affect our operations. The rate of itila, however, affects our cost
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of revenue and expenses, such as those for emptoyegensation, which may not be readily recoverabtke price of products and services offered
by us.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dai

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 20
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 64
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The supplementary financial information requirecthg Item 8 is included in Part Il, Item 7 of tsnual Report on Form 10-K under the caption
“Quarterly Results of Operations.”
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Fortinet, Inc.
Sunnyvale, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Fortinet, Inc. and subsidiaries (“Camyp) as of December 31, 2013 and
2012, and the related consolidated statementsayhtipns, comprehensive income, stockholders’ ggaiid cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2013. Our auditsimtbaded the financial statement schedule listethé Index at Item 15. These financial statements
and financial statement schedule are the respdinsitii the Company’s management. Our responsibititto express an opinion on the financial
statements and financial statement schedule basedraaudits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBiqUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet émdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdintgcial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digidg in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles usédignificant estimates made by management, dsawelvaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provideagonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statatagresent fairly, in all material respects, tin@rficial position of Fortinet, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 201 2theendesults of their operations and their cash $léov each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2013, in conformity with accountingpgiples generally accepted in the United State&roérica. Also, in our opinion, such financial
statement schedule, when considered in relatidhetdasic consolidated financial statements takemwshole, presents fairly, in all material respect
the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2013, based briernal Control-Integrated Framework (199®sued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisaiahour report dated February 27, 2014 expregsedi@ualified opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
February 27, 2014
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FORTINET, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31,

December 31,

2013 2012
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 115,87 $ 122,97!
Short-term investments 375,49 290,71¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubdfctounts and sales returns of $4,605 and $2,382
of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 130,47: 107,64:
Inventory 48,67 21,06(
Deferred tax assets 50,98( 13,66:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 14,05: 13,21t
Total current assets 735,54t 569,27:
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT—Net 36,65: 25,63¢
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS—Non-current 30,05¢ 48,52t
LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS 351,67 325,89.
GOODWILL 2,87: —
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS—Net 6,841 2,117
OTHER ASSETS 4,82( 4,051
TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,168,46. $ 975,49
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 3559¢ $ 20,81¢
Accrued liabilities 27,38( 18,48:
Accrued payroll and compensation 34,997 28,957
Income taxes payable 21,42: 3,78
Deferred revenue 293,66 247,26¢
Total current liabilities 413,06 319,30
DEFERRED REVENUE—Non-current 138,96 115,91
INCOME TAXES PAYABLE—Non-current 30,20¢ 28,77¢
OTHER LIABILITIES 471 564
Total liabilities 582,70« 464,56:
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 10)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Common stock, $0.001 par value — 300,000 sharémened; 161,535 and 161,757 shares issued
161,535 and 160,348 shares outstanding as of Dexe3ih2013 and December 31, 2012, respecti 161 162
Additional paid-in capital 462,64« 400,07
Treasury stock — (2,995
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,092 3,091
Retained earnings 121,86: 110,60:
Total stockholders’ equity 585,76( 510,93
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 1,168,46. $ 975,49

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FORTINET, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
REVENUE:
Product $ 278,04t $ 248,94¢ $ 197,40¢
Services 329,72 274,04: 220,26¢
Ratable and other revenue 7,52¢ 10,64¢ 15,90(
Total revenue 615,29° 533,63¢ 433,57¢
COST OF REVENUE:
Product 114,61: 93,971 73,20
Services 64,12 50,68: 35,48¢
Ratable and other revenue 1,90¢ 2,76 4,911
Total cost of revenue 180,64 147,42 113,59¢
GROSS PROFIT:
Product 163,43! 154,97 124,20°
Services 265,60( 223,36: 184,78
Ratable and other revenue 5,61¢ 7,881 10,98¢
Total gross profit 434,65¢ 386,21¢ 319,97¢
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development 102,66( 81,07¢ 63,571
Sales and marketing 224,99: 179,15! 145,53:
General and administrative 34,91 25,511 21,96¢
Total operating expenses 362,56 285,74« 231,07
OPERATING INCOME 72,09( 100,47 88,90«
INTEREST INCOME 5,30¢ 5,00¢ 3,52¢
OTHER EXPENSE—Net (1,455 (485) (3549)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 75,94 104,99¢ 92,07
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 31,66¢ 38,16( 29,581
NET INCOME $ 44277 $ 66,83t $ 62,49:
Net income per share attributable to common stdcldne (Note
8):
Basic $ 027 $ 04z $ 0.41
Diluted $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4C $ 0.3¢
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic 162,43! 158,07- 152,58:
Diluted 168,18 166,32¢ 163,78:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FORTINET, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011

Net income $ 44,27 $ 66,83t $ 62,49:
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Foreign currency translation (losses) gains (1,617 524 (559

Unrealized (losses) gains on investments (587) 3,331 (1,702

Unrealized losses on cash flow hedges — — (74)

Tax benefit (provision) related to items of othemprehensive

income or loss 20t (1,16¢€) 55C
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (2,999 2,68¢ 2,779
Comprehensive income $ 42,27:  $ 69,52 § 60,71:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FORTINET, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands)

Accumulated Retained
Common Stock  Treasury Stock  pdditional Other Earnings Total
Paid-In Comprehensive (Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount  Capital Income Deficit) Equity

BALANCE—December 31, 2010 150,17: 15C (1,409 (2,99 251,84« 2,181 (18,72) 232,45!

Exercise of stock options 6,22¢ 6 — — 19,96: — — 19,96¢

Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 19,01 — — 19,01°¢

Income tax benefit associated with stock-

based compensation — — — — 26,20¢ — — 26,20¢

Net unrealized loss on investments - net «

taxes — — — — — (1,159 — (2,159

Net unrealized loss on derivatives qualifying

as cash flow hedges (74) (74)

Net change in cumulative translation

adjustments — — — — — (552) — (552)

Net income — — — — — — 62,49: 62,49:
BALANCE—December 31, 2011 156,40: 15€ (1,409 (2,99%) 317,02 40z 43,76t 358,35«

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of

stock options 4,77¢ 5 — — 27,17¢ — — 27,18

Issuance of common stock in connection

with employee stock purchase plan 5717 1 — — 10,90 — — 10,90

Stock-based compensation expense —_ - — — 30,69( — — 30,69(

Income tax benefit associated with stock-

based compensation — — — — 14,27¢ — — 14,27¢

Net unrealized gain on investments - net of

taxes — — — — — 2,16¢ — 2,16¢

Net change in cumulative translation

adjustments — — — — — 524 — 524

Net income — — — — — — 66,83¢ 66,83¢
BALANCE—December 31, 2012 161,75 $ 16z (1,409 $(2,99% $400,07 $ 3,097 $ 110,600 $ 510,93

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of

stock options 2,48¢ 2 — — 12,88t¢ — — 12,88¢

Issuance of common stock in connection

with employee stock purchase plan 672 1 — — 12,69¢ — — 12,69¢

Issuance of common stock upon vesting of

restricted stock units 22¢ — — — — — — —

Tax withholding upon vesting of restrictec

stock awards (70) — — — (1,457) — — (2,457)

Repurchase and retirement of common sto¢R,54() (4) 1,40¢ 2,99t (8,929 — (33,01) (38,949

Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 43,90¢ — — 43,90¢

Income tax benefit associated with stock-

based compensation — — — — 3,46( — — 3,46(

Net unrealized loss on investments - net «

taxes — — — — — (382) — (382)

Net change in cumulative translation

adjustments — — — — — (1,617 — (1,617

Net income = = = = = = 44,27 44,27
BALANCE—December 31, 2013 161,53 $ 161 — $ — $46264 $ 1,092 $ 121,86 $ 585,76(

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FORTINET, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 44,27 66,83¢ 62,49:
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 15,62: 11,56¢ 6,98¢
Amortization of investment premiums 11,63¢ 12,96: 12,51°¢
Stock-based compensation expense 43,90¢ 30,69( 19,01°¢
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation (2,979 (12,069 (29,829
Other non-cash items, net 961 881 22
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable—net (22,08() (12,120 (23,24¢)
Inventory (35,099 (11,307 (6,039
Deferred tax assets (18,750 (9,259 (7,879
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (907) 791 (2,915
Other assets 1,24% 2,47( 227
Accounts payable 10,48¢ 961 6,801
Accrued liabilities 1,65¢ 301 1,76¢
Accrued payroll and compensation 6,012 4,59¢ 4,777
Deferred revenue 68,87 68,29: 42,177
Income taxes payable 22,52 28,26 35,96¢
Net cash provided by operating activities 147,38 183,86t 132,84.
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of investments (552,779 (601,08 (516,90¢)
Sales of investments 57,897 26,26¢ 44,50
Maturities of investments 369,65¢ 415,44( 311,82:
Purchase of property and equipment (13,877 (22,089 (3,629
Payments made in connection with acquisitionspheash acquired (7,635 (1,249 (2,629
Net cash used in investing activities (146,73 (182,71:) (166,82¢)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 25,58¢ 38,08 19,96¢
Taxes paid related to net share settlement ofyequiairds (1,452 — —
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 2,97¢ 12,06¢ 19,82¢
Repurchase and retirement of common stock (33,529 — —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (6,427 50,15¢ 39,797
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALE$ (1,329 (32¢) (682)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT (7,102 50,98t 5,131
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of year 122,97¢ 71,99( 66,85¢
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—End of year $ 115,87: 122,97! 71,99(
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid (refunded) for income taxes, net $ 25,44 17,08t¢ (30%)
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property and equipment not yet paid $ 4,25¢% 39¢ 44C
Liability incurred in connection with business aisition $ 10C 201 —
Liability incurred for repurchase of common stock $ 5,42( — —

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FORTINET, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business—Fortinet, Inc. (“Fortinet”) was incorporated in Be/are in November 2000 and is a leading provideredtwork security
appliances and UTM network security solutions ttemrises, service providers and governmentaliegtivorldwide. Fortinet's solutions are designed
to integrate multiple levels of security protectiamcluding firewall, virtual private networkingpglication control, anti-malware, intrusion previent
web filtering, vulnerability management, anti-spand WAN acceleration.

Basis of Presentation and Preparatior—The consolidated financial statements of Fortaret its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”) have been prapd in accordance with GAAP. All intercompany tractions and balances have been eliminated
in consolidation.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2013, we recatdm out-of-period adjustment of $3.0 million tarest the presentation on our consolidated
balance sheets relating to our repurchase of 268%hares during fiscal 2009. This reclassificatidjustment resulted in a decrease to the
outstanding treasury stock balance and a corresppua@crease to additional paid-in capital. Weéyaithe impact of the correction is not material to
the current or prior fiscal periods. The share$werepurchased in fiscal 2009 were retired imeedly after repurchase. There was no outstanding
treasury stock balance as of December 31, 2013 .

Use of Estimates—The preparation of consolidated financial stateismi@naccordance with GAAP requires managementabengestimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reportétticonsolidated financial statements and accogipgamotes. Such management estimates include
implicit service periods for revenue recognitidtightion and settlement costs and other loss ngeticies, sales returns and allowances, reserve for
bad debt, inventory valuation, warranty reservedydll and other long-lived assets, investmentglsbased compensation, the accounting for inc
taxes related to deferred tax asset balances aedvess, and the accounting for business combiratite base our estimates on historical experience
and also on assumptions that we believe are reborectual results could differ from those estiesat

Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties—We are subject to certain risks and uncertairttiescould have a material adverse effect on
our future financial position or results of opeoas, such as the following: changes in level of a@edifor our products and services, the timing and
success of new product and service introductionssbgr our competitors, price and sales competdiwh our ability to adapt to changing market
conditions and dynamics such as changes in endroest distributor or reseller requirements or marleeds, changes in expenses caused, for
example, by fluctuations in foreign currency exdmnates, management of inventory, internal comiver financial reporting, market acceptance of
our new products and services, demand for UTM petedand services in general, seasonality, failfi@iochannel partners to perform or other
disruption in our channel, the quality of our prottuand services and the market perception ofespanse to new viruses or security breaches, de
economic conditions, challenges in doing businesside of the United States, changes in custontaioaships, litigation, or claims against us based
on intellectual property, patent, product regulator other factors, product obsolescence, and boilityato attract and retain qualified employees.

We rely solely on suppliers and independent cohtremufacturers for certain of our components ameltbird-party logistics company for
distribution of certain of our products, which éehted outside of U.S. The inability of any of tagsrties to fulfill our supply and logistics
requirements could negatively impact our futurerapieg results.

Concentration of Credit Risk —Financial instruments that subject us to concé¢intra of credit risk consist primarily of cash, lsas
equivalents, short-term and long-term investmearid, accounts receivable. We maintain our cash, egqsivalents, and investments in fixed income
securities with major financial institutions, whiolir management assesses to be of high credityualbrder to limit the exposure of each
investment. Deposits held with banks may exceedutheunt of insurance provided on such deposits.

Credit risk with respect to accounts receivablgeneral is diversified due to the number of differentities comprising our customer base

their location throughout the world. We perform oimgy credit evaluations of our customers and gélyesta not require collateral on accounts
receivable. We maintain reserves for estimatednpiaecredit losses.
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As of December 31, 2013, one distributor, Excladietworks Group accounted for 13% of total accouateivable. As of December 31,
2012, no single customer accounted for more ti#8h af total accounts receivable.

During fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, one distribyutexclusive Networks Group accounted for 12% an¥ bf total revenue, respectively.
During fiscal 2011, no single customer or distrdyuccounted for more than 10% of total revenue.

Financial Instruments and Fair Value—We apply fair value accounting for all financialsats and liabilities and non-financial assets and
liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at Yailue in the financial statements on a recurkiagis. Due to their short-term nature, the carrying
amounts reported in the consolidated financiakbstents approximate the fair value for accountsivabée, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and
accrued payroll and compensation.

Comprehensive Income—Comprehensive income includes certain changegquityefrom non-owner sources that are excluded fran
income. Specifically, cumulative foreign currencgrtslation adjustments, unrealized gains and laasewailable-for-sale investments, and unrealized
gains and losses on cash flow hedges are includeginprehensive income.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction Gainsand Losses—Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiariestwiton-U.S. dollar
functional currency are translated into U.S. dgllasing the exchange rates in effect at the balsineet dates and expenses are translated usirape
exchange rates during the period. The resultingigortranslation adjustments are included in thesotidated balance sheets in the stockholderstye
section as a component of accumulated other corapsére income (loss) and are included in the cadsi@d statements of comprehensive income.
Foreign currency transaction losses of $1.5 milli®0.5 million and $0.4 million , are includedather expense, net for fiscal 2013 , 2012 and 2011
respectively.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Available-for-sale Invésments —We consider all highly liquid investments, purabésvith original maturities
of three months or less, to be cash equivalentsh @ad cash equivalents consist of balances witkshand highly liquid investments in money ma
funds, commercial paper, and certificates of deposl term deposits.

We classify our investments as available-for-satd@time of purchase since it is our intent thatse investments are available for current
operations, and include these investments on danba sheet as either short-term or long-term imvests depending on their maturity at the time of
purchase. Investments with original maturities tgethan three months that mature less than onefigea the consolidated balance sheet date are
classified as short-term investments. Investmeitts maturities greater than one year from the clidated balance sheet date are classified as long-
term investments.

Investments are considered to be impaired wherclnden fair value is judged to be other-than-temgvy. We consult with our investment
managers and consider available quantitative aatitgtive evidence in evaluating potential impainhef our investments on a quarterly basis. If the
cost of an individual investment exceeds its faiue, we evaluate, among other factors, generdtehaonditions, the duration and extent to whiah th
fair value is less than cost, and our intent arilitybo hold the investment. Once a decline i flue is determined to be other-than-temporany, a
impairment charge is recorded and a new cost batlie investment is established.

For debt securities in an unrealized loss positibicth is deemed to be other-than-temporary, therifce between the security’s theurren
amortized cost basis and fair value is separatedinthe amount of the impairment related to ¢hedit loss (i.e., the credit loss component) andhe
amount of the impairment related to all other fes{@.e., the non-credit loss component). The ¢deds component is recognized in earnings. The non
credit loss component is recognized in accumulatedr comprehensive loss.

Other Investments—Investments in privately held companies where wa tess than 20% of the voting stock and have dators of
significant influence over operating and finangialicies of those companies are included in Otlsees in the consolidated balance sheets and are
accounted for under the cost method. For thesegooted investments, we regularly review the assiomptunderlying the operating performance and
cash flow forecasts based on information providethlese privately held companies. If it is deteriithat an other-than-temporary decline exists in
an equity security, we write down the investmeritddair value and record the related impairmenaa investment loss in our consolidated statements
of operations.

Inventory —Inventory is recorded at the lower of average oosharket, after we give appropriate consideratiabsolescence and
inventory in excess of anticipated future demarett&@n inventories are held at consignment locatidimis
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consigned inventory was $4.3 million as of Decen8ier2013, of which $4.1 million is raw materiatede0.2 million is finished goods and $2.3
million as of December 31, 2012, of which $2.1 roillis raw materials and $0.2 million is finisheabgls. In assessing the ultimate recoverability of
inventory, we are required to make estimates régaifdture customer demand, the timing of new poditroductions, economic trends and market
conditions. If the actual product demand is sigaifitly lower than forecasted, we could be requioed:cord additional inventory write-downs, which
could have an adverse impact on our gross margishgeofitability.

Property and Equipment—Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation. Depreciation is computedgitie
straight-line method over the estimated usefuldioéthe assets as follows:

Estimated Useful Lives

Building and building improvements 2 years
Evaluation units 1 yeal
Computer software 1 yeal
Computer equipment and tooling 2 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of useful life or lease te

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets—We evaluate events and changes in circumstanaéesdhld indicate carrying amounts of long-lived
assets, including intangible assets, may not bevezable. When such events or changes in circuressamccur, we assess the recoverability of long-
lived assets by determining whether the carryingevaf such assets will be recovered through uwndisted expected future cash flows. If the total of
the future undiscounted cash flows is less tharcéing/ing amount of those assets, we record anirmpat charge in the period in which we make the
determination. If such assets are considered tmpaired, the impairment to be recognized is meabby the amount by which the carrying amoui
the assets exceeds the fair value of the assatsilCpurchased intangible assets were measuffad &alue resulting in an impairment charge of550.
million , which is recorded as Cost of sales intbasolidated statements of operations during If2@a3.

Goodwill —Goodwill represents the excess of purchase coraida over the estimated fair value of net asselisinesses acquired in a
business combination. Goodwill acquired in a bussreombination are not amortized, but insteadddsteimpairment at least annually during the
fourth quarter. We perform our annual goodwill inmpeent analysis at the reporting unit level. Adefcember 31, 2013, we had one reporting unit.

In reviewing goodwill for impairment we have thetiop to (i) assess qualitative factors to deternvitether it is more-likely-thaneot that th
fair value of the reporting unit is less than igsrging amount or (i) bypass the gqualitative assent and proceed directly to a quantitative agsess
If we opt to perform a qualitative assessmentfalgeors we may review include, but are not limiteda) macroeconomic conditions; (b) industry and
market considerations; (c) cost factors; (d) ovdimncial performance; (e) other relevant enspecific events such as changes in management,
strategy, customers, or litigation; (f) events efffeg the reporting unit; or (g) or sustained daseein share price. If we believe, as a resubef t
qualitative assessment, that it is more-likely-tnai that the fair value of the reporting unités$ than its carrying amount, the quantitative impant
test will be required. Otherwise, no further tegtwill be required. A quantitative assessmentaesia two-step process. In the first step, thevidire
of the reporting unit is determined, and is compagainst its carrying amount, including goodwile consider a combination of an income-based
approach using projected discounted cash flowsaamdrket-based approach using multiples of compmmpanies to determine the fair value. The
fair value of the reporting unit is estimated usangnificant judgment based on a combination ofitlteme and the market approaches. Under the
income approach, we estimate fair value of the nteppunit based on the present value of forecafteae cash flows that the reporting unit is
expected to generate over its remaining life. Uridermarket approach, we estimate fair value ofreporting unit based on an analysis that compares
the value of the reporting unit to values of otbempanies in similar lines of business. If the failue of the reporting unit is less than its ciugy
value, then we perform the second step to mealararhount of impairment loss. The amount of impairhis determined by comparing the implied
fair value of reporting unit goodwill to the canmngj value of the goodwill. When the carrying valdehe reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its implied
fair value, we record an impairment loss equahtodifference. We have not been required to pertbismsecond step of the process because the fair
value of our reporting unit exceeded the net baalker as of December 31, 2013 .
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Determining the fair value of the reporting unitjuéres us to make judgments and involves the usg@afficant estimates and assumptions.
These estimates and assumptions include revenugtgrates and operating margins used to calculategted future cash flows, operating trends,
risk-adjusted discount rates, future economic aacket conditions and determination of appropriasekat comparables. We base our fair value
estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasobabthat are unpredictable and inherently unirerfectual future results may differ from those
estimates. We may also test goodwill for impairmeetiveen annual tests in the presence of impairmdigators.

Other Intangible Assets—Intangible assets with finite lives are carried¢ast, less accumulated amortization. Amortizatsocomputed
using the straight-line method over the estimatahemic lives of the assets, which range from onsix years.

Deferred Revenue—Deferred revenue consists of amounts that have ibeeiced but that have not yet been recognize@wesnue. This
generally includes subscription and support seswekich are invoiced upfront and delivered overltwenonths or longer.

Income Taxes—We record income taxes using the asset and lalilethod, which requires the recognition of defdrtax assets and
liabilities for the expected future tax consequenaievents that have been recognized in our fiahstatements or tax returns. In estimating futae
consequences, generally all expected future ewdhés than enactments or changes in the tax laates are considered. We assess the likelihood tha
some portion or all of our deferred tax assets bélrecovered from future taxable income withinrégpective jurisdictions, and to the extent we
believe that recovery does not meet the “moreyiftbhn-not” standard, based solely on its techmivatits as of the reporting date, we establish a
valuation allowance.

We account for uncertain tax positions in accoréanith GAAP, which defines the confidence levelttaaax position must meet in order to
be recognized in the financial statements. Theefgects of a position are recognized only if itngore likely than not” to be sustained based sotely
its technical merits as of the reporting date. \Wesider many factors when evaluating and estimatimgax positions and tax benefits, which may
require periodic adjustments and which may not gtely anticipate actual outcomes.

We operate in various tax jurisdictions and argesitio audit by various tax authorities. We pravidr tax contingencies whenever it is
deemed more likely than not that a tax asset has inepaired or a tax liability has been incurreddeents such as tax claims or changes in tax laws.
Tax contingencies are based upon their technicatsneeslevant tax law and the specific facts aimdumstances as of each reporting period. Changes
in facts and circumstances could result in matetiaihges to the amounts recorded for such taxrgerities.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense-We have elected to use the Black-Scholes optimmngrmodel to determine the fair value of our
employee stock options and ESPP. The fair vallRSiJs is based on the closing market price of ooroon stock on the date of grant. Stock-based
compensation expense is amortized on a straightiasis, net of estimated forfeitures. PSUs aresRBat contain both service-based and market-
based vesting conditions. PSUs vest over a speagevice period upon the satisfaction of certaamkat-based vesting conditions, and settle into
shares of our common stock upon vesting over a twthree-year period. The fair value of a PSUalswalated using the Monte Carlo simulation
model on the date of grant and is based on theehprice of our common stock on the date of gramdlified to reflect the impact of the market-based
vesting condition, including the estimated payewel based on that condition. We do not adjust @msation cost for subsequent changes in the
expected outcome of the market-based vesting dondit

Advertising Expense—Advertising costs are expensed when incurred améhaluded in operating expenses in the accompagnyi
consolidated statements of operations. Our adirggtesxpenses were not significant for any periagsented.

Research and Development Costs-Research and development costs are expenseduaehc

Software Development Costs—The costs to develop software have not been dapitbas we believe our current software develogmen
process is essentially completed concurrent wighetitablishment of technological feasibility.

Revenue Recognition—We derive revenue from sales of products, inclgdippliances and software, and services, incluslifogcription,
support and other services. The majority of oudpots are hardware appliances containing software
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components that function together to provide treeesal functionality of the product.We record newe from our hardware appliances in accordance
with general revenue recognition accounting guiganc

Our product revenue also includes software prodietsmay operate on the hardware appliances,rbutat considered essential to the
functionality of the hardware and are subject tustry-specific software revenue recognition gu@arCertain of our software, when sold with our
appliances, are considered essential to their ifometlity and as a result are accounted for as wftmvare deliverables. However, this same softwidire,
sold separately, is accounted for under industecific software revenue recognition guidance.

When a sales arrangement contains multiple elemsuith as hardware appliances, software, custampgost services, and/or professional
services, we allocate revenue to each element lmasadselling price hierarchy. In multiple elemantangements where software is more-than-
incidental, revenue is allocated to each separatefiaccounting for each of the non-software wtables and to the software deliverables as gpgrou
using the relative selling prices of each of thivéeables in the arrangement based on the sgtlilog hierarchy. When applying the relative selling
price method, we determine the selling price fahedeliverable using vendor-specific objective evide (“VSOE”) of selling price, if it exists, or
third-party evidence (“TPE”) of selling price. leither VSOE nor TPE of selling price exist for divkrable, we use our best estimate of selling
("BESP”) price for that deliverable. Revenue allgchto each element is then recognized when thie t®snue recognition criteria are met for each
element.

VSOE of fair value for elements of an arrangemsiiitsised upon the normal pricing practices for tiseseices when sold separately. In
establishing VSOE, we require that a substantigbritg of the selling prices for a service fall Wwih a reasonably narrow pricing range, generally
evidenced by a substantial majority of such hisadrstand-alone transactions falling within a reedxy narrow range of the median rates.

We are typically not able to determine TPE for praducts or services. TPE is determined based mpettor prices for similar deliverables
when sold separately which is generally unavailable

For our hardware appliances, we use BESP as dungsptice. For our support and other servicesgererally use VSOE as our selling price
estimate. When we are unable to establish a sqilicg using VSOE for our support and other sesjieee use BESP in our allocation of arrangement
consideration. The objective of BESP is to deteantire price at which we would transact a saledfpttoduct or service were sold on a stand-alone
basis. We determine BESP for a product or serwceolsidering multiple factors including, but nimbited to, cost of products, gross margin
objectives, pricing practices, geographies, custarfasses and distribution channels.

We recognize revenue for our software sales baseddustry-specific software revenue recognitioidgnce. Under industry-specific
software revenue recognition guidance, we usegsidwal method to recognize revenue when a prafireement includes one or more elements to be
delivered and VSOE of fair value for all undeliveérements exists. If evidence of the fair valueré or more undelivered elements does not et
revenue is generally deferred and recognized wiénedy of those elements occurs or when fair valaie be established. When the undelivered
element for which we do not have VSOE of fair vakisupport, revenue for the entire arrangemergdegnized ratably over the support period.

Revenue is recognized when all of the followingesia have been met:

. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exBinding contracts or purchase orders are genenalyl to determine the existence ¢
arrangement.
. Delivery has occurred or services have been rerdiDelivery occurs when we fulfill an order and tilad risk of loss has been

transferred. Services revenue is deferred and niped ratably over the period during which the &mw are to be performed, which
is typically from one to three years. Profesalcservice revenue is recognized upon delivergoonpletion of performance.

. Sales price is fixed or determinabW/e assess whether the sales price is fixed orrdetable based on the payment terms associatec
with the transaction and whether the sales prisaligect to refund or adjustment. In the event paynterms differ from our standa
business practices, the sales price is deemedrotlfexed or determinable and revenue is recoghizken the payments become
due, provided the remaining criteria for revenumgmition have been met. In the event the saleg jgisubject to refund or
adjustment,
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the sales price is deemed to be not fixed or detedole and revenue is recognized when the refuradijpistment privileges expire
provided the remaining criteria for revenue rectignihave been met.

. Collectibility is probableWe assess collectibility based primarily on creditiiiiness as determined by credit checks and a@rabs
well as payment history.

For arrangements which include end-customer aceeeteriteria, revenue is recognized upon acceptaileaecognize product revenue on
sales to distributors that have no general rightetifrn and direct sales to endstomers upon shipment, once all other revenusgretion criteria hawvi
been met. Certain distributors that stock our pctelare granted stock rotation rights,limited rigbt return as well as rebates for sales of ouwlyxrts.
The arrangement fee for this group of distribuiensot fixed and determinable when products arppsd and revenue is therefore deferred and
recognized upon sell-through. Substantially albof products have been sold in combination withises, which consist of subscriptions and/or
support. Subscription services provide access t@oiivirus, intrusion prevention, web filteringychanti-spam functionality. Support services inelud
rights to unspecified software upgrades, mainte@aeleases and patches, telephone and Internessatocechnical support personnel, and hardware
support.

The subscription and support services start onl#tte the customer registers the appliance. Themestis then entitled to service for the
stated contractual period beginning on the redistradate.

We offer certain sales incentives to channel pastri&e reduce revenue for estimates of sales ieand allowances. Additionally, in limited
circumstances we may permit end-customers, distibwand resellers to return our products, suligeearying limitations, for a refund within a
reasonably short period from the date of purché&eestimate and record reserves for sales incenting sales returns based on historical experience

Shipping charges billed to customers are include@venues and related costs are included in ¢@svenue. Sales commissions and other
incremental costs to acquire contracts are expessétcurred.

Accounts Receivable—Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedegd@mount, net of allowances for doubtful accewamtd reserves
for sales returns and allowances. The allowancddabtful accounts is based on our assessmeng aiilectibility of customer accounts. The
allowance for doubtful accounts was not significambf December 31, 2013 and 2012 . The resengafes returns and allowances is based on
specific criteria including agreements to providbates and other factors known at the time, asagedistimates of the amount of goods shipped that
will be returned. To determine the adequacy ofréfserves for sales returns and allowances, we zmaigtorical experience of actual rebates and
returns as well as current product return infororatiThe reserve for sales returns was $4.6 milioth $2.3 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012
respectively.

Warranties —We generally provide a 1 -year warranty on haréwaoducts and a 90 -day warranty on software.okipion for estimated
future costs related to warranty activities is reledl as a component of cost of product revenues Wieeproduct revenues are recognized, based upor
historical product failure rates and historicaltsdacurred in correcting product failures. In theent we change our warranty reserve estimates, the
resulting charge against future cost of saleswersal of previously recorded charges may matgréfiect our gross margins and operating results.

Accrued warranty activities are summarized as ¥adl¢$ amounts in 000’s):

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011

Accrued warranty balance—beginning of the period 2,30¢ 2,582 1,87¢
Warranty costs incurred (3,449 (2,669 (1,779
Provision for warranty for the year, including waarty liabilities assumed in

connection with an acquisition 3,96t 2,63¢ 2,10t
Changes in prior period estimates 207 (243 37¢
Accrued warranty balance—end of the period 3,031 2,30¢ 2,582
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Foreign Currency Derivatives—Our sales contracts are primarily denominated B. dollars and therefore substantially all of @wanue i
not subject to foreign currency translation rislkovkéver, a substantial portion of our operating @spes incurred outside the U.S. are denominated in
foreign currencies and are subject to fluctuatidmes to changes in foreign currency exchange rpgeticularly changes in the Canadian dollar
("CAD"). To help protect against significant fluetiions in value and the volatility of future casitwis caused by changes in currency exchange rates,
we engage in foreign currency risk managementitiesvto hedge balance sheet items denominated. @/e do not use these contracts for
speculative or trading purposes. All of the defixatnstruments are with high quality financialtibigtions and we monitor the creditworthiness af<t
parties. These contracts typically have maturlietsveen one and three months. We record changkes fair value of forward exchange contracts
related to balance sheet accounts as other expeetse, the consolidated statement of operations.

Additionally, independent of any hedging activitilactuations in foreign currency exchange ratesy mause us to recognize transaction ¢
and losses in our consolidated statements of dpesatOur hedging activities are intended to redba not eliminate, the impact of currency
exchange rate movements. As our hedging actidtiegelatively short-term in nature and are focuse@AD, longterm material changes in the va
of the U.S. dollar against other foreign currencéegh as the EUR, GBP and JPY could adverselydtmpa operating expenses in the future.

The notional amount of forward exchange contraxtsetdge balance sheet accounts as of Decembe@B3 was (amounts in 000’s):

Buy/Sell Notional
Balance Sheet Contracts:
Currency—As of December 31, 2013
CAD Buy 21,867
Currency—As of December 31, 2012
CAD Buy 17,96¢

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Updée 2013-02Comprehensive
Income (Topic 22—Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accuradl@ther Comprehensive IncoifiaSU 2013-02"). ASU 2013-02equires a
entity to report the effect of significant recldisitions out of accumulated other comprehensigerime on the respective line items in net incontbé
amount being reclassified is required under GAABdaeclassified in its entirety to net income. Bthrer amounts that are not required under GA#
be reclassified in their entirety to net incoméhia same reporting period, an entity is requiredrtss-reference other disclosures required under
GAAP that provide additional detail about those ants. We adopted ASU 2013-02 on January 1, 20dBpessented the effects within Note 15,
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incc.

| n July 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 20134htpme Taxes (Topic 740)-Presentation of an Unraizegl Tax Benefit When a Net
Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss,aofax Credit Carryforward Exist§ASU 2013-11"). ASU 2013-11 provides guidance ba t
financial statement presentation of an unrecogniardbenefit when a net operating loss carryforyanatilar tax loss, or tax credit carryforward ési
This new standard requires the netting of unrecmghtax benefits (“UTBs”) against a deferred tased$or a loss or other carryforward that would
apply in settlement of the uncertain tax positiddi§Bs will be netted against all available samésgliction loss or other tax carryforwards that wbul
be utilized, rather than only against carryforwatus are created by the UTBs. ASU 2013-11 wileHective for us beginning in the first quarter of
fiscal 2014. Early adoption is permitted. Since AB113-11 only impacts financial statement disclesequirements for unrecognized tax benefits, we
do not expect its adoption to have an impact orfioancial position or results of operations.
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2. INVESTMENT IN PRIVATELY-HELD COMPANY

In August 2013, we invested $2.0 million in equeBcurities in HyTrust, a privately-held companyisTihvestment is accounted for as a cost-
basis investment, as we own less than 20% of thiegreecurities and do not have the ability to ebser significant influence over operating and
financial policies of the entity. This investmesiciarried at historical cost and is within Otheseds on our consolidated balance sheet and measured
fair value on a nonrecurring basis when indicatdrisnpairment exist. As of December 31, 2013, nergs have occurred that would adversely affect

the carrying value of this investment.

3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE

The following table summarizes our investmentsr{dants in 000’s):

Corporate debt securities

Commercial paper

Municipal bonds

Certificates of deposit and term deposits

U.S. government and agency securities
Total available-for-sale securities

Corporate debt securities

Commercial paper

Municipal bonds

Certificates of deposit and term deposits

Total available-for-sale securities

December 31, 2013

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
603,18! 1,50€ (374 604,31
69,35¢ 7 — 69,36:
38,81¢ 48 (20) 38,84:
12,64¢ 3 — 12,64¢
2,00( 1 — 2,001
726,00: 1,56¢ (394) 727,17
December 31, 2012
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
529,73t 1,81« (161) 531,39:
39,22¢ 22 (6) 39,24t
36,78’ 83 — 36,87(
9,09¢ 6 — 9,10t
614,85: 1,92¢ (167) 616,61:

The following table shows the gross unrealizeddesand the related fair values of our investmérashave been in a continuous unrealized

loss position ($ amounts in 000’s):

December 31, 2013

Corporate debt securities
Commercial paper
Municipal bonds

Total available-for-sale securities

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
182,79! (374) 50C — 183,29! (379
7,897 — — — 7,897 —
14,73¢ (20 — — 14,73¢ (20
205,42t (399) 50C — 205,92¢ (399
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The following table shows the gross unrealizeddesand the related fair values of our investmérashave been in a continuous unrealized
loss position ($ amounts in 000’s):

December 31, 2012

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Corporate debt securities 133,00¢ (15€) 5,01( 5) 138,01¢ (162)
Commercial paper 8,46¢ (6) — — 8,46¢ (6)
Total available-for-sale securities 141,47( (162) 5,01( ©) 146,48( (167)

The contractual maturities of our investments aréollows ($ amounts in 000’s)

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Due within one year 375,497 290,71¢
Due within one to three years 351,67 325,89:
Total 727,17: 616,61

Available-for-sale securities are reported at ¥ailue, with unrealized gains and losses, net qfitectuded as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity and in total comprehensiveime. Realized gains and losses on available-fersadurities are included in other expense, net in
our consolidated statements of operations.

The unrealized losses on our available-for-salerstges were caused by fluctuations in market valnd interest rates as a result of the
economic environment. As the decline in market @alte attributable to changes in market conditaomsnot credit quality, and because we have
concluded currently that we neither intend to sel is it more likely than not that we will be récpd to sell these investments prior to a recowdmyal
value, we do not consider these investments tatmer-ohan temporarily impaired as of December 31,32

Realized gains and losses from the sale of availfistsale securities were not significant in aeyi@pd presented.

Fair Value Accounting—We apply the following faialae hierarchy for disclosure of the inputs usethéasure fair value. This hierarchy
prioritizes the inputs into three broad levels@kivs:

Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices irvacatiarkets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Inputs are quoted prices for similar asaets liabilities in active markets or inputs the¢ abservable for the assets or liabilities,
either directly or indirectly through market corovhtion, for substantially the full term of the dimcial instruments.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs based on our own asBangpused to measure assets and liabilities mv&die. The inputs require significant
management judgment or estimation.

We measure the fair value of money market fundsguguoted prices in active markets for identicakss. The fair value of all other financial
instruments was based on quoted prices for siradaerts in active markets, or model driven valmatissing significant inputs derived from or
corroborated by observable market data.

We classify investments within Level 1 if quotedcps are available in active markets for identssdurities.

We classify items within Level 2 if the investmeatg valued using model driven valuations usingeoleble inputs such as quoted market
prices, benchmark yields, reported trades, brokafét quotes or alternative pricing sources with
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reasonable levels of price transparency. Investsranat held by custodians who obtain investmenepritom a third-party pricing provider that
incorporates standard inputs in various asset pniogels.

The following table presents the fair value of inancial assets and liabilities measured at falug on a recurring basis as of December 31,
2013 and December 31, 2012 ($ amounts in 000’s):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Quoted Quoted
Prices in Significant Significant Prices in Significant Significant
Active Other Other Active Other Other
Aggregate Markets For Observable Unobservable Aggregate Markets For Observable Unobservable
Fair Identical Remaining Remaining Fair Identical Remaining Remaining
Value Assets Inputs Inputs Value Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Corporate debt securities 604,31° — 604,31° — 531,39: — 531,39: —
Commercial paper 71,36: — 71,36: — 41,99« — 41,99« —
Municipal bonds 38,84 — 38,84: — 36,87( — 36,87( —
Certificates of deposit and term
deposits 12,64¢ — 12,64¢ — 9,10¢ — 9,10¢ —
Money market funds 5,72¢ 5,72¢ — — 39,87: 39,87: — —
U.S. government and agency
securities 2,001 — 2,001 — — — — —
Total 734,89¢ 5,72¢ 729,17 — 659,23: 39,871 619,36( —
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration 1,85( — — 1,85(C — — — —
Total 1,85( — — — — — _ _
Reported as:
Cash equivalents 7,72¢ 42.62(
Short-term investments 375,49 290,71¢
Long-term investments 351,67 325,89:.
S 734,89t 659,23

The fair value of contingent consideration arisiram the acquisition of Coyote Point Systems (se&M), is classified within Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy since it is based on a prditgddased approach that includes significant urobable inputs. The significant unobservable inputs
include projected revenues and the percentage Ipitip®f occurrence to value the payment. A sigraht increase (decrease) in the projected revenue
in isolation could result in a significantly highgower) fair value measurement and significantéase (decrease) in the probability of occurrence
between the outcomes in isolation could result sigaificantly higher (lower) fair value measurerhérhe fair value of the contingent consideratien i
calculated on a quarterly basis by management basadollaborative effort of our operations andhfice and accounting groups. Potential valuation
adjustments are made as additional information inescavailable, including the progress toward achgerevenue targets as compared to initial
projections, the impact of market competition, ahenges in actual and projected product mix andageeselling price, with the impact of such
adjustments being recorded in the earnings ofpteabd.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and LewéltRe fair value hierarchy during the year enBedember 31, 2013 or December 31,
2012 .
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The following table presents quantitative inforroatabout the inputs and valuation methodologied @seour fair value measurements
classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchsyat December 31, 2013 ($ amounts in 000’s):

December 31, 2013

Fair
Value

Significant Unobservable

Valuation Technique Input Range

Contingent consideration $1,850

4. INVENTORY

Inventory consisted of the following ($ amount900’s):

Raw materials
Finished goods
Consigned inventory

Inventory

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT—Net

Probability Weighted

Income Approach Revenue (in 000's) $7,000 - $12,000

Probability of

occurrence (%) 40%-80%

December 31, December 31,

2013 2012
4,31¢ 2,811
40,09 15,90¢
4,26( 2,34+
48,67 21,06(

Property and equipment consisted of the followid@ihounts in 000’s):

Land

Building and building improvements

Evaluation units

Computer equipment and software

Furniture and fixtures

Construction-in-progress

Leasehold improvements and tooling
Total property and equipment

Less: accumulated depreciation

Property and equipment—net

December 31, December 31,

2013 2012

13,89t 13,89t
61C 61C
23,44: 18,32:
22,44: 17,17¢
1,691 1,501
10,947 —
5,417 5,35¢
78,45( 56,85¢
(41,799 (31,220
36,65: 25,63¢

Depreciation expense was $13.9 million , $10.5iariland $7.0 million in fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2Q&spectively. In fiscal 2012, we
purchased certain real property, including land lamittings in Sunnyvale, California, for cash o#$3 million , to support the growth in our business
operations. Of the total cost, we allocated $13l8am to land and $0.6 million to building and tding improvements. In fiscal 2013, constructior-in
progress relates to enhancements to the land alihigufor our new corporate headquarters.
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6. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Coyote Point Systems

On March 21, 2013, we acquired all of the outstagdiquity securities of Coyote Point Systems, (rfi€oyote” ), a provider of application
delivery, load balancing and acceleration solutidois$6.0 million in cash. The acquisition alsalirdes a contingent obligation for up to $5.5 riili
in future earn-out payments to former stockholdér€oyote, if specified future operational objeesy service conditions and financial results are me
within two years of the acquisition date. Of theximaum $5.5 million in contingent earn-out paymenig,to $3.5 millionwill be payable after eighte:
months from the acquisition date, and up to $2ldaniwill be payable after two years from the aisition date. As the future earn-out payments are
also contingent upon one of Coyote's former stolddrs employment during the earn-out period, sterated fair value of these contingent
obligations is being recorded as compensation esgeatably over the earn-out periods. This acgoiisitomplements our network security strategy
and allows us and our channel partners to accelarat further deliver on our vision of providingad security and networking functionality to
customers. Furthermore, the acquisition is expetttegnerate synergy among certain of our exigtioglucts.

We accounted for this acquisition as a purchaselafsiness and, accordingly, the total purchase pvas allocated to Coyote’s identifiable
tangible and intangible assets acquired and lisslassumed based on their estimated fair vake$the acquisition date. The fair value assigioed
the intangible assets acquired was determined @isengncome approach which discounts expected ftash to present value using our estimates and
assumptions.

The following table summarizes the fair value afets acquired and liabilities assumed ($ amour@@’s):

Cash and cash equivalents 20€
Other current assets 501
Finite-lived intangible assets 2,80(
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 2,60(C
Goodwill 2,87
Other assets 88
Total assets acquired 9,067
Current liabilities 1,07¢
Long-term liabilities 2,00¢
Total liabilities assumed 3,082
Total purchase price 5,98t

Of the total acquired identified intangible assets,allocated $2.3 million to developed technolddy.5 millionto customer relationships, a
$2.6 million to in-process research and developri&fR&D” ) as of the acquisition date. Identifiéidite-lived intangible assets consist of develbpe
technology and customer relationships that arego@inortized as cost of revenue and sales and nragletpense, respectively, ratably on a straight-
line basis, each over an estimated useful lifeofsars. Identified indefinite-lived intangibleseds consisted of acquired IPR&D relating to emggti
research and development projects at the timeafisition. The goodwill of $2.9 million represeti®e premium we paid over the fair value of the net
tangible liabilities assumed and identified intdolgiassets acquired, due primarily to acquire dgpea and in-process technology. None of the
goodwill recognized as a result of the acquisitedeductible for income tax purposes. The findesults of this acquisition were considered
immaterial for purposes of pro-forma financial diistires. During the three months ended Septemh&033, we completed the development of
technology associated with the IPR&D projects, stagted amortizing this developed technology as @oevenue ratably on a straight-line basis over
an estimated useful life of 6 years.

Other Fiscal 2013 Acquisition

In September 2013, we acquired certain assetsesb>@ommunications, Inc. (“Xtera”), including céntéoad balancing solutions and certain
patents, for a total consideration of $1.8 milljaf which $1.7 million was paid in cash on the
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acquisition date and $0.1 million payment in casbantingent upon attainment of revenue milestomesonnection with this acquisition, we acquired
net tangible assets of $0.2 million , intangibleeds of $1.5 million , and recognized an estimatadingent obligation of $0.1 million payable upon
attainment of revenue milestones.

The results of operations of our fiscal 2013 adtjaiss have been included in our consolidated statés of operations from their respective
acquisition dates.

Fiscal 2012 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2012, we completed the acquisitiohsam privately-held companies, XDN, Inc. (“XDN"nd IntruGuard Devices, Inc.
(“IntruGuard”), together referred to as our fisall2 acquisitions. Our fiscal 2012 acquisitionsevesmpleted for total cash consideration of $1.5
million which was allocated to developed technolagyfiscal 2013, we determined the net carryinlygaf certain developed technology was
impaired and recorded an impairment charge of 80ll5n within Cost of product revenue in our cofidated statements of operations. The results of
operations of our fiscal 2012 acquisitions havenbeeluded in our consolidated statements of op@ratfrom their respective acquisition dates.
7. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS—Net

We recorded $2.9 million of goodwill based on theghase price allocation of the acquisition of Geyduring fiscal 2013. There were no
impairments to goodwill during fiscal 2013.

The following tables present other intangible as¢&tamounts in 000’s):

December 31,

2013
Weighted-Average
Useful Life (in Accumulated
Years) Gross Amortization Net
Finite-lived other intangible assets-net:
Developed technology 4.6 8,971 2,56¢ 6,40:
Customer relationships 6.0 50C 62 43¢
Total other intangible assets—net 9,471 2,63( 6,841

December 31,

2012
Weighted-Average
Useful Life (in Accumulated
Years) Gross Amortization Net
Finite-lived other intangible assets-net:
Developed technology 3.0 3,541 1,42¢ 2,115
Total other intangible assets—net 3,541 1,42¢ 2,117

Amortization expense was $1.7 million , $1.0 millipand $0.4 million in fiscal 2013 , 2012 and 2Q1é&spectively. The following table
summarizes estimated future amortization expensthefr intangible assets with finite lives for frédfiscal years ($ amounts in 000's):
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Amount
Fiscal Years:
2014 1,782
2015 1,601
2016 1,287
2017 901
2018 90C
Thereafter 37C
Total 6,841

8. NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net income per share is computed by dividisigincome by the weighteadterage number of shares of common stock outstgralliring
the period. Diluted net income per share is compbtedividing net income by the weighted-averagember of shares of common stock outstanding,
plus the dilutive effects of stock options, RSUsj &SPP. Potentially dilutive shares of commonistye determined by applying the treasury stock
method.

A reconciliation of the numerator and denomina&ediin the calculation of basic and diluted nebine per share is as follows ($ and share
amounts in 000’s, except per share amounts):

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Numerator:
Net income 44,27: 66,83¢ 62,49:
Denominator:
Basic shares:
Weighted-average common stock outstanding-basic 162,43! 158,07 152,58:
Diluted shares:
Weighted-average common stock outstanding-basic 162,43! 158,07 152,58:
Effect of potentially dilutive securities:
Stock options 5,68¢ 8,21¢ 11,20(¢
RSUs 35 — _
ESPP 28 41 —
Weighted-average shares used to compute diluteiiemne per share 168,18 166,32 163,78:
Net income per share:
Basic 0.27 0.4z 0.41
Diluted 0.2¢ 0.4C 0.3¢

The following weighted-average shares of commoaoksteere excluded from the computation of dilutetdineome per share for the periods
presented, as their effect would have been antivfin 000's):
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Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Stock options 7,39 7,18 3,89
RSUs 2,77¢ 291 —
ESPP 41¢ 321 122
10,59( 7,79¢ 4,01¢
9. DEFERRED REVENUE
Deferred revenue consisted of the following ($ amsun 000's):
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Product 2,91¢ 5,411
Services 425,26¢ 348,54
Ratable and other revenue 4,447 9,22¢
Total deferred revenue 432,62¢ 363,18!
Reported As:
Current 293,66¢ 247,26¢
Non-current 138,96 115,91°
Total deferred revenue 432,62 363,18t
10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The following table summarizes our future principahtractual obligations as of December 31, 2018n{Hunts in 000's):
Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter
Operating lease commitments 31,90¢ 8,75¢ 6,00¢ 4,93¢ 4,347 3,38¢ 4,477
Less: Sublease rental income 1,14C 72C 42C — — — —
Operating lease commitments, ne 30,76¢ 8,03¢ 5,58¢ 4,93¢ 4,347 3,38¢ 4,477
Purchase commitments 37,79« 37,79« — — — — —
Other contract commitments 9,94¢ 9,63 172 50 41 50 —
Total 78,50¢ 55,46¢ 5,75¢ 4,98¢ 4,38¢ 3,43: 4,472

Operating Leases—We lease certain facilities under various ramcelable operating leases, which expire thro@$®2The terms of certe
operating leases provide for renewal options. Futninimum payments under the non-cancelable operéases totaled $31.9 milli@s of Decemb
31, 2013. Rent expense was $9.8 million , $8.7ioniland $8.2 million for fiscal 2013 , 2012 , ar@®l2 , respectively. Rent expense and sublease
rental income are recognized using the straigtetirethod over the term of the lease. Subleasel ieotane was $0.7 million , $0.8 million , and $0.7
million in fiscal 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectyvel

Contract Manufacturer and Other Commitments —Our independent contract manufacturers procurepeoients and build our products
based on our forecasts. These forecasts are basstimates of future demand for our products, Wwhie in turn based on historical trends and an
analysis from our sales and marketing organizatiadgisted for overall market conditions. In orttereduce manufacturing lead times and plan for
adequate component supply, we may issue purchesesdo some of our independent contract manufcuvhich may not be cancelable. As of
December 31, 2013, we had $37.8 million of opertipase orders with our independent contract mahwiers that may not be cancelable.
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In addition to commitments with contract manufaetar we have open purchase orders and contradiligdtions in the ordinary course of
business for which we have not received goodsmices. As of December 31, 2013 , we had $9.9 amilin other purchase commitments.

Litigation —We are involved in disputes, litigation, and othegal actions, including, but not limited to, timatters described below. We are
defending these litigation matters, and while theme be no assurances and the outcome of thesersriatturrently not determinable, we currently
believe that there are no existing claims or prdoegs that are likely to have a material adver$ecébn our financial position. There are many
uncertainties associated with any litigation aresthactions or other third-party claims againshag cause us to incur costly litigation or subs&nt
settlement charges. In addition, the resolutioarnf intellectual property litigation may requiretosmake royalty payments, which could adversely
affect our gross margins in future periods. If afiyhose events were to occur, our business, fiahoondition, results of operations, and cash §ow
could be adversely affected. The actual liabilityany such matters may be materially different flmm estimates, if any, which could result in tieea
to adjust the liability and record additional expes. We have not: recorded any material accrudb$srcontingencies associated with such legal
proceedings; determined that an unfavorable outdempmbable or reasonably possible; or determthatithe amount or range of any possible loss is
reasonably estimable.

In August 2009, Enhanced Security Research, LLCSewlrity Research Holdings LLC (collectively “ESRa non-practicing entity, filed a
complaint against us in the United States Dis@iotrt for the District of Delaware alleging infriagent by us and other defendants of patents. Th
plaintiffs were claiming unspecified damages andewequesting an injunction against the allegedrigément. In June 2010, the Court granted our
motion to stay pending the outcome of reexamingimteedings in the U.S. Patent and Trademark ©ffieTO”") on both asserted patents. The PTO
rejected all of the claims of the patents in thi¢ &ud ESR appealed this result to the Board oéfitaippeals and Interferences (“BPAI”). In August
2012, the BPAI completed its review of both reexaation proceedings, and, after the BPAI's revielwlaims of the asserted ESR patents remain
rejected. In October 2012, ESR filed an additiappeal of the BPAI decision with the United Sta@esirt of Appeal for the Federal Circuit. That
appeal is still pending. The litigation relatedB8R is no longer estimated to be material to us.

In July 2010, Network Protection Sciences, LLC (‘SIP a non-practicing entity, filed a complaintthre United States District Court for the
Eastern District of Texas alleging patent infringarnby us and other defendants. In December 28&1)nited States District Court for the Eastern
District of Texas ordered the case to be transfeimeghe Northern District of California. In Jun@12, the United States District Court for the Nerth
District of California dismissed the other defentdaior misjoinder, and the case thereafter proodedth Fortinet as the sole defendant. Between June
and August 2013, we filed a number of pretrial misi with the Court. As a result of those motiohs, €ourt found that NPS had engaged in litigation
misconduct. The Court also granted our motionri@estNPS'’s expert report on the issue of damagdesttly thereafter, in September 2013, NPS
agreed to abandon the case and we did not makeagmyents related to this case. NPS and its prilecfpathermore agreed not to sue us on related
patents. The litigation related to NPS is no longeterial to us.

In June 2012, we received a letter from SRI Intéonal, (“SRI”) claiming that we infringed certaBRI patents. We settled this matter in
December 2013.

Indemnification —Under the indemnification provisions of our stamtlsales contracts, we agree to defend our custoagainst third-party
claims asserting infringement of certain intell@ttproperty rights, which may include patents, aggys, trademarks, or trade secrets, and to pay
judgments entered on such claims. Our exposureruhedge indemnification provisions is generallyited by the terms of our contracts to the t
amount paid by our customer under the agreementeker, certain agreements include indemnificatimvisions that could potentially expose us to
losses in excess of the amount received undemtieement. To date, there have been no claims wudérindemnification provisions.
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11. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Our stock-based compensation plans include the 38@¢k Option Plan (the “2000 Plan”), the 2008 &tBtan (the “2008 Plan”), the 2009
Equity Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”), and thePPS

2000 Stock Plan—During 2000, we adopted the 2000 Plan, which idetuboth incentive and non-statutory stock optitimler the 2000
Plan, we may grant options to purchase up to 210800shares of common stock to employees, direatwisother service providers at prices not less
than the fair market value at date of grant foemttve stock options and not less than 85% ofrfeirket value for non-statutory options. Options
granted to a person who, at the time of the gamhs more than 10% of the voting power of all atsssf stock shall be at no less than 1Xdi%e fair
market value and expire five years from the datgraht. All other options generally have a conwratterm of 10 years. Options generally vest over
four years.

2008 Stock Plan—On January 28, 2008, our board of directors apgtdfie 2008 Plan and French Sub-Plan, which inslbdéh incentive
and non-statutory stock options. The maximum aggeegumber of shares which may be subject to aptma sold under the 2008 Plan and the
French Sub-Plan is 5,000,000 shares, plus anyshtzag as of the date of stockholder approvahef2008 Plan, have been reserved but not issued
under the 2000 Plan or shares subject to stockmgptir similar awards granted under the 2000 Planhexpire or otherwise terminate without having
been exercised in full or that are forfeited taepurchased by us.

Under the 2008 Plan and the French Sub-Plan, wegraat options to employees, directors and otheticeeproviders. In the case of an
incentive stock option granted to an employee, athihie time of grant, owns stock representing ntiwa@ 10% of the total combined voting power of
all classes of stock, the exercise price shalldbkess than 110% of the fair market value per sharthe date of grant and expire five years froe th
date of grant, and options granted to any otheld@ysp, the per share exercise price shall be mothesr 100%f the fair market value per share on
date of grant. In the case of a nonstatutory stgtlon and options granted to other service pragidine per share exercise price shall be no thess t
100% of the fair market value per share on the dhggant.

2009 Equity Incentive Plan—On November 17, 2009, our board of directors apgddhe 2009 Plan and French Sub-Plan, which iedud
awards of stock options, stock appreciation rigtgstricted stock, RSUs, and PSUs or performanaeeshThe maximum aggregate number of shares
that may be issued under the 2009 Plan is 9,00G08¢s, plus any shares subject to stock optiogisnilar awards granted under the 2008 Plan and
the 2000 Plan that expire or otherwise terminatbaut having been exercised in full and sharesdgursuant to awards granted under the 2008 Plar
and the 2000 Plan that are forfeited to or repwsetdy us, with the maximum number of shares tadoked to the 2009 Plan pursuant to such
terminations, forfeitures and repurchases not teea 21,000,008hares. The shares may be authorized, but unissuedcquired common stock. T
number of shares available for issuance under@B8 Plan will be increased on the first day of eigtal year beginning with fiscal 2011, in an
amount equal to the lesser of (i) 7,000,000 shéiig§ive percent ( 5% ) of the outstanding shaveshe last day of the immediately preceding fisca
year, or (iii) such number of shares determinedinyboard of directors. Under the 2009 Plan and-teach Sub-Plan, we may grant awards to
employees, directors and other service providerthe case of an incentive stock option granteghtemployee who, at the time of the grant, owns
stock representing more than 10% of the voting paall classes of stock, the exercise price dalho less than 110% of the fair market value per
share on the date of grant and expire figars from the date of grant, and options grardgezhy other employee, the per share exercise ghiakk be ni
less than 100% of the fair market value per sharthe date of grant. In the case of a non statugtugk option and options granted to other service
providers, the per share exercise price shall bes®than 100% of the fair market value per sbarthe date of grant. Options granted to individual
owning less than 10% of the total combined votiog/gr of all classes of stock generally have a emtiral term of seven years and options generally
vest over four years.

As of December 31, 2013, a total of 47,131,910eshevere authorized and available for issuanceruthée2000 Plan, 2008 Plan and 2009
Plan.

Employee Stock Purchase Plar-In June 2011, our stockholders approved the ESR® purpose of the ESPP is to provide eligible
employees with the opportunity to purchase comntocksthrough regular, systematic payroll deductiapsto a maximum of 15% of employees’
compensation for each purchase period at purchidcsequal to 85% of the lesser of the

81




Table of Contents
FORTINET, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

fair market value of our common stock at the firatling date of the applicable offering periodlwe purchase date. As of December 31, 2013 ,
6,750,770 shares were authorized and availablssaance under the ESPP.

Employee Stock Options

In determining the fair value of our employee stopkions, we use the Black-Scholes option priciraglel, which employs the following
assumptions.

Valuation method—We estimate the fair value of stock options grdnte

Expected Term—The expected term represents the period thattook-$ased awards are expected to be outstandsgierdo not have
sufficient historical experience for determining txpected term of the stock option awards gramtediave based our expected term on the simp
method, which is calculated as the average weighgeting period and contractual life.

Expected Volatility—The computation of expected volatility for the ipés presented includes the historical and impdidk volatility of
comparable companies from a representative peapgrelected based on industry and market capitaiizdata and our weighted historical volatility

following our initial public offering in Novembera®9.

Fair Value of Common StoekThe fair value of our common stock is the clossiades price of the common stock (or the closing ibido
sales were reported) on the effective on the dageamt.

Risk-Free Interest Rate-We base the risk-free interest rate used in tlaelB5choles valuation model on the implied yieldikble on U.S.
Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent iréngaterm.

Expected Divideng-The expected dividend weighted-average assumg#inaro.

The following table summarizes the weighted-ave@ggimptions relating to our employee stock options

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Expected term in years 4.€ 4.€ 4.1-4.€
Volatility (%) 45 -48 46 -52 40 -57
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.2 0.7 -0.¢ 0.6 -2.C

Dividend rate (%) — — —
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The following table summarizes the stock optionvitgtand related information for the periods pretssl below (in 000’s, except per share
amounts, exercise prices and contractual life):

Options Outstanding

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
of Shares Price ($) Life (Years) Value ($)

Balance—December 31, 2010 22,48¢ 4.21
Granted 6,52¢ 21.0¢
Forfeited (1,399 11.7¢
Exercised (6,229 3.21
Balance—December 31, 2011 21,38¢ 9.14
Granted 3,401 26.3¢
Forfeited (1,447 19.31
Exercised (4,77%) 5.6¢
Balance—December 31, 2012 18,57 12.4(
Granted 25¢ 20.8¢
Forfeited (820) 22.1¢4
Exercised (2,489 5.1¢
Balance—December 31, 2013 15,521 13.1¢

Options vested and expected to vest—December 3B 20 15,49¢ 13.1% 3.24 120,17¢

Options exercisable—December 31, 2013 12,08¢ 10.52 2.82 118,22¢

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the prélifference between the exercise price of stodioap and the quoted market price of our
common stock on December 31, 2013, for all in-tr@ay options. As of December 31, 2013, total camsp#gon expense related to unvested stock
options granted to employees but not yet recognizasi$39.5 million , net of estimated forfeitur&his expense is expected to be amortized on a
straight-line basis over a weighted-average pesfdd8 years.

Additional information related to our stock optiasssummarized below ($ amounts in 000's, excepsipare amounts):

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Weighted-average fair value per share granted 8.42 11.1¢ 8.1C
Intrinsic value of options exercised 41,48¢ 92,32: 113,59(
Fair value of options vested 26,41 25,35( 11,80(
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The following table summarizes information aboutstanding and exercisable stock options as of Deee3il, 2013 , as follows (in 000’s,
except per share amounts, exercise prices andacturt life):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-

Average Weighted- Weighted-

Remaining Average Average

Range of Exercise Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Prices ($) Outstanding Life (Years) Price ($) Exercisable Price ($)
0.484.20 1,331 1.75 0.97 1,331 0.97
3.74-4.65 4,90z 1.66 3.7¢ 4,90z 3.7t
5.50-6.25 152 2.71 5.64 152 5.64
8.43-8.99 1,63¢ 3.16 8.5t 1,48¢ 8.5¢
15.2819.94 382 4.15 15.8¢ 231 15.2¢
20.13-24.92 4,83t 441 21.32 2,90z 21.2C
26.70-26.7C0 2,28 5.01 26.7( 1,08( 26.7(

15,52: 12,08«

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes the activity anchtetl information for RSUs for the periods preseieldw (in 000’s, except per share
amounts):

Restricted Stock Units Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date-Fair Value

Number of Shares per Share ($)
Balance—December 31, 2011 — —
Granted 873 23.7¢
Forfeited (43 24.7¢
Vested — —
Balance—December 31, 2012 83(C 23.7¢
Granted 4,10¢ 21.7¢
Forfeited (507) 21.4¢
Vested (22¢) 23.8¢
Balance—December 31, 2013 4,19¢ 22.0C
RSUs expected to vest—December 31, 2013 3,89¢ 22.0z

As of December 31, 2013 , total compensation expeglated to unvested RSUs that were granted tdogegs and non-employees under the
2009 Plan, but not yet recognized, was $82.6 millioet of estimated forfeitures. This expenseseted to be amortized on a straight-line basés ov
a weighted-average vesting period of 2.99 years.

RSUs settle into shares of common stock upon \@sHBUs that were previously granted began vestifigcal 2013. Upon the vesting of
the RSUs, we net-settled the RSUs and withheldréopoof the shares to satisfy minimum statutorypyee withholding taxes. Total payment for the
employees’ tax obligations to the taxing authosiireflected as a financing activity within trensolidated statements of cash flows. These net
settlements had the effect of share repurchases by they reduced and retired the number of ski@ewould have otherwise been issued as a result
of the vesting and did not represent an expengs.to
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The following summarizes the number and value efgimares withheld for employee taxes for fiscal30@i 000’s):

Shares withheld for taxes 7C
Amount withheld for taxes ($) 1,452

Performance Stock Units

During fiscal 2013, we granted PSUs to certainwfexecutive officers. Based on the achievemett@mmarket-based vesting conditions
during the performance period, the final settlena#rihe PSUs will range between 0% and 150% ofdhget shares underlying the PSUs based on a
specified objective formula approved by our Compéina Committee. The PSUs entitle our executivecef§ to receive a number of shares of our
common stock based on the performance of our ginck over a two- or thregear period as compared to the NASDAQ Compositexrfdr the sam
periods.

The following table summarizes the weighted-aver@ggimptions relating to our PSUs for fiscal 2013:

Expected term in years 2.97
Volatility (%) 50.11
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.67

Dividend rate (%) —

We granted 180,000 PSUs during fiscal 2013 to sacuative officers, of which 50,00(hares were forfeited during fiscal 2013. The PBad
a grant date fair value of $22.06 per share, aadnatuded in the aforementioned activity for RSUs.

As of December 31, 2013, total compensation expegiated to unvested PSUs that were granted tainest our executive officers, but not
yet recognized, was $2.4 million , net of estimdtateitures. This expense is expected to be azeiton a straight-line basis over a weighted-aerag
vesting period of 2.59 years.

Shares Reserved for Future Issuances

The following table presents the common stock reskfor future issuance (in 000’s):

December 31,

2013
Outstanding stock options and RSUs 19,72(
Reserved for future stock option, RSU and otheitgeguvard grants 27,41
Reserved for future ESPP issuances 6,751
53,88

Total common stock reserved for future issuances

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In determining the fair value of our ESPP, we UeBlack-Scholes option pricing model that emplityesfollowing weighted-average
assumptions:

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Expected term in years 0.5 0.t 0.5
Volatility (%) 44 C 53.7 59.¢
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.12 0.12 0.07

Dividend rate (%) — — —
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Additional information related to the ESPP is pa®d below (in 000's, except per share amounts):

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Weighted-average fair value per share granted ($) 6.11 7.0¢€ 6.5€
Shares issued under the ESPP 672 577 —
Weighted-average price per share issued ($) 18.8¢ 18.9( —

Stock-based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense is included is eod expenses as follows ($ amounts in 000’s):

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Cost of product revenue 383 33¢ 18<
Cost of services revenue 4,841 3,73¢ 1,79(C
Research and development 13,27: 9,22¢ 4,691
Sales and marketing 19,52¢ 12,79: 9,32t
General and administrative 6,45( 4,60z 3,02¢
Total stock-based compensation expense 44,47: 30,69( 19,01t

The following table summarizes stock-based compamsaxpense by award type ($ amounts in 000’s)

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Stock options 20,80¢ 24 ,50¢ 17,41¢
RSUs 18,96¢ 1,714 —
ESPP 4,697 4,47( 1,59¢
Total stock-based compensation expense 44.47: 30,69( 19,01t

Total income tax benefit associated with stock-dasempensation that is recognized in the cons@ulatatements of operations is as follows
($ amounts in 000’s):

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Income tax benefit associated with stock-based enrsgtion 8,331 5,87( 3,822

Share Repurchase Program

On December 6, 2013, our Board of Directors autlearia Share Repurchase Program (“the Program&ptarchase up to $200.0 million of
our outstanding common stock through December @14 2Under the Program, share repurchases may te loyaus from time to time in privately
negotiated transactions or in open market trarma&tiThe Program does not require us to purchasaimum number of shares, and may be
suspended, modified or discontinued at any timaauit prior notice. In December 2013, we repurch&sédnillion shares of common stock under the
Program in open market transactions for an aggequaichase price of $38.9 million . The share refpases were financed by available cash balances
and cash from operations. As of December 31, 28181.1 million remains available for future shagpurchases under the Program.
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Income before income taxes consisted of the folhgwis amounts in 000’s):

Domestic
Foreign

FORTINET, INC.
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Total income before income taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing ($ amounts in 000’s):

Current:
Federal
State
Foreign

Total current

Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign

Total deferred

Provision for income taxes

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
83,07¢ 95,73( 85,41:
(7,135 9,26¢€ 6,662
75,94 104,99¢ 92,07:
Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
43,38¢ 43,76¢ 34,85¢
2,49( 1,992 2,78¢
4,17¢ 2,26¢ 1,40z
50,04¢ 48,02 39,04:
(17,149 (9,677) (9,32¢)
(1,237 (18¢) (13¢)
(18,38 (9,867) (9,462)
31,66¢ 38,16( 29,58:

The provision for income taxes differs from the amiocomputed by applying the statutory federal medax rate as follows ($ amounts in
000’s):

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Tax at federal statutory tax rate 26,57¢ 36,74¢ 32,22t
Stock-based compensation expense 4,571 1,57( 2,22
State taxes—net of federal benefit 41¢ 1,18¢ (2,457)
Domestic production activities deduction (3,25¢6) (1,819 (547)
Research and development credit (2,650 (144) (887)
Foreign income taxed at different rates 6,672 (1,845 (929)
Other (1,667) 2,45 (46)
Total provision for income taxes 31,66¢ 38,16( 29,58.

Significant permanent differences arise from theipo of stock-based compensation expense thaitiexpected to generate a tax deduction,
such as stock-based compensation expense on gitick grants to certain foreign employees, offseth® actual tax benefits in the current periods
from disqualifying dispositions of shares held iy 8.S. employees. For stock options exercisedurybS. employees, we receive an income tax
benefit calculated as the difference between tinerfarket value of the stock issued at the tim#hefexercise and the option price, tax effectede u
this, our income taxes payable have been reducdeiax benefits from employee stock plan awarts.income tax benefits for fiscal 2013 , 2012,
and 2011 associated with dispositions from emplajeek transactions of $3.5 million , $14.3 millipand $26.2 million , respectively, were
recognized as additional paid-in capital.
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As of December 31, 2013, we did not recognizef@alia tax credits relating to excess tax bendditsstock-based compensation expense of
$3.5 million . Unrecognized excess tax benefitd bél accounted for as a credit to additional paiddpital when realized through a reduction in
income taxes payable.

The tax effects of temporary differences that gise to significant portions of the deferred tazeds as of the years ended are presented
($ amount in 000’s):

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforward 2,18: 587
Deferred revenue 47,34 36,43¢
Nondeductible reserves and accruals 16,05¢ 13,437
Depreciation and amortization (465) 92C
General business credit carryforward 43¢ 1,381
Stock-based compensation expense 15,46¢ 9,41:
Other 17 12
Total deferred tax assets 81,03t 62,18t

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax &ssee considered whether it is more likely thahthat some portion or all of our deferred tax
assets will be realized. This realization is degendipon the generation of future taxable inconmindithe periods in which those temporary
differences become deductible. We concluded thatritore likely than not that we would be abledalize the benefits of our deferred tax assetisen t
future.

As of December 31, 2013, we had foreign net opegdoss carryforwards of $21.7 million . The faeinet operating losses carry forward
indefinitely. As of December 31, 2013, we hadestak credit carryforwards of $4.2 million availaltb offset our future state taxes. The state tgedi
carry forward indefinitely.

Our policy with respect to undistributed foreigrbsigiaries’ earnings is to consider those earniodse indefinitely reinvested and,
accordingly, no related provision of U.S. fedenad state income taxes has been provided on suomgar Upon distribution of those earnings in the
form of dividends or otherwise, we would be subjedboth U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustrfwerioreign tax credits) and withholding taxes
in the various foreign countries. As of DecemberZ113 , we have not recorded U.S. income tax ahSBillion of foreign earnings that are deemed
to be permanently reinvested overseas.

We operate under a tax incentive agreement in orgawhich is effective through December 31, 2@2®| may be extended if certain
additional requirements are satisfied. The taxntige agreement is conditional upon our meetingateemployment and investment thresholds. We
did not realize any tax savings from the Singapaxencentives in fiscal 2013 because of net tasds in that jurisdiction.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $29.6 million mfagognized tax benefits, of which, if recogniz&29.2 million would favorably affect
our effective tax rate. Our policy is to includeaged interest and penalties related to uncergaiménefits in income tax expense. As of December 3
2013, 2012 and 2011, accrued interest and pesaltee $1.0 million , $1.5 million , and $0.6 nalti , respectively.

The aggregate changes in the balance of unrecabtixebenefits are as follows ($ amounts in 000’s):
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Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of year 27,80¢ 19,26¢ 12,08:
Gross increases for tax positions related to theeotyear 4,718 7,55( 9,04¢
Gross increases for tax positions related to tie pear 40t 1,47¢ —
Gross decreases for tax positions related to tloe year (3,327 (490) (1,86%)
Unrecognized tax benefits, end of year 29,60+ 27,80¢ 19,26¢

As of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, $30.2amill $28.8 million , and $19.1 millionrespectively, of the amounts reflected above \
recorded as Income taxes payable—non-current icangolidated balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2013 , there was no unrecogr@ebenefits that we expect would change signitigeover the next 12 months.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federalgdiction, and various U.S. state and foreign juciszhs. As we have net operating loss
carryforwards for the state jurisdictions, the wtabof limitations is open for all tax years. Adadlitally, we have foreign net operating losses hzate
an indefinite life. Generally, we are no longerjsabto non-U.S. income tax examinations by tahadties for tax years prior to 2007.

During January 2013, the U.S. Federal Researclbandlopment Tax Credit was reinstated retroactitelfjscal 2012. The U.S. Federal
Research and Development Tax Credit benefit wawrded in the first quarter of fiscal 2013, the pdrof enactment. The State of California has been
conducting an audit of our state income tax retfiwn$iscal 2010 and fiscal 2011. We do not exgbig audit to have a significant detrimental effec
our income tax liability nor have a material impantour results of operations.

On September 13, 2013, the U.S. Treasury Departretgsed final income tax regulations on the dédn@nd capitalization of
expenditures related to tangible property. Thesa fiegulations apply to tax years beginning oafter January 1, 2014. Several of the provisions
within the regulations will require a tax accougtimethod change to be filed with the IRS, resulting cumulative effect adjustment; however, we do
not anticipate the impact of these changes to lerrahto our consolidated financial position, colidated results of operations, or both.

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

Tax-deferred savings plan under our 401(k) Plartjgigating employees may defer a portion of theg-tax earnings, up to the IRS annual
contribution limit. In Canada, we have a Group Reged Retirement Savings Plan program (the “RR&Ri¢h permits participants to make tax
deductible contributions up to the maximum contiiidu limits under the Income Tax Act. Our boarddafctors approved 50%hatching contribution
on employee contributions up to 4% of each emplsyekgible earnings. Our matching contributionghie 401(k) Plans and RRSP for fiscal 2013 ,
2012, and 2011 were $2.1 million , $1.8 millicand $1.5 million , respectively.

14. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are defined as componentseitanprise about which separate financial inforomais available that is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision makedétiding how to allocate resources and in asseggrfgrmance. Our chief operating decision maker
is our chief executive officer. Our chief executaficer reviews financial information presentedanonsolidated basis, accompanied by information
about revenue by geographic region for purposedl@gating resources and evaluating financial perfmce. We have one business activity, and there
are no segment managers who are held accountaldpdoations, operating results and plans for Eeelcomponents below the consolidated unit
level. Accordingly, we have determined that we hame operating segment, and therefore, one repersegment.

Revenue by geographic region is based on the dpifloidress of the customer. The following table$aét revenue and property and
equipment by geographic region ($ amounts in 000’s)
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Revenue
Americas:

United States

Other Americas

Total Americas
Europe, Middle East, and Africa ("EMEA")
Asia Pacific and Japan ("APAC")

Total revenue

Property and Equipment
Americas:
United States
Canada
Other Americas
Total Americas
EMEA
APAC

Total property and equipment—net

FORTINET, INC.
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Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011

162,32 145,36 120,45¢

90,45¢ 71,68 52,03¢
252,78t 217,05t 172,49:.
208,97¢ 184,17" 152,38!
153,53. 132,40¢ 108,69
615,29° 533,63¢ 433,57t

December 31,

December 31,

2013 2012

29,33¢ 18,76
4,372 4,37¢

45 87

33,751 23,221
1,27z 1,21z
1,62¢ 1,19¢
36,65: 25,63¢

15. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The following table summarizes the changes in actated balances of other comprehensive incomedoalf2013 and 2012 ($ amounts in
000's):

December 31, 2013

Tax benefit or
provision related to
items of other
comprehensive

Unrealized Gains
and Losses on

Foreign Currency
Translation Gains

and Losses Investments income or loss Total
Beginning balance 1,95( 1,75t (619 3,091
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications (1,617 (579 20C (1,990
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income — 14 5 9
Net current-period other comprehensive income (1,619 (587 20¢ (1,999
Endmg balance 33z 1,16E (405) 1,092
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

December 31, 2012

Tax benefit or
provision related to

Foreign Currency Unrealized Gains items of other
Translation Gains and Losses on comprehensive
and Losses Investments income or loss Total
Beginning balance 1,42¢ (1,576 552 40z
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 524 3,38( (1,187 2,721
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income — (49 17 (32
Net current-period other comprehensive income 524 3,331 (1,16¢€) 2,68¢
Endmg balance 1,95( 1,755 (614) 3,09]

The following table provides details about the assification out of accumulated other comprehenisivseme for fiscal 2013 and 2012 ($
amounts in 000s):

December 31, 2013
Amount Reclassified from

Accumulated Other Affected Line Item in the Statement
Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incom Components Comprehensive Income Where Net Income is Presented
Unrealized gains on investments (14) Other expense, net
Tax provision related to items of other comprehemémcome or loss 5 Provision for income taxes
Total reclassification for the period 9

December 31, 2012
Amount Reclassified from

Accumulated Other Affected Line Item in the Statement
Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incom Components Comprehensive Income Where Net Income is Presented
Unrealized gains on investments (49) Other expense, net
Tax provision related to items of other comprehemgicome or loss 17  Provision for income taxes
Total reclassification for the period (32

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In January 2014, we entered into an agreementRdtb Alto Networks, Inc. (“Palo Alto Networks”), vweheby Palo Alto Networks paid us a
lump sum payment of $ 20.0 million for a six yeautoal covenant-not-tsue which precludes either party from assertingndaf patent infringemet
against the other party. The agreement also cadairrelease of past claims.
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accouants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

ITEM 9A.  Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our cleieécutive officer and chief financial officer, évated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a)1&(15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of titea# the period covered by this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. In designing and evaluating the disate controls and procedures, management recaigtiiaeany controls and procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide ordgarable assurance of achieving the desired catifettives. In addition, the design of disclosure
controls and procedures must reflect the facttthere are resource constraints and that managesnemnjuired to apply its judgment in evaluating the
benefits of possible controls and procedures reddt their costs.

Based on that evaluation, our chief executive effand chief financial officer concluded that oigctbsure controls and procedures were
effective as of December 31, 2013 to provide reallenassurance that information we are requiretistdose in reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summaaizedeported within the time periods specifie@EC rules and forms, and that such information
is accumulated and communicated to our managemnehiding our chief executive officer and chiefdircial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management ' s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahaaorting, as defined in Rule 13&(f)
and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Managememducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of ptarhal control over financial reporting based
on the framework imnternal Control—Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway
Commission. Based on this evaluation, managemerdieged that our internal control over financigdoging was effective as of December 31, 2013
Management reviewed the results of its assessmimbwr Audit Committee. The effectiveness of auternal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013 has been audited by Deloitte &fie LLP, an independent registered public accogriiim, as stated in its report, which appears
in this Item under the heading “Report of Independ®egistered Public Accounting Firm.”

Changesin Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15¢f)L5d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
during our fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 that havaterially affected, or are reasonably likely totemilly affect, our internal control over finanktia

reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindgrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Fortinet, Inc.
Sunnyvale, California

We have audited the internal control over financéglorting of Fortinet, Inc. and subsidiaries (ectively, the “Company”) as of December
31, 2013, based on criteria establishethternal Control - Integrated Framework (1998%ued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrise
Treadway Commission. The Company's managemengp®nsible for maintaining effective internal cohaer financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting, included in the accomyag Management's Report on Internal Control ¢
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exggen opinion on the Company's internal controt éimancial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightiq@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abteasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordwelr financial reporting, assessing the risk that
material weakness exists, testing and evaluatiaglésign and operating effectiveness of internaifrobbased on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessiduy dircumstances. We believe that our audit plesvia reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed by, or under the supemvigi the company's principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons pemfiogrg similar functions, and effected by the compsaiwpard of directors, management, and other
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regatngliability of financial reporting and the pegation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles. A company's internal control ofieancial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenanceadrds that, in reasonable detail, accurately amly freflect the transactions and dispositionshef
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable asseithat transactions are recorded as necesgaeyniit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures of tiepemy are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of timepany; and (3) provide reasonable assurance lieggptevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition ef tompany's assets that could have a material effeihe financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolnover financial reporting, including the posti of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluatio
of the effectiveness of the internal control ovaahcial reporting to future periods are subjeah®risk that the controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures mheteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleaespects, effective internal control over fical reporting as of December 31, 2013,
based on the criteria establishedriternal Control - Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolidated
financial statements and consolidated financiaestant schedule listed in the Index at Item 15fasd for the year ended December 31, 2013, of the
Company and our report dated February 27, 2014eegpd an unqualified opinion on those consolidéeticial statements and financial statement
schedule.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
February 27, 2014
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ITEM 9B.  Other Information

None.
Part Il

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporae Governance

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedlein by reference to our definitive proxy stad@twith respect to our 2014 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEGhii 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ceddy this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As part of our system of corporate governanceboard of directors has adopted a code of busir@stuct and ethics. The code applies t
of our employees, officers (including our princigakecutive officer, principal financial officer,ipcipal accounting officer or controller, or person
performing similar functions), agents and represtives, including our independent directors andsoiants, who are not our employees, with regard
to their Fortinet-related activities. Our code aElmess conduct and ethics is available on our iteebswww.fortinet.com under “About Us—Investor
Relations—Corporate Governance.” We will post ds gection of our website any amendment to our eddrisiness conduct and ethics, as well as
any waivers of our code of business conduct anidtthat are required to be disclosed by the rolese SEC or the NASDAQ Stock Market.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference to our definitive proxy stag@twith respect to our 2014 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEGhiwi 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ceddy this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficid Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Métrs

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference to our definitive proxy stag@twith respect to our 2014 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEGhii 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ceddy this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trasactions, and Director Independence

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference to our definitive proxy stag@twith respect to our 2014 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEGhii 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ceddy this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference to our definitive proxy stag@twith respect to our 2014 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEGhii 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ceddy this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Part IV
ITEM 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ thnnual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Financial Statement: The information concerning Fortinet’s financigdtements and the Report of Independent Regiskubtic
Accounting Firm required by this Item 15(a)(1)nsaerporated by reference herein to the sectiohisfAnnual Report on Form 10-K
in Part Il, Item 8, titled “Financial Statementda®upplementary Data.”

2. Financial Statement Schedu The following financial statement schedule oftirat, Inc., for the fiscal years ended December 31
2013, 2012 and 2011, is filed as part of this AairReport on Form 10-K and should be read in cartjan with our consolidated
financial statements.

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
($ amounts in 000's)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:

Beginning balance 11E 33€ 303
Charged (credited) to costs and expenses, netitef-offs (83 (221) 33
Ending balance 32 11t 33€

Sales Returns Reserve:

Beginning balance 2,267 2,351 1,97¢
Charged (credited) to costs and expenses, netdoictiens 2,30¢ (84) 37z
Ending balance 4,57: 2,261 2,351

Schedules not listed above have been omitted be¢hayg are not applicable or are not required eiiformation required to be set forth
therein is included in the consolidated financtatements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits: See Item 15(b) below. We have filed, or incorpedanto this Annual Report on Form KOby reference, the exhibits listi
on the accompanying Exhibit Index immediately fallog the signature page of this Annual Report ormb0-K.

(b) Exhibits:

The exhibit list in the Exhibit Index immediatelgliowing the signature page of this Annual Reporfform 10-K is incorporated herein by
reference as the list of exhibits required by tteésn 15(b).

(c) Financial Statement Schedules: See Iltem 1b@ea
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredolp authorized, on February 28, 2014 .

FORTINET, INC.

By: /sl Andrew Del Matto
Andrew Del Matto, Chief Financial Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes anairgpgKen Xie and
Andrew Del Matto, jointly and severally, his attegnin-fact, with the power of substitution, for himany and all capacities, to sign any amendments
to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file #aame, with exhibits thereto and other document®imection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and configrafi that each of said attorneysfaet, or his substitute or substitutes, may doaarse to be doi
by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl Ken Xie Chief Executive Officeind Chairman of the Board of February 28, 201
Directors
Ken Xie (Principal Executive Officer)
/s Andrew Del Matto Chief Finardfficer February 28, 201
Andrew Del Matto (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/sl Michael Xie President, Chietthiaology Officer and Director February 28, 201
Michael Xie
/sl Ming Hsieh Director February 28, 201
Ming Hsieh
/sl Chenming Hu Director February 28, 201
Chenming Hu
/sl Hong Liang Lu Director February 28, 201

Hong Liang Lu

/sl William H. Neukom Director February 28, 201
William H. Neukom

/sl Christopher B. Paisley Director February 28, 201
Christopher B. Paisley
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description

Incorporated by reference herein

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws

4.1 Specimen common stock certificate of the Company

4.2 Third Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreéme
dated as of February 24, 2004, between the Comguashy
certain holders of the Company’s capital stock réitherein

10.1" Forms of Indemnification Agreement between the Camyp
and its directors and officers

10.2" 2000 Stock Plan and forms of agreement thereunder

10.3" 2008 Stock Plan and forms of agreement thereunder

10.4" 2009 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of restricdémtk unit
award and restricted stock agreement thereunder

10.5" Forms of stock option agreement under 2009 Equitgntive
Plan

10.6" Form of performance stock unit award agreementuadi@d
Equity Incentive Plan

10.7" Fortinet, Inc. 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

10.8" Fortinet, Inc. Bonus Plan

10.9' Fortinet, Inc. Cash and Equity Incentive Plan

10.10' Form of Change of Control Agreement between the [@om
and its directors

10.11" Separation and Change of Control Agreement, dated a
August 7, 2009, between the Company and Ken Xie

10.12" Separation and Change of Control Agreement, dated a
August 7, 2009, between the Company and Michael Xie

10.13' Separation and Change of Control Agreement, dated a
August 7, 2009, between the Company and John Whittl

10.14" Offer Letter, dated as of August 31, 2007, by aetiveen the
Company and John Whittle

10.15" Offer Letter, dated as of November 9, 2011, by lagttheen the
Company and Nancy Bush

10.16" Promotion Letter, dated September 26, 2012, bybatdeen
the Company and Nancy Bush

10.17" Offer Letter, dated as of December 17, 2013, bytstdieen

the Company and Andrew Del Matto

Form

Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended [l 333-
161190)

Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34511)

Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amendee [l 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amendee (¥l 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amendee (¥l 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amendee (¥l 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amendee [l 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amendee [l 333-
161190)

Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-34511)

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34511)

Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34511)

Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34511)

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34511)

Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amendesl i{feil 001-
34511)

Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amendee (¥l 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amendee [l 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amendee [l 333-
161190)

Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amendee (¥l 333-

161190)

Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-34511)

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34511)

Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34511)

Date

August 10, 2009

January 25, 2012

November 2, 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

February 28, 2012

August 6, 2013

June 27, 2011

January 26, 2010

November 5, 2013

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

August 10, 2009

February 27, 2013

October 30, 2012

December 20, 2013

Exhibit
Number

3.2

3.4

4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

99.1

10.1

10.1

10.1

10.11

10.5

10.6

10.8

10.10

10.15

10.1

99.1



10.18' Letter regarding stock grants, dated as of Decerhbe?013,  Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34511) December 20, 2013 99.2
between the Company and Andrew Del Matto
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10.19' Change of Control Severance Agreement, dated as of Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34511) December 20, 2013 99.3
December 17, 2013, between registrant and Andrevivia&o

10.20" Separation and Release Agreement, dated as of N@re26,  Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34511) November 27, 2013 99.3
2013, between the Company and Ahmed Rubaie

10.21" Offer Letter, dated as of April 16, 2013, betwelea €ompany Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34511) April 19, 2013 99.1
and Ahmed Rubaie

10.22" Change of Control Severance Agreement, dated Apridfl6, Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-34511) April 19, 2013 99.1
2013, between the Company and Ahmed Rubaie

21.1 List of subsidiaries Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-34511) February 27, 2013 211
23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing
24.1* Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference todigmature

page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K)

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantExchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), agtad pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Gidepf 2002
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursualtExchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), ested pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Gddepf 2002
32.1* (Zlgcr)tzifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chighancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiob@3as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Basb@xley Act of
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docaine

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

TIndicates management compensatory plan, contrastangement.
* Filed herewith.
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference is Registration Statement on Registration Statefdesat 333-163367, 333-172459, 333-
175985, 333-179751 and 333-186921 on Forthd-our reports dated February 27, 2014, relaiintpe consolidated financial statements and fiiz
statement schedule of Fortinet, Inc. and subs&Bsggollectively, the “Company”), and the effectiess of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting, appearing in the Annual RegmrtForm 10-K of Fortinet, Inc. for the year end#etember 31, 2013.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
February 27, 2014



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Ken Xie, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKLOf Fortinet, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notado@ny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to make

the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theqoks presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danare responsible for establishing and maintgimiisclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoree designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

b. Designed such internal control over finanaggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaia reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzerdang the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadgiisclosure controls and procedures and presénth report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in thegtegnt’s internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repos) ttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisir's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@tuaf internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiethe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigigability to record, process, summarize and refivancial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that inedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2014

/s/ Ken Xie
Ken Xie

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Boafd o
Directors
(Principal Executive Officer)







Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Andrew Del Matto, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKLOf Fortinet, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notado@ny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theqoks presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danare responsible for establishing and maintgimiisclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoree designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

b. Designed such internal control over finanaggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaia reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzerdang the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadgiisclosure controls and procedures and presénth report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in thegtegnt’s internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repos) ttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisir's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@tuaf internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiethe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigigability to record, process, summarize and refivancial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that inedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2014

/s/ Andrew Del Matto
Andrew Del Matto

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ken Xie, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectl860, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Fortinet, Inc. for the fisgaar ended December 31, 2013 fully complies withrequirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (tlheH&nge Act”), and that information contained irstAnnual Report on Form 1R-fairly presents
in all material respects, the financial conditiondaesults of operations of Fortinet, Inc.

By: /sl Ken Xie
Date: February 28, 2014 Name: Ken Xie
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Boafd o

Directors
Title:  (Principal Executive Officer)

I, Andrew Del Matto, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S$kction 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section Bl Garbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Fortinet, Inc. foetfiscal year ended December 31, 2013 fully corspkigh the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15
(d) of the Exchange Act and that information camedli in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly pretse in all material respects, the financial

condition and results of operations of Fortinet, In

By: /s/ Andrew Del Matto

Name: Andrew Del Matto

Chief Financial Officer
Title:  (Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 28, 2014

This certification is being furnished pursuant & S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant tod®e@@6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and will not be deemed “filedfor purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Acttberwise subject to the liability of that sectidiis certification will
not be incorporated by reference into any filingleinthe Securities Act of 1933, as amended, oE#ohange Act, except as shall be expressly sét

by specific reference in such a filing.



